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FormFactor, the FormFactor logo and its producttecinology names, including Apollo, ATRE, DC-Baqddtrix, MicroProbe, the
MicroProbe logo, MicroSpring, Mx-FinePitch, OneTbuQiLin, RapidSoak, SmartMatrix, SMART Matrix 10DpuchMatrix, Takumi, TRE,
TrueScale and TrueScale Lite, Vector, Vx-MP andR#-are trademarks or registered trademarks of FactoF, Inc. in the United States and
other countries. All other trademarks, trade naoreservice marks appearing in this Annual Reporform 10-K are the property of their
respective owners.

Throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we réfeFormFactor, Inc. and its consolidated subsieaas "FormFactor,” "we," "us,"
and "our". Our fiscal years end on the last Satuiddecember. Our last three fiscal years endeDerember 27, 2014 , December 28, 2013
and December 29, 2012 .




NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwarddimg statements within the meaning of the Se@siExchange Act of 1934 and
the Securities Act of 1933, which are subject $sgiand uncertainties. The forward-looking stateém@rtiude statements concerning, among
other things, our business strategy (includingcipdited trends and developments in, and managepteerd for, our business and the marke
which we operate), financial results, operatingiltss revenues, gross margin, operating expensedygts, projected costs and capital
expenditures, research and development prograes, &ad marketing initiatives and competition. dme cases, you can identify these
statements by forward-looking words, such as "mawpjght,” "will," "could," "should," "expect," "pla," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate,"
"predict," "intend" and "continue," the negativepbural of these words and other comparable tertogyo The forward-looking statements are
based on information available to us as of thadiliate of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and @urent expectations about future events,
which are inherently subject to change and invoisies and uncertainties. You should not place undliance on these forward-looking
statements. We have no obligation to update arlyesfe statements. Actual events or results magrdifaterially from those expressed or
implied by these statements due to various factecjding but not limited to the matters discusbetbw, in the section entitled "Item 1A:
Risk Factors", and elsewhere in this Annual ReporEorm 10-K.

Our operating results have fluctuated in the padtae likely to continue to fluctuate. As a reswie believe you should not rely on
period-to-period comparisons of our financial résals indicators of our future performance. Somta®important factors that could cause out
revenues, operating results and outlook to fluetfiam period-to-period include:

e customer demand for and adoption of our prod

» market and competitive conditions in our industhng semiconductor industry and the economy as de;

« our ability to realize the benefits of certain defe tax attribute

» the timing and success of new technologies andyetddtroductions by our competitors and by

e our ability to work efficiently with our customeos their qualification of our new technologies gmdducts

e our ability to deliver reliable, costffective products that meet our customers' testiggirements in a timely mann

* our ability to transition to new product arcleiteres and to bring new products into volume préidnoon time and at acceptable
yields and cost

e our ability to implement measures for enablifficencies and supporting growth in our desigrplagations, manufacturing and
other operational activities;

» the reduction, rescheduling or cancellation of sd® our customet

» our ability to collect accounts receivables owedhy customer

* our product and customer sales mix and geograpsétas mix

» areduction in the price or the profitability ofrquroducts

» the timely availability or the cost of componentslanaterials utilized in our produc

» our ability to efficiently optimize manufactugrcapacity and production yields as necessary &t mestomer demand and ramp
production volume at our manufacturing facilities;

e our ability to protect our intellectual propedgainst third parties and continue our investnrentsearch and development and
design activities;

» any disruption in the operation of our manufactgtiacilities
» the timing of and return on our investments in aesk and developme

e The impact of any acquisition we might make andability to integrate effectively the acquiregsiness into our business
operations;




* macroeconomic events that impact global buyingeinggal and the semiconductor industry in partic@ac

e seasonality, principally due to our customers' pasing cycle:

The impact of one or more of these factors mighseaour operating results to vary widely. If oureeues, operating results or outlook
fall below the expectations of market analystsnwwestors, the market price of our common stockatdekline substantially. You should
carefully consider the numerous risks and uncdrtsmlescribed above and in such sections.

PART |
Item 1: Business

We design, develop, manufacture, sell and suppivdreced semiconductor probe card products, anthadargest supplier worldwide
of those products. Semiconductor manufacturerousgrobe cards to perform wafer test (also knosmafer sort), which is the testing of the
semiconductor die, or chips, while those die atkecsinstituted on the semiconductor wafer. Watsttenables semiconductor manufacturers |
determine whether chips will meet specificationd ba saleable once the wafer is diced, and thardisingulated and individually packaged.
Given the relatively high per-die costs of singialatand packaging processes, and the fact thatsenhiictor process yields are typically less
than 100%, meaning that some of the die on a veafeexpected to be defective, there is often a eimg economic reason to perform wafer
test. Probe cards are a critical element in enghhiat wafer test process.

During wafer test, the probe card is mounted orohgr and electrically connected to automatedeggsipment, or ATE, to form the
overall test cell, which is capable of automaticakerforming wafer test in a full production enviroent. The probe card forms the electrical
interface between the individual chips on a waded the ATE, allowing the ATE to detect chip fawlted verify chip functionality and
performance. Because each probe card forms a clsterface between a standard ATE system and aiardggstomer chip design, a key part
of our product offering is ensuring that our desdgnal customization processes successfully and aetyimatch the specific chip and wafer
designs of our customers.

We were incorporated in 1993 and we introducedficgtrprobe card in 1995. For much of our histagles of probe cards for testing
Dynamic Random Access Memory, or DRAM, devices maa¢éhe majority of our revenues. In October 2042 completed the acquisition of
Astria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc., including stsbsidiary MicroProbe Incorporated (together "MicroProbe"), whigngicantly diversified
and broadened our customer and revenue base, amjbety of MicroProbe's sales consisted of proasls for testing System-on-Chip, or
SoC, devices.

Our business, like that of many semiconductor egeipt and tooling suppliers, is generally subje¢htocyclicality and general health
of the semiconductor industry. We acquired Micrdieran fiscal 2012 to diversify our business beyasgrimary DRAM focus by gaining
access to more of the available semiconductor pcabe market through MicroProbe’s significant SaGhe card business. The acquisition
also enabled us to identify and realize operatiandl cost efficiencies in the combined companieshhology, resources, assets, and teams.
Since acquiring MicroProbe, we have been increésiiobgctioning as a single worldwide organizationdéverage and efficiently take
advantage of our combined capabilities.

Partially as a result of this diversification aegdrage, we improved our financial and operatipeaiormance during fiscal 2014 as
compared to fiscal 2013. In fiscal 2014, our busingained momentum through strong broad-basedmastbemand, coupled with continued
improvements in our operational execution. Duriisgdl 2014 , we increased revenues by $37.0 mitbhdd268.5 million , from $231.5 million
in 2013 . Our net loss decreased by $38.5 mill@$(1L9.2) million , from $(57.7) million in 2013Ne generated net cash of $12.7 million in
fiscal 2014, making it the first fiscal year sir@@07 in which we achieved a year-to-year increasmsh, cash equivalents and marketable
securities.

Products

Our products are based on our proprietary techiedp@cluding our micro-electromechanical syst¢MEMS) technologies, our
automation systems, our various product architesfuand our design tools. Our MEMS technologieggdly enable rapid and cost-effective
manufacturing of resilient multi-material composging-like electricallyeconductive contact elements with characteristigtierscales of a fe
microns. These contact elements, such as our Miciog contacts, optimize the relative amounts o€édéoon, and across, a chip’s bond pad,
solder bump, or copper pillar during the test psscand maintain their shape and position over geraficompression. In addition, while
maintaining these mechanical characteristics, tiitact elements must achieve reliable and higHifjdelectrical contact through wafer
surfaces that are generally oxidized or otherwisgaminated, and must maintain these attributes lnwedreds of thousands, and even
millions, of compression cycles. This capabilithem paired with our automation systems, enablés tepidly produce customer-design
specific probe cards that deliver leading precisiefiability, and electro-mechanical performance.
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Our probe cards are customized for our customargue wafer and chip designs, by modifying and &dgpur standard product
architectures, such as Matrix and Apollo, to meeindividual customer’s design layout and electrieat requirements. For many advanced
applications, our products must maintain tens ofifands of simultaneous high-fidelity low-impedaetetrical contacts with the
corresponding chip contacts (bond pads, solder Bungpper pillars, etc.) on the wafer. Our preseciinologies enable probe cards to be
populated with over 100,000 contact elements, wdtfitact element spacings as small as 40 microsisitdited over extents as large as 300mr
so that all die on the wafer can be tested simetiasly.

We have invested and intend to continue to invessiclerable resources in proprietary probe cariydesols and processes. These t
and processes enable the rapid and accurate castnidescribed above, including automated roudimgj trace length adjustment within our
probe cards, greatly enhancing our ability to rppiesign complex structures.

In addition, some of our customers test certaipbiver a large range of operating temperaturesppased to conducting wafer test at
one predetermined temperature. We select mateffigiscareful consideration of the potential ran§jtest operating temperatures and design
our probe cards to provide for a precise match thighthermal expansion characteristics of the waifigler test. As a result, for many of our
products, our customers can use the same probdarardth low and high temperature testing withalbss of mechanical or electrical
performance. In addition, for test situations fdrieh a customer requires extreme positional acguata specific temperature, we have
designed probe cards optimized for testing at seictperatures.

Through ongoing investments in both our technology and op@naf we continue to innovate and improve so thatooducts will mee
customers' future technical roadmap performancaljtyuand commercial requirements. We also comtitalleverage these ongoing
investments across all advanced probe card matketsalize synergies and economies of scale teftieur competitiveness, time-to-market
and overall profitability.

Customers

Our customers include semiconductor chip manufacsun the DRAM, Flash and SoC markets. Our custemse our probe cards to
test DRAM chips, including LPDDR2, LPDDR3, LPDDR2DR, DDR2, DDR3, DDR4, SDRAM, PSRAM, and Graphic AR; NOR, PCM
and NAND flash memory chips; and SoC devices, idiclg serial data devices, chipsets, microprocessurgsocontrollers, graphic processors,
mobile RF, analog and mixed-signal devices.

Three customers accounted for 51.6% of our revemuiescal 2014 , three customers accounted fo®d%bof our revenues in fiscal 2013
and three customers accounted for 55.1% of ounreain fiscal 2012 , as follows:

Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012
Intel 19.7% 17.7% * %
SK hynix 16.€ 16.5 29.4
Micron 15.C 11.7 13.c
Samsung * * 12.4
Total 51.6% 45.% 55.1%

* Less than 10% of revenu

Information concerning revenue by geographic regiod by country based upon ship to location apperdsr "ltem 7: Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations - Revenues - Revenues byr@gloig Region” and Note 14 -
Operating Segments and Geographic Information of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Stateémerhich are included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Backlog

Our backlog was $43.3 million at December 27, 26ddhpared to $25.0 million at December 28, 2013 .rifd@ufacture our products
based on order backlog and customer commitmentkl@aincludes only orders with written authoripats and shipment dates within
12 months. Backlog also includes revenue for exgstiroduct service agreements to be earned witeiméxt 12 months. Customers may dela
delivery of products or cancel orders prior to siémt, subject to possible cancellation penaltiege @ possible changes in delivery schedules
and cancellations of orders, our backlog on antiqudar date is not necessarily indicative of attsdes for any succeeding period. Delays in
delivery schedules and/or a reduction in backlognduany particular period could have a materialeade effect on our business and results o
operations.






Manufacturing

Our probe cards are designed for each of our cis®mnique wafer designs, by modifying and adgpbuwr product architectures to
meet an individual customer’s design layout antreguirements. Our proprietary manufacturing psses for our probe cards include: a
complex interconnection system-level design prace$ont-end process, which, depending upon tleeifip product, may include wire
bonding, photolithography, plating and metallurgjma@cesses, dry and electro-deposition, pick dadgrassembly; and a back-end process,
which includes general assembly and test. Criitgghs in our manufacturing process are performedviariety of clean room environments,
including as stringent as a Class 100 environntgiending on the requirements of the specific naiufing processes.

We depend upon suppliers for some critical comptsnehour manufacturing processes, including cecasubstrates and complex
printed circuit boards, and for materials usedunmanufacturing processes. We also rely on suggpieeprovide certain contact elements and
interconnects incorporated into our products. Sofrteese components and materials are suppliedsiygée vendor, and some are subject to
certain minimum order quantities. Generally, we @ purchase orders rather than long-term corstraith our suppliers, which subjects us to
risks, including price increases, manufacturingacéty issues and component shortages. We contynasdless and evaluate alternative source
of supply for all components and materials.

Our primary manufacturing facilities are located.imermore, San Jose and Carlsbad, California,dédh@tates. We also perform certain
probe card manufacturing operations in our facitittguzhou, China and Yokohama, Japan.

We maintain repair and service capabilities in biwere, San Jose, and Carlsbad, California, UnitateS; Austin, Texas, United States;
Dresden, Germany; Bundang, South Korea; Yokohanyeadd Hiroshima, Japan; Suzhou, China; Hsinchiwdi® and Singapore.

Research, Development and Engineering

The semiconductor industry is subject to rapid eedbgical change and new product introductionsemthncements. We believe that
our continued commitment to research and developarmhour timely introduction of new and enhancextipcts and technologies are integ
to maintaining and enhancing our competitive positWe allocate significant resources to thesertstfand prioritize those resources to
prepare for our customers’ next generation wafgrdballenges. We also increasingly seek to deplomyesources to solve fundamental
challenges that are both common to, and providepetitive advantage across, our SoC, DRAM, and Rismory product offerings and
roadmaps.

Research and development expenses were $42.7mfdlidiscal 2014 , $42.1 million for fiscal 2018c&%$40.1 million for fiscal 2012 .
Sales and Marketing
We sell our products worldwide primarily througle@nbination of a global direct sales force and @is&ibutor.

Our sales and marketing staff, located in the Wn8tates, China, Germany, Italy, Japan, SingaSmeth Korea, and Taiwan, work
closely with customers to understand their busiegsanticipate trends and define products thatprillide significant technical and economic
advantages to our customers.

We utilize a highly skilled team of application atustomer support engineers that support our cueswas they integrate our products
into their manufacturing processes. Through thesgomer relationships, we develop a close undedstgrof customer and product
requirements, thereby aligning our product captidsliand capacities with our customers' roadmaggerduction ramps.

Environmental Matters

We are subject to U.S. Federal, State and locdlfemeign governmental laws and regulations re¢atmthe protection of the
environment, including those governing the discharfpollutants into the air and water, the manag@rnand disposal of hazardous substance
and wastes, the clean-up of contaminated sitestenchaintenance of a safe workplace. We believevthacomply in all material respects with
the environmental laws and regulations that applys, including those of the California Departmefit oxic Substances Control, the Bay A
Air Quality Management District, the City of Livenre Water Resources Division, County of Santa (epartment of Environmental Hea
County of San Diego Hazardous Materials Divisiod &mcino Water District, and the California Divisiof Occupational Safety and Health.
We did not receive any notices of violations of iemwmental laws and regulations in fiscal 2014120r 2012 . We do not believe that any
loss from environmental remediation liabilities iebhave a material impact on our financial conditio






We believe we are in compliance in all materiapszds with the environmental laws and regulatidwas &pply to us. In the future, we
may receive environmental violation notices, amalfresolution of the violations could harm our igt®ns and adversely impact our operatin
results and cash flows. New laws and regulatiomgraded enforcement practices around existing ladgegulations, discovery of previously
unknown contamination at our or others' sites eritiposition of new cleanup requirements could Akson our operations.

We are also subject to SEC rules that will reqdiligence, disclosure and reporting on whetheragentinerals and metals, known as
conflict minerals, used in our products originatenf the Democratic Republic of Congo and adjoiringntries. We have implemented a
program to comply with these new rules, which caddersely affect the sourcing, availability anitimg of minerals we use in our products.
We will not only incur costs in relation to our cphance with disclosure requirements, but may #se difficulties in satisfying any of our
customers who require that all of our productscarified as conflict mineral free.

Competition

The highly competitive probe card market comprisesly domestic and foreign companies, and has huatlyrbeen fragmented with
many local suppliers servicing individual customésr current and potential competitors in the prord market include Advantest
Corporation, AMST Co., Ltd., BucklingBeam Solutipi@&ascade Microtech, Inc., Feinmetall GmbH, Korestrument Co., Ltd., Japan
Electronic Materials Corporation, Micronics Japam,&.td., Microfriend Inc., MPI Corporation, Souétin Engineering, SV Probe, Inc.,
Technoprobe, TSE Co., Ltd., and Will Technology,@d¢d, among others. In addition to the abilityawdress probe card performance and
capability requirements, the primary competitivetdas in the industry in which we compete includeduct quality and reliability, price, total
cost of ownership, lead times, service capabilitgt geographic proximity, field applications suppamt timeliness of delivery.

Some of our competitors are also suppliers of diyyees of test equipment or other semiconductoipegent and may have greater
financial and other resources than we do. We expetiour competitors will enhance their currergtdarcts and that they may introduce new
products that will be competitive with our probedsa In addition, it is possible that new compestancluding test equipment manufacturers,
may offer new technologies that reduce the valugsuofprobe cards.

Additionally, semiconductor manufacturers may inmpdmt chip designs that include built-in self-testBIST, capabilities or similar
functions or methodologies that increase test tjinput and reduce test content, thereby eliminaorge or all of our current product
advantages. Our ability to compete favorably mayp &éle adversely affected by (1) delays in qualificeof our new products, (2) very short
cycle time requirements, (3) long-standing relagtips between our competitors and certain semiaindmanufacturers, and
(4) semiconductor manufacturer test strategiesiticaide low performance semiconductor testerslesslcomplex probe cards.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part upon our ability tdilcoa to innovate and invest in research and dewedmt to meet the semiconductor
testing requirements of our customers, to mairdaith protect our proprietary technology, and to ceh@dur business without infringing on the
proprietary rights of others. We rely on a comhiorabf patents, trade secrets, trademarks andawindl restrictions on disclosure to protect
our intellectual property rights. We have filedians to enforce those rights against third partes, may pursue such actions in the future.

As of December 27, 2014 , we had 646 issued patefighich 412 are United States patents and 284aaeign patents. The expiration
dates of these patents range from 2015 to 2@RIr issued patents cover many of the featuresiointerconnect technology, as well as son
our inventions related to probe cards and testirader-level packaging and test, sockets and assesrdohd chips. In addition, as of
December 27, 2014 , we had 210 patent applicafiending worldwide, including 40 United States agatiions and 170 foreign national or
regional stage applications; we also had pendiRgt8nt Cooperation Treaty, or PCT, applications.cafaot provide any assurance that our
current patent applications, or any future patppliaations that we may file, will result in a patdeing issued with the scope of the claims we
seek, or at all, or whether any patents that we otdgin will not be challenged or invalidated. Eveadditional patents are issued, our patents
might not provide sufficiently broad coverage totect our proprietary rights or to avoid a thirdtgalaim against one or more of our prodt
or technologies.

We have both registered and unregistered trademadisding FormFactor, the FormFactor logo, AppAd RE, DC-Boost, Matrix,
MicroProbe, the MicroProbe logo, MicroSpring, NxaePitch, OneTouch, QiLin, RapidSoak, SmartMat8¥ART Matrix 100, TouchMatrix
Takumi, TRE, TrueScale and TrueScale Lite, VectarMP and Vx-RF.

We routinely require our employees, customers, engpand potential business partners to enterdatdidentiality and non-disclosure
agreements before we disclose to them any sensttipeoprietary information regarding our products,




technology or business plans. We require our enggleyo assign to us proprietary information, inieerst and other intellectual property they
create, modify or improve.

Legal protections afford only limited protectior faur proprietary rights. We also may not be susiegsn our efforts to enforce our
proprietary rights. To date, for example, we hagerbunsuccessful in our efforts to enforce cedéiour patent rights and obtain injunctive
relief for violation of those rights in South Koresnd through the U.S. International Trade Commnaigsdr ITC. Notwithstanding our efforts to
protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized partigay attempt to copy aspects of our products obtain and use information that we regard
as proprietary. From time to time, we have becomara of situations where others are or may beriginig on our proprietary rights. We
evaluate these situations as they arise and eléaké actions against these companies as we dgmopaiate. In response to our actions, and
on occasion without any action on our part, proogegsihave been filed in the U.S. Patent and Trade@#éice and patent offices in other
countries, challenging the validity of certain afr @atents. Others might independently developlaimer competing technologies or methods,
design around our patents, or attempt to manufaend sell infringing products in countries thatnad strongly enforce intellectual property
rights. In addition, leading companies in the semdictor industry have extensive patent portfadiod other intellectual property with respect
to semiconductor technology. In the future, we rhigiceive claims that we are infringing intelledtpeoperty rights of others or that our
patents or other intellectual property rights anealid. We have received in the past, and may vedeithe future, communications from third
parties inquiring about our interest in licensimgtain of their intellectual property or more gaalgridentifying intellectual property that may
be of interest to us.

For a description of the material patent-relatastpedings in which we are involved, see "ltem 3jdlé’roceedings".

Employees

As of December 27, 2014 , we had 907 regular fuletemployees, including 539 in operations, 19&search and development, 169
sales and marketing and 67 in general and adnatiigrfunctions. By region, 647 of our employeeseni@a North America, 73 in China, 64 in
Singapore, 49 in South Korea, 34 in Taiwan, 32apah and 8 in Europe. No employees are currentlgred by a collective bargaining
agreement. We believe that, overall, our relatioitb our employees are good.

Available Information

We maintain a website http://www.formfactor.com. We make available free of charge on our website®mnual Reports on Form 10-
K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, current reportd=orm 8-K and amendments to those reports fitddroished pursuant to Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonmhbbticable after we electronically file such mitlewith, or furnish it to, the United State
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Tleeaete to our website does not constitute incotjpordy reference of the information
contained at the site.

The public may also read and copy any materiakwiadile with the SEC at the SEC's Public RefeeeRoom at 100 F Street N.E.,
Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain infation on the operation of the Public ReferencerRby calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet websitedbntains reports and other information regaréisgers, such as FormFactor, that file
electronically with the SEC. The SEC's Internet sitehis located dtttp://www.sec.gov .

Directors and Executive Officers

Directors. The names of the members of our board of directbeir ages as of December 27, 2014 , and theiemnt occupations are
set forth below.

Name of Director Age Current Occupation
Edward Rogas, Jr. 74 Director of Vitesse Semiconductor Corporation
Lothar Maier 59 Chief Executive Officer and Director of Linear Tecthogy
Corporation
Michael D. Slessor (1) 45 Chief Executive Officer and Director of FormFactmg.
Michael W. Zellner 58 Director of FormFactor, Inc.
Richard DelLateur 56 Director of FormFactor, Inc.
Thomas St. Dennis (1) 61 Executive Chairman of FormFactor, Inc.
(1) Dr. Slessor was the President of our Comparfiscal 2014, and succeeded Mr. St. Dennis as Eff#tive from December

28, 2014, which is the beginning of our fiscal 20U6. St. Dennis became the Executive ChairmanuoBnard of Directors
in October 2013, and continues to serve as Exez@hairman.






Lothar Maier has served as a Director since November 2006. Mieivhas served as the Chief Executive Officerantember of the
board of directors of Linear Technology Corporatidiasdaq: LLTC), a supplier of high performancelagantegrated circuits since January
2005. Prior to that, Mr. Maier served as Linearfredlogy's Chief Operating Officer from April 1999 December 2004. Before joining Linear
Technology, Mr. Maier held various management jpmsitat Cypress Semiconductor Corporation, a pesvid high-performance, mixed-
signal, programmable solutions, from 1983 to 1988st recently as Senior Vice President and Exeetice President of Worldwide
Operations. Mr. Maier holds a B.S. in chemical eegring from the University of California at Ber&gl

Thomas &. Dennis has served as a Director since September 2010, hégined our company, and as Executive ChairnfidimeoBoarc
of Directors since October 23, 2013. Mr. St. Dersgisred as our Chief Executive Officer from Septen#tD10 through December 27, 2014.
Mr. St. Dennis previously held various position#\aplied Materials, Inc. from 1992 to 1999 and agfaom 2005 to 2009. His most recent t
at Applied Materials, Inc. was Senior Vice Presideamd General Manager of the Silicon Systems Grblgpalso worked at Novellus
Systems, Inc. as Executive Vice President of SatesMarketing from 2003 to 2005. From 1999 to 2BG3St. Dennis was President and C
of Wind River Systems, Inc. Mr. St. Dennis currgratlso sits on the Board of Mattson Technology, Mc St. Dennis holds a B.S. in Physics
and a M.S. in Physics, both from UCLA.

Michael Sessor, has served as a Director since October 2013. Bss8t became our Chief Executive Officer on Decer28e2014. Dr
Slessor served as our President from October 2DD&tember 27, 2014, and as Senior Vice PresigehGaneral Manager, MicroProbe
Product Group from October 2012 to October 2013oReoining FormFactor, Dr. Slessor was Presidertt Chief Executive Officer of
MicroProbe from July 2008 through the October 26tbBing of FormFactor's acquisition of MicroProPeior to joining MicroProbe, he held
various management, product-marketing, and appitsitengineering positions in the semiconductousty, primarily with KLA-Tencor. Dr.
Slessor received his Ph.D. in Aeronautics and Ryfsbm the California Institute of Technology drid B.A.Sc. in Engineering Physics from
the University of British Columbia.

Edward Rogas, Jr. has served as a Director since October 2010. BigaR currently serves as a Director on the boaxdtesse
Semiconductor Corporation. Mr. Rogas served agecRir of Vignani Technologies Pvt Ltd until Febnp2014 and Photon Dynamics, Inc.,
from May 2006 to October 2008. Mr. Rogas held manaant positions at Teradyne, Inc. for over 30 y@actuding serving as Senior Vice
President from 2000 through 2005. Mr. Rogas hoidsiaB.A. degree from Harvard Business School aBdSa from the United States Naval
Academy.

Michael W. Zellner has served as a Director since April 2011. Mr.i@&llserved as Vice President and Chief Financifi¢€@fof Cyan,
Inc. (NYSE: CYNI) from March 2013 through March 2DHe was Vice President, Finance and Chief Firsizificer of PMC-Sierra, Inc.
(Nasdag: PMCS) from March 2007 to November 201@rRo joining PMC-Sierra, Mr. Zellner was Senioic¥ President of Finance and
Administration and Chief Financial Officer at WiRdver Systems, Inc., a device software solutiomwigier to the electronics industry. Mr.
Zellner attended the Stanford Executive Prograthetanford Graduate School of Business as wélleaMBA and BBA accounting progre
at Florida Atlantic University.

Richard DeLateur has served as a Director since May 2011, and akead Independent Director since May 2014. Mr. Delaserved
as Chief Financial Officer of FormFactor, Inc. fronay 2010 to May 2011. Mr. DeLateur is a 20-yeaevan of Intel's finance team, where he
held various positions, including the role of Vieeesident and Group Controller of Worldwide Tecliggl and Manufacturing. Mr. DelLateur
more recently served as Chief Financial Officethatprivate companies Fluidigm Corporation and To@orporation. Mr. DelLateur had also
served as a Director at Numonyx Corp., a leadingufacturer of Flash memory, which is now part oEMin Technology, Inc. Mr. DeLateur
holds a B.A. in Economics from the University ofli@ania, Davis and was awarded his Chartered Rr@\nalyst (CFA) certification in
1999.

Executive Officers. Our executive officers, their ages as of Decemi@e2@14 , and their positions with our companysaeforth below.

Name Age Position

Thomas St. Dennis (1) 61 Executive Chairman of FormFactor, Inc.

Michael M. Ludwig 53 Chief Financial Officer

Michael D. Slessor (1) 45 Chief Executive Officer and Director of FormFacting.
Stuart L. Merkadeau 53 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segretar

(1) Dr. Slessor, served as our President in fid0al and succeeded Mr. St. Dennis as CEO effefrttime December 28, 2014,
which is the beginning of our fiscal 2015. Mr. Bennis became the Executive Chairman of our BoaRirectors in Octobe
2013, and continues to serve as Executive Chairman.




Michael M. Ludwig has served as our Chief Financial Officer since @¥y1. Mr. Ludwig also served as our Vice PresidEimance
from December 2009 to May 2011, was a consultanutaccompany from February 2009 to December 2008 sarved as our Vice President
and Corporate Controller from April 2001 to Aprd@7. Mr. Ludwig has also held senior level finaacel accounting positions at Force 10
Networks, Inc., a division of Dell Inc., that buslénd secures high performance networks, and &iali¢ of Tyco Electronics and Beckm
Coulter. Mr. Ludwig holds a B.S. in accounting fr@alifornia State Polytechnic University, Pomona.

Suart L. Merkadeau has served as one of our Senior Vice Presidents €hctober 2003 and as our General Counsel anét8scsince
October 2002. Mr. Merkadeau previously served @&safrour Vice Presidents from October 2002 to Saptr 2003, and as our Vice Presiden
of Intellectual Property from July 2000 to Octo2€02. From 1990 to July 2000, Mr. Merkadeau practiaw as an associate and then a
partner with Graham & James LLP, where he speeidlim licensing and strategic counseling in intglial property matters. Mr. Merkadeau is
admitted to practice in California and registeregtactice before the U.S. Patent and Trademarik@®fir. Merkadeau holds a B.S. in
industrial engineering from Northwestern Universatyd a J.D. from the University of California atsLAngeles.

ltem 1A: Risk Factors

In addition to the other information in this AnndRéport on Form 10-K, you should carefully consither risk factors discussed in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K in evaluating FormFaetod our business. If any of the identified risksially occur, our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be mallgradversely affected. The trading price of oamenon stock could decline and you may
lose all or part of your investment in our commawck. The risks and uncertainties described inAmisual Report on Form 10-K are not the
only ones we face. Additional risks that we curiyedb not know about or that we currently beliewde immaterial may also impair our
business operations.

A delay in qualifying next generation products caltesult in higher development costs and loss ofrked share, which could negative
impact our business and financial results.

We may suffer from delays in qualifying our ngdneration products at our customers. In fiscall20& engaged with certain custom
on a next-generation, or evolution, of our SmartiMairoduct which enables greater parallelism, als¢ with a SoC customer on a next-
generation vertical probe technology. In the fipsarter of our fiscal 2013, we announced that vépended development activities specific to
our next generation Matrix platform and we proceketteconsolidate our technologies and developn@eaktend the capabilities of the then-
current Matrix platform. The inability to extendeticapabilities of our products as anticipated negyilt in the loss of sales and negatively
impact our financial results. In 2013, we increasadactivities and spending on the developmerat véw NAND Flash probe card
architecture, which is incorporated into our Vedd#®ND Flash memory probe card; and in 2014 we sssfedly qualified our Vector probe
card at one customer, and engaged in qualificatativities at a second customer, which has nowifigtithe Vector product architecture. If
we are not able to continue to successfully qualify Vector product at other NAND Flash memory ougtrs, or if we are not able to realize
material revenues from sales of the Vector prolbe rathe future, it could negatively impact ouveaues and margins and harm our business
We continue to invest in research and developmantities around new product technologies and aechirres. If we are unable to qualify and
successfully introduce products incorporating neadpct technologies and architectures, it may neglgtimpact our business.

We may make acquisitions and investments, whichldquut a strain on our resources, cause ownershifution to our stockholders and
adversely affect our financial results.

Integrating newly acquired businesses, producteamologies into our company could put a straimanresources, could be expensive
and time consuming, could substantially reducecash reserves, could cause delays in product delared might not be successful. Future
acquisitions and investments could divert managésattention from other business concerns andsexpar business to unforeseen liabilities
or risks associated with entering new marketsdufiteon, we might lose key employees while integiginew organizations. We might not be
successful in integrating any acquired businegseslucts or technologies, and might not achievieigated revenues and cost benefits.
Investments that we make may not result in a retonsistent with our projections upon which sualestments are made, or may require
additional investment that we did not originallytiaipate. In addition, future acquisitions couldu# in customer dissatisfaction, performance
problems with an acquired company, potentiallytdieiissuances of equity securities or the incureenf debt and restrictive debt covenants,
contingent liabilities, possible impairment chargelated to goodwill or other intangible assetsthier unanticipated events or circumstances,
any of which could harm our business.

We might be subject to risks relating to our acitjois of MicroProbe as set forth below:

* We may fail to realize all of the synergies thatamicipated from the combination of the two conipa

10




»  We may fail to continue to retain key MicroPrabescutives and employees, which could negativafaict the long-term success of
the acquisition;

«  We may not be able to efficiently combine certaioduct service and support capabilities and Rgdgrams, which could require us
to increase certain spending;

e Our customers may reduce their aggregate spendiddiaroProbe and/or FormFactor produ
 We may have assumed unforeseen legal, regulatdefieictual property or other liabilities; ¢
* We have less cash available for other purposekidimg other acquisitions of technologies or busges

We derive a substantial portion of our revenuesrfia small number of customers, and we could contnie experience significant declines
in our revenues if any major customer cancels, reds, delays a purchase of, or does not place agutejd order for our products, or does
not pay us, or delays or extends payment for ounghuicts past their original due dates.

A relatively small number of customers accountdaignificant portion of our revenues. Three cusimmepresented 52% of total
revenues in fiscal 2014 , three customers repredet@% of total revenues in fiscal 2013 and threstamners represented 55fototal revenue
in fiscal 2012 . In fiscal 2014 , 2013 and 2012, &n largest customers accounted for 80% , 75488A6 of our revenues, respectively. We
anticipate that sales of our products to a reltismall number of customers will continue to aaaioior a significant portion of our revenues.
Consolidation in the semiconductor industry mayeéase this concentration. In the future, the Iédsny of these customers, or cancellation,
reduction or deferral of even a small number othases of our products by these customers coutifisantly reduce our revenues.
Cancellations, reductions or deferrals could refsafh another downturn in the semiconductor indysir from manufacturing delays, quality
or reliability issues with our products, or frontaérruptions to our customers' operations due & fiatural disasters or other events.
Furthermore, because our probe cards are custatugsodesigned for our customers' unique wafelgdssiany cancellations, reductions or
delays can result in significant, non-recoveraloigts. In some situations, our customers might letalcancel or reduce orders without a
significant penalty.

Our customers could also fail to pay all or paraofinvoice for our products. If a customer failpay us or delays payment for our
products, we may be unable to recognize revenudijrancial condition and liquidity could be advelsimpacted and we may incur additio
charges for bad-debt reserve. It is also posditaeit we make the decision to initiate legal peatieags against customers to seek payment of
outstanding receivables, it will negatively impaatustomer relationship and result in lost revermudise future. As happened with our
customer ProMos Technologies, customers with firrmifficulties may be forced to materially redugediscontinue operations, file for
bankruptcy or other relief, or may be acquired hg of our other customers, any of which would fartreduce our customer base and/or resu
in the loss of revenues.

Changes in customers' test strategies, equipmert processes could cause us to lose revenues.

The demand for probe cards depends in large part tie number of semiconductor designs, the patechhology and architecture
transitions in chip designs and overall semiconatughit volume. The time it takes to test a wafepehds upon the number of devices being
tested, the complexity of these devices, the &fsivare program and the test equipment itself.e&s$ programs become increasingly effective
and test throughput increases, the number of pralis required to test a given volume of device$imes. Therefore, advances in the test
process could cause us to lose sales. Further, seamiconductor manufacturers are implementing dbggns featuring built-in-self-test, or
BIST, capabilities or similar "design for testatyili or DFT, functions or methodologies that in@edest throughput and reduce the cost of
These efforts include strategies to reduce thenieahrequirements on test equipment, or to imprmata about device performance early in the
manufacturing process, or to test the device latdre manufacturing process for quality assurgnoposes. In some cases, BIST or DFT can
create opportunities for our technologies. In otteees BIST or DFT can reduce requirements for miafe! test and reduce our opportunities.
Although we seek to work with our customers to slhweays that our technologies can be applied togetiterBIST and DFT approaches to
create opportunities to further reduce the cosest; the overall impact of BIST and DFT technoésgtould slow the migration to wafer level
testing and adversely affect our revenues.

Similar results could occur if new chip designsiarplemented which we are unable to test efficiertl if semiconductor
manufacturers reduce generally the amount or degfreafer test they perform. We incur significaesearch and development expenses in
conjunction with the introduction of new producthaitectures and platforms. The introduction andptida of new test equipment platforms
can impact probe card requirements and/or demahi¢hveould harm our revenues. Additionally, becamsecustomers require both test
equipment and probe cards, a delay or disruptigharintroduction of new test equipment platforrosld negatively affect our growth.
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Cyclicality in the semiconductor industry may adgety impact our sales in the future, and as a rédsué have experienced and may
continue to experience reduced revenues and opearatesults.

The semiconductor industry has historically beetlicgl and is characterized by wide fluctuationpinduct supply and demand. From
time to time, this industry has experienced sigaifit downturns, often in connection with, or inieipation of, maturing product and
technology cycles, excess inventories and declingsneral economic conditions. The global econamitt semiconductor downturns have
caused and may in the future cause our operatmgtseto decline dramatically from one period te trext. Our business depends heavily upol
the development and manufacture of new semicondiydtee rate at which semiconductor manufacturexsentransitions to smaller nanometet
technology nodes and implement tooling cyclesytilame of production by semiconductor manufactuaerd the overall financial strength of
our customers, which, in turn, depend upon theetitrand anticipated market demand for semicondsietod products, such as servers,
personal computers, automobiles and cell phonasute semiconductors. During industry downturesjisonductor manufacturers generally
sharply curtail their spending, including their gament spending, and defer their adoption of enmgr¢gchnologies and historically have
lowered their spending disproportionately more ttiendecline in their revenues. This is particylanie when there is a point during an
industry cycle in which the semiconductor manufeats! costs related to semiconductor devices approaexceed the sales price of the
devices. As a result, we would experience redueeédnues due to the decreased demand for our paothe foy our semiconductor
manufacturer customers. Accordingly, if we do ndjuat our levels of manufacturing and human resssiar manage our costs and deliveries
from suppliers in response to lower spending byisenauctor manufacturers, our gross margin mayigkeelnd cause us to experience furthel
operating losses.

Changes in customers' product roadmaps and the fimes associated with those roadmaps could negdyis@pact our product developme
effort and new product introductions, which could iturn, cause us to lose revenues.

The demand for probe cards depends in large part tie demand for semiconductor devices and otoess' product roadmaps. For
example, the DRAM market was impacted negativelfysical 2013 as secular changes in the personapotanmarkets significantly lowered
demand for commodity DRAM. We may be required t&kenehanges to our operational or R&D activitieseduce the breadth of our
investments in certain of our products. For exampl¢he first quarter of fiscal 2013, we annountteat we suspended development activities
specific to our next generation Matrix platform amduld consolidate our technologies and developrteeektend the capabilities of the then-
current Matrix platform. If this consolidation doest continue to be successful, or does not extemdapabilities of our products as
anticipated, or if changes to our operational ofR&tivities impact our ability to introduce compiee products in the future, we may lose
sales and our financial results will be negativelpacted.

The markets in which we participate are competitiaad if we do not compete effectively, our opengtresults could be harmed.

We are experiencing increased competition in tieb@icard market and we expect competition to ifeisthe future. Increased
competition has resulted in, and in the futurékisly to result in, price reductions, reduced gnoesgins or loss of market share. Competitors
might introduce new competitive products for thmeamarkets that our products currently serve. Theseéucts may have better performance,
lower prices and/or broader acceptance than owutugts. Competitive products may not have betteiopmance, lower prices and/or broader
acceptance than our products, but may be able ¢b sherter delivery times required by customersrasdlt in the loss of revenue for us. In
addition, for products such as probe cards, serdiottior manufacturers typically qualify more thare@ource to avoid dependence on a singl
source of supply. As a result, our customers wékédy purchase products from our competitors. €atrand potential competitors include
Advantest Corporation, AMST Co., Ltd., BucklingBe&ulutions, Cascade Microtech, Inc., Feinmetall Gimnorea Instrument Co., Ltd.,
Japan Electronic Materials Corporation, Microniapah Co., Ltd., Microfriend Inc., MPI Corporatiddgulbrain Engineering, SV Probe, Inc.,
Technoprobe, TSE Co., Ltd., and Will Technology,C¢d, among others.

Many of our current and potential competitors hgkeater name recognition, larger customer basee egtablished customer
relationships or greater financial, technical, nfanturing, marketing and other resources than weAda@ result, they might be able to responc
more quickly to new or emerging technologies arahges in customer requirements, devote greatennasoto the development, promotion,
sale and support of their products, and reducegtic increase market share. Some of our competiteo supply other types of test equipn
Those competitors that offer both advanced probaéscand needle probe cards might have strongjmxistlationships with our existing
customers or with potential customers. It is pdssibat one or more of our competitors may be &blacrease their sales to mutual customers
resulting in a loss of revenue share for us. fiither possible that existing or new competitarsjuding test equipment manufacturers, may
offer new technologies that reduce the value ofpzabe cards.
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If we fail to protect our proprietary rights, ourampetitors might gain access to our technology, efhcould adversely affect our ability 1
compete successfully in our markets and harm oueogting results.

If we choose not to protect our proprietary righit$ail in our efforts to protect our proprietaights, our competitors might gain access
to our technology. Unauthorized parties might afteta copy aspects of our products or to obtainus®linformation that we regard as
proprietary. Others might independently developilsinor competing technologies or methods or designund our patents. In addition, the
laws of many foreign countries in which we or oustbmers do business do not protect our intellégitogerty rights to the same extent as the
laws of the United States. As a result, our praanerights could be compromised, our competitoightnoffer products similar to ours and we
might not be able to compete successfully. We edsmot assure that:

* our means of protecting our proprietary rights Ww#él adequat
« patents will be issued from our pending or futysplecations

* our existing or future patents will be sufficién scope or strength to provide any meaningfatgxtion or commercial advantage to
us;

e our patents or other intellectual property will hetinvalidated, circumvented or successfully @mjed in the United States or fore
countries; or

« others will not misappropriate our proprietagghnologies or independently develop similar tetdgies, duplicate our products or
design around any of our patents or other intalqgbroperty, or attempt to manufacture and s#finging products in countries that
do not strongly enforce intellectual property right

We have spent in the past, and may be requirepeiodsin the future, significant resources to marated protect our intellectual
property rights. We presently believe it is likéfyat several of our competitors are using methagle®or have implemented structures into
certain of their products that are covered by anmare of our intellectual property rights.

In certain cases, our competitors have initiatedx@mination proceedings in the USPTO and invaligibceedings in foreign patent
offices against certain of our patents. Any litigat whether or not resolved in our favor, and vkeeinitiated by us or by a third party, could
result in significant and possibly material expetosas and divert the efforts of our managementtaolnical personnel. In addition, while
patents are territorial and a ruling on a certaeiy patent does not necessarily impact the vgliwlitenforceability of a corresponding or rele
patent in a different country, an adverse rulingrie country might negatively impact our abilityetiaforce the corresponding or related patent
in other countries. Certain of our customer corgraontain provisions that require us to defend@riddemnify our customers for third party
intellectual property infringement claims, which i increase the cost to us of an adverse rulireyah a claim. An adverse determination
could also negatively impact our ability to liceregatain of our technologies and methods to otteard,result in our competitors being allowed
to sell products with, or add to their productgitiees and benefits contained in our productsethereducing our competitive advantages ove
these competing products.

If we do not innovate and keep pace with technolajidevelopments in the semiconductor industry, guoducts might not be competitiy
and our revenues and operating results could suffer

We must continue to innovate and to invest in neteand development to improve our competitive fomsiand to meet the testing
requirements of our customers. Our future growibedes, in significant part, upon our ability to waffectively with and anticipate the test
needs of our customers and to develop and supparpnoducts and product enhancements to meet tleegks on a timely and cost-effective
basis. Our customers' testing needs are becoming challenging as the semiconductor industry coesrto experience rapid technological
change driven by the demand for complex circuig$ #re shrinking in size, are increasing in speetifanctionality and also becoming less
expensive to produce. Examples of trends drivingated for technological research and developmehidecsemiconductor manufacturers'
transition to 2x nanometer DRAM technology nodeshkland SoC fabrication process nodes, transiihtigher gigabit density memory and
lower-power multi-core processors, and rapid adwoptif advanced IC packaging types, such as wafest-packaging, Flipchip devices,
devices incorporating Copper Pillar structures, @hbugh-Silicon-Via (TSV) technologies. Our custmmexpect that they will be able to
integrate our probe cards into any manufacturing@ss as soon as they are installed. Thereforeeéd these expectations and remain
competitive, we must continually design, develod artroduce on a timely basis new products andyebdnhancements with improved
features.

We may also work collaboratively with one or mdned parties in the development of new technologies improvements to our
existing technologies. It is possible that thediborations may be delayed, or even ultimatelywpronsuccessful, by matters outside of our
control, such as the financial condition of thedtparty. It is possible that our internal devel@mhefforts and engagements with third parties
regarding the development of manufacturing equigrhaming similar
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functionality may have a lengthy development amdpaip time and negatively impact our ability to gete new products and realize revenus
from those products.

Successful product design, development and intidmiuon a timely basis require that we:

« design innovative and performaneehancing product architectures, technologies aatilifes that differentiate our products from tl
of our competitors;

* in some cases engage with third parties who pavicular expertise in order to complete one oreraspects of the design and
manufacturing process;

« qualify with the customer(s) the new product, oeaisting product incorporating new technolc

e transition our products to new manufacturing tedbgies

» offer our products for sale at competitive pilieeels while maintaining our grogsargins within our financial mod
« identify emerging technological trends in our tangearkets

* maintain effective marketing strateg

« respond effectively to technological changes odpob announcements by others;

« adjust to changing market conditions quickly aondteffectively

Not only do we need the technical expertise to @nm@nt the changes necessary to keep our techmlogiieent, but we must also rely
heavily on the judgment of our management to gudie future market trends. If we are unable to l§ipeedict industry changes or industry
trends, or if we are unable to modify our produstslesign, manufacture and deliver new producta ttimely basis, or if a third party with
which we engage does not timely deliver a compooeservice for one of our product modificationsew products, we might lose customers
or market share. In addition, we might not be @ble=cover our research and development expendjtugich could harm our operating
results.

We have recorded significant restructuring, invemyowrite-offs and asset impairment charges in thagh and may do so again in the future,
which could have a material negative impact on dusiness.

We recorded material restructuring charges relttedir global workforce reductions and impairmemrges related to our long-lived
assets in fiscal 2014 , fiscal 2013, and fiscdl20As we continue to align our operations witlh business requirements, we may implement
additional cost reduction actions, which would riegus to take additional, potentially materiaktracturing charges related to employee
terminations, asset disposal or exit costs. We afsxy be required to write off additional inventdrgur product build plans or usage of
inventory experience declines, and such additiamii-offs could constitute material charges. Inligidn, significant adverse changes in
market conditions could require us to take add#ionaterial impairment charges related to our lbwed assets. Our long-lived assets,
including intangible assets, are amortized over tiespective estimated useful lives using theigiitaline and accelerated methods and are
reviewed for impairment annually, or whenever egsentchanges in circumstances indicate that tlaefying amount may not be recoverable.
The valuation of our long-lived assets requiresiag®ions and estimates of many critical factorsluding revenue and market growth,
operating cash flows, market multiples, and distoates. Other adverse changes in market condjtparicularly if such changes have the
effect of changing one of the critical assumptiongstimates we use in our assessment of the nedwliy of our long-lived assets, could
result in a change to the estimation of fair vahat could result in future impairment charges. M&y also incur charges for factory
underutilization depending upon the demand forpyaducts and factory capacity. Any such additiaterges, whether related to restructul
asset impairment or factory underutilization mayeéha material negative impact on our operatingltesund related financial statements.

Our recent restructuring plans may not have propgdligned our cost structure with our business neethd overall semiconductor industry
requirements and even though completed may advgraéiect our business, financial condition, or opeging results.

In each of fiscal 2009 through 2014, we conduceetlictions in our work force as part of company-wodganizational restructurings or
cost reduction plans. These plans were intendbeélffocus our resources more strategically towbhtdsness needs and industry requirem
We realized certain cost savings from these retstrimg) actions, but our business, financial coditand operating results could be materially
adversely affected if we experience unanticipatedficiencies as a result of our restructuring\aiis, unanticipated or product delivery or
quality issues resulting in impaired customer refethips caused by reduced headcount, or delagniping the manufacture of our products ol
delay in our development, introduction and quadifien of our new products and technologies. We ocaansure we will not undertake
additional
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workforce reductions, that any of our restructuréfiprts will be successful, or that we will be alvb realize the cost savings and other
anticipated benefits from our previous or futurgtmecturing plans. Any of these issues could rederestructuring plan ineffective, which
could have a material adverse effect on our busjrigmncial condition, or operating results.

If we do not continue to take steps to optimize gtructure of our operations to position our compgaffor long-term, profitable growth, we
might not succeed.

The timing, length and severity of the cyclical ddgurns in the semiconductor industry are diffidolpredict. This cyclicality affects ol
ability to accurately predict our future operatmegults and plan our business, and could also mtipaivalue of our tangible and intangible
assets. We implemented global cost reduction prarach fiscal year from 2009 through 2014 andcardinuing to pursue measures to
improve our operating efficiency. Such cost recarcpplans and measures to improve operating effigiéiave included workforce reductions,
the consolidation of manufacturing capacity, thetidization of support functions to regional ardbgl shared service centers and the
combining of the technical and manufacturing teaoress multiple product lines. If we do not conéiria implement measures for optimizing
our financial model for prevailing market conditirour competitiveness could be seriously harmedability to invest in our business for
future growth may be negatively impacted and oungany might not succeed. If we do not successéitlycture our operations by, for
example, strengthening our local application andise capabilities to improve customer responsigsnehanging our manufacturing structure
and processes for shorter cycle time and improvedyzt delivery capabilities, realigning our resteand development efforts, and continu
motivate and retain our key employees, we may éspee deterioration in our business and our compaigit not succeed. In addition, as the
business environment changes, for example as thiegeductor industry moves past a cyclical downtifrove are unable to proactively and
effectively manage our operations and/or realignoauntrols, systems and infrastructure to changimgjness conditions, we may not be in a
position to boost our personnel, manufacturing cipaservice capabilities and productivity, anghsart growth in response to increasing
customer demand for our products, which woulduimn thave a negative impact on our operating result

Our pricing for our products could result in certai customers deciding to not purchase our produestdich could negatively impact our
business and financial results.

We believe that our pricing guidelines are consistéth normal industry cost learning curves, berttain customers may in the future
react negatively to our pricing and elect to natchase our products, to purchase fewer of our mtsdas compared to those of our competi
or to phase out the purchase of our products, iclwtase our business, financial condition and afjpeg results could be materially and
adversely impacted.

If goodwill or other intangible assets that we raced in connection with the MicroProbe Acquisitiodmecome impaired, we could be requil
to take significant charges against earnings.

In connection with the accounting for the MicroPeokcquisition, we have recorded a significant amiaimgoodwill and other
intangible assets. Under U.S. generally accepteduwsting principles, or GAAP, we must assess,adtlannually and potentially more
frequently, whether the value of goodwill and othmetefinite-lived intangible assets have been imgghiFinite-lived intangible assets will be
assessed for impairment in the event of an impaitrimglicator. Any reduction or impairment of thdwea of goodwill or other intangible assets
will result in a charge against earnings, whichldaenaterially adversely affect our results of opieras and stockholders' equity in future
periods. Refer to note 8 to Notes to Consolidaiedritial StatementsGoodwill and Intangible Assets for further details relating to our annual
goodwill impairment assessment.

Periodic global economic and semiconductor industtgwnturns could negatively affect our businesssuéts of operations, and financie
condition.

Global economic and semiconductor industry dowrgtinave in the past negatively affected and couttérfuture negatively affect our
business, results of operations and financial damdiDuring a downturn, we may experience declinedemand for our probe cards resulting
from our customers taking steps to conserve castutiing production, postponing the implementatémooling cycles and delaying the ramp
of new technology nodes in response to slow denmf@ncbnsumer and other products incorporating desstested with our probe cards. We
may also experience increased pricing pressuredaic of our products, which may reduce our groasgins. A protracted downturn could
cause customers to become insolvent, resultingassaof revenue and/or the uncollectability ofaaus receivable. Downturns have
historically, and may in the future, cause custaerseek extended payment terms or delay payroeotf products past their original due
dates, resulting in deferral of revenue and inéngasur potential bad debt exposure.

It is also possible that one or more of our keypdieps may become insolvent, leading to delayshiédevelopment and shipment of our
products, increased expense and loss of revenagldition, we may experience increased impairmeatges due to declines in the fair values
of marketable debt securities, or charges based upderutilization of our factory.
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Environmental and other disasters, such as floodjrearthquakes, fires, volcanic eruptions or leakafyjem nuclear reactors, or :
combination thereof, may negatively impact our bosss.

Our business is vulnerable to the direct and imdlirapact of environmental and other disastersh siscthe March 2011 earthquake off
the coast of Japan and the resulting tsunami asabir at certain nuclear power plants in Japaninstance, while our design operations in
Tokyo, Japan, and our repair facilities in Yokohadapan and Hiroshima, Japan were all not damagétebMarch 2011 disasters in Japan, it
is possible that our operations could be impaateatie future by similar events. The facilities eftain of our suppliers, including suppliers of
our ceramics, our printed circuit boards and certdiour mechanical parts, are located in Japanlé/dar suppliers did not report any
significant damage to their facilities and theyuragd operations consistent with the power usag#egjnes in their respective areas, the suppl
chains for certain of our suppliers were negativelgacted. Additionally, the 2012 flooding in Theild negatively impacted the operations of
several disk drive manufacturers, which createloatage of disk drives available for incorporatinto personal computers. This disk drive
shortage resulted in a slowing of the manufactfigeeosonal computers and for the DRAM incorporated personal computers, which crea
an oversupply of DRAM devices and caused pricei@nodt is possible that future acts of terrorigmyironmental events or natural disasters,
such as earthquakes and aftershocks, and infragteugvents arising out of such occurrences arabtiss, could negatively impact our
suppliers’ ability to supply components to us dingly basis. Any such delays in supplying or dedimg components to us could, and any
catastrophic loss suffered by our key supplierslditikely, disrupt our operations, delay productimd shipments and adversely affect our
revenues and business. Similarly, any catastrdphgat our California facilities, such as fromeanthquake, would materially and adversely
affect our business.

If we are unable to efficiently manufacture our esting probe card products and our new probe cardgucts, our business may |
materially adversely affected.

We must continuously improve our manufacturing psses in an effort to increase yields and prodeidopmance, lower our costs and
reduce the time required for us to design, manufaaind deliver our products in volume. If we cardmthese things, both our existing
products and our new products may not be comméraatcessful, our revenues may be adversely affieciur customer relationships and oul
reputation may be harmed and our business may bexiaily adversely affected. To improve our mantdisiog processes, we have incurred,
and may incur in the future, substantial costsireffiort to optimize capacity and yields, implemaetv manufacturing technologies, methods
and processes, purchase new equipment, upgradimgxguipment and train technical personnel. Weehexperienced, and may experienc
the future, manufacturing delays and other inefficies in connection with implementation of thesprovements and customer qualifications
of new processes, which have caused and could datise future, our operating results to decline.

We have also experienced, and may experience ifuthee, difficulties in manufacturing our complproducts in volume on time and
acceptable yields and cost and installation isgudite field due to the complexity of customer desiequirements, including integration of
probe cards with varying customer test cell envinents and testing of semiconductor devices oveida temperature range. For example,
design and manufacturing delays related to ouriMatchitecture products resulted in qualificatadrcertain customers taking longer than we
anticipated. Once a new product or technology &ified, if we are unable to timely and efficiengpand our manufacturing capacity and
ramp volume production to meet customer demandoperating results will be negatively impacted.dyeld qualification has caused in the
past, and could continue to cause, lost sales apgtes. This increases our vulnerability to oampetitors and the likelihood that our
customers will seek solutions from other suppl@rs develop solutions themselves. If demand torpyoducts decreases, we could have
excess manufacturing capacity. The fixed costscéestsal with excess manufacturing capacity couldseanur operating results to decline. If
are unable to achieve further manufacturing efficies and cost reductions, particularly if we afeegiencing pricing pressures in the
marketplace, our operating results could suffer.

Consolidation in the semiconductor industry and Wiih the semiconductor test equipment market couldvarsely affect the market for our
products and negatively impact our ability to comt@ewhich could cause a decline in our revenu

Consolidation in the semiconductor industry, pafidy among manufacturers of DRAM devices, sucMason Technology, Inc.'s
2013 acquisition of Elpida Memory, Inc., would redwur customer base and could adversely affechtrket for our products, which could
cause a decline in our revenues. The global ecandawnturn caused significant disruption within geniconductor industry. The
semiconductor industry now has a smaller custorase han in past years. The loss of additionabousts could further concentrate, and
could adversely affect, the market for our produ€snsolidation may lead to lost or delayed sakxdiced demand for our probe cards, l0Ss ¢
market share and increased pricing pressures. idddity, certain customers may not want to relyireht or substantially on a single probe
card supplier and, as a result, such customersi cedlice their purchases of our probe cards.

There has also been a recent move toward congolidatithin the semiconductor test equipment marketuding, for example, the
acquisition of Verigy by Advantest, the pending aisdion of Tokyo Electron by Applied Materials, &the
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acquisition of Novellus Systems by Lam Researclis €bnsolidation trend could change our interactiand relationships with semiconductor
tester and prober companies and negatively impaateavenue and operating results.

We depend upon the sale of our probe cards for sabsally all of our revenues, and the majority @fur probe cards are utilized by
semiconductor manufacturers for testing SoC and DRAlevices. If we experience a downturn in demand éair SoC and DRAM product:
our revenues could decline.

We have historically derived substantially all ofr eevenues from the sale of our probe cards toufaaturers of DRAM, flash memory
devices, and microprocessor, chipset and otherdee€es. Subsequent to the acquisition of MicroPriabOctober 2012, our revenues have
substantially been derived from the sale of oubproards to manufacturers of SoC and DRAM devices.

For fiscal 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , sales to manuifaxt of SoC devices accounted for 53% , 50% apftl,2@spectively, of our revenu
Sales to manufacturers of DRAM devices accounted 166 , 40% and 57%respectively, and sales to manufacturers of Rlidsmory device
accounted for 6% , 10% and 17%, respectively. Wieigate that sales of our probe cards will repnésesubstantial majority of our revenues
for the foreseeable future. Our success depenldsga part upon the continued acceptance of outymts and our ability to continue to deve
and introduce new products that meet our customemygirements on a timely basis resulting in gaimedket share. In particular, to continut
grow our business, we need to gain additional matkare with manufacturers of Flash memory and &@ces. To the extent that we are
unable to realize cost reductions and manufactweffigiencies in the production of our probe camlsif we are not able to timely deliver our
products, our revenues and business operationd beuhdversely impacted and our ability to growidauffer. In the second half of 2013 and
into 2014, we increased our activities on the dgwelent of our Vector NAND Flash Memory probe carthitecture and had engagements
with two customers to deliver products based omthe architecture. We successfully qualified ouctde product at one of the customers. If
we do not successfully develop and deliver producévaluation probe cards for the second custoamer for other additional customers in the
future, or if customers do not qualify the Vectooguct and purchase it for NAND Flash Memory waésst, it could negatively impact our
revenues and margins and harm our business.

As our next generation probe cards are used irtgrealume in commercial production, it is possithlat we will identify certain areas
of technical performance that require improvemant] if we are unable to continually, efficientlydain a timely manner improve our produc
we could suffer reduced demand for our productscamdperating results could be harmed.

If chip manufacturers fail to make architectured@or technology transitions as we anticipatef anficipated or announced transitions
are delayed, it could adversely impact our revemnesoperating results. In addition, we might rgble to sustain or increase our revenues
from sales of our probe cards, particularly if #eeniconductor market enters another downturn. Asgyehse in revenues from sales of our
probe cards could harm our business.

If our relationships with our customers and compags that manufacture semiconductor test equipmentedierate, our product developme
activities could be harmed.

The success of our product development efforts mgpapon our ability to anticipate market trendd tncollaborate closely with our
customers and with companies that manufacture semicctor test equipment. Our relationships wittséheustomers and companies provide
us with access to valuable information regardingacturing and process technology trends in th@s@nductor industry, which enables us
to better plan our product development activitidsese relationships also provide us with opporiesito understand the performance and
functionality requirements of our customers, whitiproves our ability to customize our productsutili their needs. Our relationships with
test equipment companies are important to us bedassequipment companies can design the use @iroloe cards into their equipment and
provide us with the insight into their product @aithis cooperation allows us to offer probe cdodsise with the test equipment companies'
products when they are introduced to the markepassed to several months or more later, which evagbatively impact our revenues.

Our relationships with our customers and test agaift companies could deteriorate if they:

e become concerned about our ability to protect timédllectual propert
» become concerned with our ability to deliver gyatitoducts on a timely bas
» develop their own solutions to address the neetk&ing improvemer

e implement chip designs that include enhanceli-buself-test capabilitie:
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* regard us as a competitor in the case of tagipetpnt company, or in the case of a customer\eeliee are too closely aligned with a
competitor of the customer;

e introduce their own probe card prodi
» establish relationships with others in our indu;

* acquire or invest in a competitive probe cardhuaiacturer or enter into a business venture witbrapetitive probe card manufacturer;
or

e attempt to restrict our ability to enter into réathips with their competitol

Many of our customers and the test equipment corapame work with are large companies. The conserpseaf deterioration in our
relationship with any of these companies couldXxaeerbated due to the significant influence thesepanies can exert in our markets. If our
current relationships with our customers and tgqatgment companies deteriorate, or if we are unttbevelop similar collaborative
relationships with important customers and tesigrgant companies in the future, our long-term &pith produce commercially successful
products could be impaired.

Because we generally do not have a sufficient bagkbf unfilled orders to meet our quarterly reventa&rgets, revenues in any quarter a
substantially dependent upon customer orders reediand fulfilled in that quarter.

Our revenues are difficult to forecast because @reetplly do not have sufficient backlog of unfillediers to meet our quarterly revenue
targets at the beginning of a quarter. Ratherpatantial percentage of our revenues in any qudepend upon customer orders for our probe
cards that we receive and fulfill in that quar®ecause our expense levels are based in part cexpectations as to future revenues and to a
large extent are fixed in the short term, we mighunable to adjust spending in time to comperfsai@ny unexpected shortfall in revenues.
Accordingly, any significant shortfall of revenueselation to our expectations could hurt our gpieg results.

We manufacture substantially all our products at ofacilities in Livermore, San Jose, and Carlsba@alifornia, and any disruption in the
operations of these facilities or our customer's m&acturing facilities could adversely impact ourusiness and operating results.

Certain of our manufacturing processes and ouoousts' processes require sophisticated and exgeegilipment and specially
designed facilities, including semiconductor cleaoms. We manufacture the majority of our probelsat our facilities located in Livermore,
San Jose, and Carlsbad, California. Any disrupitioour manufacturing, whether due to contaminaiiour manufacturing process, technical
or labor difficulties, destruction or damage froine for earthquake, infrastructure failures sucp@ser or water shortage or any other reason,
could interrupt our operations, impair critical ®ras, disrupt communications with our customerssarppliers, and cause us to write off
inventory, thereby potentially resulting in thedasf revenues. In addition, if the previous enengges in California that resulted in disruptions
in power supply and increases in utility costs wereecur, we might experience power interruptiand shortages, which could disrupt our
manufacturing operations. This could subject usds of revenues as well as significantly highesteof energy. Further, current and potential
customers might not purchase our products if therggive our lack of a fully operational alternatermafacturing facility to be a risk to their
continuing source of supply. Similarly, any of thevents, such as contamination, fire, power oemgttortage and labor strike could interrupt
our customer's operations thereby potentially tegpin the loss of revenues to our company.

If we are unable to continue to reduce the timdakes for us to design and produce a probe card; growth could be impedec

Our customers continuously seek to reduce theitita&es them to introduce new products to markee cyclicality of the
semiconductor industry, coupled with changing destsdior semiconductor devices, requires our custsitoebe flexible and highly adaptable
to changes in the volume and mix of products thegtrproduce. Each of those changes requires a esigrdand each new design requires a
new probe card. For some existing semiconductoicdsythe manufacturers' volume and mix of prodegtirements are such that we are
unable to design, manufacture and ship produatsstet manufacturers' relatively short cycle timeaursments. We have lost sales in the past
where we were unable to meet a customer's reqdelxkry schedule for probe cards for a particdiesign. If we are unable to reduce the t
it takes for us to design, manufacture and shippooducts in response to the needs of our custgmersompetitive position could be harmed
and we could lose sales. If we are unable to iserei@sign and manufacturing capacity in the evemiaghd increases, our ability to respond to
customer requirements could be challenged andemanues could be negatively impacted.
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We obtain some of the components and materials we i our products from a sole source or a limitgtbup of suppliers, and the partial «
complete loss of one of these suppliers could causeluction delays and a substantial loss of revesu

We obtain some of the components and materialsinsaalr products, such as printed circuit boareagsies, plating materials and
ceramic substrates, from a sole source or a lingtedp of suppliers. Alternative sources are notenly available for sole source components
and materials. Because we rely on purchase ordtrsrrthan long-term contracts with the majoritypof suppliers, we cannot predict with
certainty our ability to obtain components and malg in the longer term. A sole or limited soustgplier could increase prices, which could
lead to a decline in our gross margin. Our depecel@ipon sole or limited source suppliers exposde ssveral other risks, including inability
to obtain an adequate supply of materials, lateeiébs and poor component quality.

In addition, the ability of any of these suppligvgimely provide us with sufficient quality matels would be adversely affected if they
are forced to reduce or discontinue operationstaldi@ancial difficulties. Disruption or terminaticof the supply of components or materials
could delay shipments of our products, damage ostomer relationships and reduce our revenueseXample, if we were unable to obtain an
adequate supply of a component or material, we tiighe to use a substitute component or matertatiwcould require us to make changes
in our manufacturing process and could also requsr® re-qualify impacted product at certain costrs. From time to time, we have
experienced difficulties in receiving shipmentsnfrone or more of our suppliers, especially duriagqus of high demand for our products. If
we cannot obtain an adequate supply of the compgsen materials we require, or do not receive threantimely manner, we might be
required to identify new suppliers.

We might not be able to identify new suppliers dimeely basis or at all. We, as well as our custaneould also need to qualify any
new suppliers. The lead-time required to identifd gualify new suppliers could affect our abilibyttmely ship our products and cause our
operating results to suffer. Further, a sole oitéohsource supplier could require us to enter mtn-cancelable purchase commitments,
minimum volume purchases or pay in advance to ensur source of supply. In an industry downturimaan environment in which growth is
not at a level we projected or anticipated, comnaitta of this type could result in charges for egéegentory of parts.

Further, if a customer's needs for a particulabgreard design and purchase orders for those jpaolds are spread out over several
months as opposed to being placed at one timesiimgée purchase order, it may cause us to purahasessive materials or components in ligh
of minimum purchase requirements or to be unabteatize volume discounts for materials or compésiéecause of the lack of visibility into
the customer's overall purchase plan. These puedbases would require us to incur a greater dogbods sold than we might otherwise
realize. These issues are also magnified in thiisations in which the supplied material or compurie a custom component for a unique
customer probe card design. Additionally, if we anable to predict our component and materials si@edurately, or if our supply is disrupt
we might miss market opportunities by not beingeablmeet the demand for our products.

Probe cards that do not meet specifications or thahtain defects could damage our reputation, dexse market acceptance of o
technology, cause us to lose customers and revenaed result in liability to us.

The complexity and ongoing development of our prodr@l manufacturing process, combined with increaserobe card production
volumes, have in the past and could in the futeagl to design or manufacturing problems. For exapwpe have experienced the presence of
contaminants in our plating baths, which have cdasdecrease in our manufacturing yields or haselted in unanticipated stress-related
failures when our probe cards are being used imt@eufacturing test environment. This contaminagiovblem caused a yield decline that, in
turn, resulted in our inability to timely ship praats to our customers. Manufacturing design esach as the mis-wiring of a probe card or the
incorrect placement of probe contact elements baused us to repeat manufacturing design stepsldition to these examples, problems
might result from a number of factors, includingid@ defects, materials failure, failure of compaisemanufactured by our suppliers to meet
our specifications, contamination in the manufanenvironment, impurities in the materials usaat] unknown sensitivities to process
conditions such as temperature and humidity, andpetent failures. As a result, our products havéhapast contained and might in the future
contain undetected errors or defects. Any erroxdefects could:

» cause lower than anticipated yields and lengthdimedg schedule:
e cause delays in product shipme

» cause delays in new product introductit

* cause us to incur warranty expen

e resultinincreased costs and diversion of devetgmesource
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* cause us to incur increased charges due to unusablgory
e require design modifications;

» decrease market acceptance or customer satisfadtiothese product

The occurrence of any one or more of these eventlsl @adversely affect our operating results.

In addition, if any of our products fail to meeesfications when installed in the customer's égstironment, or have reliability, quality
or compatibility problems, our reputation coulddsmaged significantly and customers might be rehtdio buy our products, which could
result in a decline in revenues, an increase idymrbreturns or warranty costs and the loss ofiegicustomers or the failure to attract new
customers. For example, in mid-2013, we experieeethin supply chain and manufacturing challeribasimpacted critical deliveries for a
key DRAM customer in Japan. These delays and matufag challenges not only impacted in-quartersterm revenue, but also resulted in
our loss of future orders and required us to imglethprograms to re-establish ourselves as a kgylisupo the customer and resulted in
increased warranty costs. These consequencesvelgatipacted our operating results.

Our customers use our products with test equipmedtsoftware in their manufacturing facilities. Quoducts must be compatible with
the customers' equipment and software to form sgrated system. While we have designed our t@sthilities and standards to replicate the
actual test environment of our customers and coaliy work to improve our capabilities, it is pdsiel that our probe card will perform
differently in the customers' actual test environtself our probe card does not function properithim a customer's specific test environment,
we could be required to provide field applicatiogmeers to locate the problem, which can take aimeresources. If the problem relates to
our probe cards, we might have to invest significapital, manufacturing capacity and other resesito correct it. Our current or potential
customers also might seek to recover from us asge®resulting from defects or failures in our pitsl. Liability claims could require us to
spend significant time and money in litigation @pay significant damages.

If our ability to forecast demand for our products the predictability of our manufacturing yieldsederiorates, we could incur highe
inventory losses than we currently experience.

Each semiconductor chip design requires a custofepcard. Because our products are design-speddficand for our products is
difficult to forecast. Due to our customers' shaelivery time requirements, we often design anapre materials and, at times, produce our
products in anticipation of demand for our produatber than in response to an order. Our manufagtyields, particularly for new DRAM
and Flash Memory probe cards, have at times begredittable and consequently, we have produced owmponents for probe cards, or
actual probe cards, than forecasted demand. Ifoneotiobtain orders as we anticipate, or if we poedadditional inventory to compensate for
unpredictable manufacturing yields, we could hax@ess or obsolete inventory for a specific custodesign that we would not be able to sell
to any other customer, which would likely resulinrentory write-offs or material charges for scrap

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal and disclosure controls, we may not be ableteurately report our financial results c
prevent fraud, which may adversely affect our busgs and reputation. In addition, current and potéadtstockholders could lose confiden:
in our financial reporting, which may adversely inggt the trading price of our securities.

Effective internal and disclosure controls are ssaey for us to provide reliable financial repottsprevent fraud and to operate
successfully as a public company. If we cannot ig@veliable financial reports or prevent fraud; business and reputation may be harmed.
We regularly review and assess our internal canweakr financial reporting and our disclosure colstand procedures. As part of that process
we may discover material weaknesses or signifidafitiencies in our internal controls as definedemstandards adopted by the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board, or PCAOB, tiegjuire remediation. A material weakness is a déafiry, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal controls over financigporting, such that there is a reasonable poggitilat a material misstatement of the compa
annual or interim financial statements will notgrevented or detected on a timely basis. A sigaificeficiency is a deficiency or combinat
of deficiencies, in internal controls over finargigporting that is less severe than a materiakwess, yet important enough to merit attention
by those responsible for the oversight of the camgisafinancial reporting. As a result of weaknegbas may be identified in our internal
controls, we may also identify certain deficiendiesome of our disclosure controls and procedtiraswe believe require remediation. If we
discover weaknesses, we will make efforts to improur internal and disclosure controls. Howeveardhis no assurance that we will be
successful. If we fail to maintain effective congror timely affect any necessary improvement afioternal and disclosure controls, we may
not have accurate information to make managemasidas, our operating results could be harmedemay fail to meet our reporting
obligations, which could affect our ability to remdisted with the NASDAQ Global Market. Ineffecévnternal and disclosure controls could
also
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cause stockholders to lose confidence in our regdihancial information and our ability to maname business, which would likely have a
negative effect on the trading price of our se@sit

We might be subject to claims of infringement oher parties' proprietary rights which could harm a@lbusiness.

In the future, as we have in the past, we mightikecclaims that we are infringing intellectual peoty rights of others or inquiries abc
our interest in a license, or assertions that veslrzelicense, to the intellectual property. Theisenductor industry is characterized by
uncertain and conflicting intellectual propertyioia and vigorous protection and pursuit of theghts. The resolution of any claims of this
nature, with or without merit, could be time consogy result in costly litigation or cause produbimnent delays. In the event of an adverse
ruling or settlement, we might be required to palystantial damages, cease the use or sale ofgirfgrproducts, spend significant resources t
develop non-infringing technology, discontinue tise of certain technology and/or enter into licemg®ements. License agreements, if
required, might not be available on terms accepttbls. The loss of access to any of our inteleqiroperty or the ability to use any of our
technology could harm our business. Finally, cartdiour customer contracts contain provisions taqtire us to defend and /or indemnify
customers for third party intellectual propertyrinffement claims, which would increase the coststof an adverse ruling or settlement.

We may not be able to recruit or retain qualifieésonnel, which could harm our business.

We believe our ability to manage successfully armvgour business and to develop new products depémthrge part, on our ability to
recruit and retain qualified employees, particyi&ighly skilled technical, sales, management, lesydstaff personnel. Competition for
qualified resources is intense and other compan#shave greater resources available to providstaotial inducements to lure key persor
away from us or to offer more competitive compeiasapackages to individuals we are trying to hixdditionally, we have implemented
global cost reduction plans in which we have redumer workforce, which could make it challengingétain key people and recruit new
talent, as needed. While we are implementing progr® attract employees, and we may grant addItsmaity compensation to certain
employees outside of our annual equity grant prodia retention purposes, or implement retentionusoprograms for certain employees,
there can be no assurance that we will be abledoessfully recruit and retain the qualified persgdrwe require.

As part of our sales process, we could incur subbsi@ sales and engineering expenses that do naulein revenues, which would harm ot
operating results.

Our customers generally expend significant effextaluating and qualifying our products prior togiey an order. The time that our
customers require to evaluate and qualify our paads is typically between three and 12 monthssamaetimes longer. While our customers
are evaluating our products, we might incur sulishsales, marketing, and research and developme@nses. For example, we typically
expend significant resources educating our progectistomers regarding the uses and benefitsrgirmbbe cards and developing probe card:
customized to the potential customer's needs, ficlwwe might not be reimbursed. Although we consuibstantial resources to our sales
efforts, we might never receive any revenues frazustiomer. For example, many semiconductor chigdssiever reach production, includ
designs for which we may have expended designteffat expense. In addition, prospective customéghtdecide not to use our probe cards
or use our probe cards for a relatively small petage of their probe card requirements after we leeqpended significant effort and expense
toward probe card design, development, and/or naatufe. The length of time that it takes for thaleation process and for us to make a sals
depends upon many factors including:

» the efforts of our sales force and our distribated independent sales representat
» the complexity of the customer's fabrication prees

» the internal technical capabilities of the custg

» the customer's budgetary constra

« the availability of compatible product offeringsid

» the customer's ability to devote resources to Waduation proces

In addition, product purchases are frequently sulifedelays; as a result, our sales cycles areedigtable. If we incur substantial sales
and engineering expenses without generating reweioue operating results could be harmed.
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Our failure to comply with environmental laws anaggulations could subject us to significant fines @fiabilities, and new laws and
regulations or changes in regulatory interpretatiaor enforcement could make compliance more diffitaind costly.

We are subject to various U.S. Federal, state @eal,|land foreign governmental laws and regulatrefeting to the protection of the
environment, including those governing the dischafjpollutants into the air and water, the manag@nand disposal of hazardous substance
and wastes, the cleanup of contaminated sitestenohaintenance of a safe workplace. We could iaghstantial costs, including cleanup
costs, civil or criminal fines or sanctions anddhparty claims for property damage or personalrinjas a result of violations of or liabilities
under environmental laws and regulations or nongd@nce with the environmental permits requireduat facilities.

These laws, regulations and permits also couldiredie installation of costly pollution control@gment or operational changes to
limit pollution emissions or decrease the likelidaaf accidental releases of hazardous substancasddition, changing laws and regulations,
new laws and regulations, stricter enforcemeniddtieg laws and regulations, the discovery of pyasly unknown contamination at our or
others' sites or the imposition of new cleanup irements could require us to curtail our operatioastrict our future expansion, subject us to
liability and cause us to incur future costs thaild harm our operations, thereby adversely impgabur operating results and cash flow.

Because we conduct most of our business internadilyy we are subject to operational, economic, fir@al and political risks abroad

Sales of our products to customers outside Nortlerea have accounted for a significant part ofrewenues. Our international sales a:
a percentage of our revenues were 72% , 73% and@5fscal 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectivelyditidnally, certain of our South Korean
customers purchase through their North Americamsisiigries. In the future, we expect internatioradés, particularly in Japan, South Korea
and Taiwan, to continue to account for a signiftqaercentage of our revenues. Accordingly, we bellsubject to risks and challenges that we
would not otherwise face if we conducted our bussreolely in North America.

These risks and challenges include:
« compliance with a wide variety of foreign laws aedulations
» legal uncertainties regarding taxes, tariffs, gapéxport controls, export licenses and other ttwdeers
» political and economic instability or foreign canfb that involve or affect the countries of oustmmers
» difficulties in collecting accounts receivable dodger accounts receivable payment cy
» difficulties in staffing and managing personnetdbutors and representativ
» reduced protection for intellectual property rigimtsome countrie

« currency exchange rate fluctuations, which coutdcifthe value of our assets denominated in logakocy, as well as the price of «
products relative to locally produced products;

» seasonal fluctuations in purchasing patterns ieratbuntries; ar

» fluctuations in freight rates and transportatiosrgjptions

Any of these factors could harm our existing ingtional operations, impair our ability to continegoanding into international markets
or materially adversely affect our operating resultdditionally, we are required to comply withéayn import and export requirements,
customs and value added tax standards. Our fadureeet these requirements and standards couldivedgampact our business operations.
As an example in the third quarter of 2011, we irexkinquiries from a foreign jurisdiction tax aatity regarding certain indirect tax matters.
We cooperated with these inquiries, which relatedur prior shipping process for new product qiggiions and for products for certain of
repair center activities, and resolved the matées.regularly address our tax compliance and makm@sions to the appropriate jurisdictior
appropriate. In the future, if our tax practices questioned by authorities or found to be irregutas possible that we could incur material
expenses or charges, which would negatively impactinancial condition.

The trading price of our common stock has been aadikely to continue to be volatile, and you mighot be able to sell your shares at or
above the price that you paid for them.

The trading prices of the securities of technologsnpanies have been highly volatile, and from Dduam28, 2014 through March 5,
2015, our stock price (NASDAQ Global Market clgséee) has ranged from $7.55 a share to $10.2@u@sh
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The trading price of our common stock is likelyctantinue to be subject to wide fluctuations. Fextdfecting the trading price of our common
stock could include:

variations in our operating resu
our forecasts and financial guidance for futurequks;

announcements of technological innovations, pesducts or product enhancements, new product eafspat semiconductor
customers or significant agreements by us or bycompetitors;

reports regarding our ability to bring new produote volume production efficientl
the gain or loss of significant orders or custon

changes in the estimates of our operating resulthanges in recommendations by any securitiglysts that elect to follow our
common stock;

rulings on litigations and proceedin

seasonality, principally due to our customers' pasing cycle:

market and competitive conditions in our industhg entire semiconductor industry and the econosrg &hole
recruitment or departure of key personnel;

announcements of mergers and acquisition tréiosacand the ability to successfully integrate blisiness activities of the
acquired/merged company.

In addition, if the market for technology stocksloe stock market in general experiences losswasitor confidence, the trading price of

our common stock could decline for reasons unrélet@ur business, operating results or finana@aldition. The trading price of our common
stock also might decline in reaction to events #ifect other companies in our industry even ikthevents do not directly affect us.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation antylaws or Delaware law might discourage, delay oeyent a change of control of oL
company or changes in our management and, therefatepress the trading price of our common stock.

Delaware corporate law and our certificate of ipowation and bylaws contain provisions that couttaurage, delay or prevent a

change in control of our company or changes innbamagement that the stockholders of our companydeayn advantageous. These
provisions:

establish a classified board of directors so tloatl members of our board are elected at one;
provide that directors may only be removed "forgeduand only with the approval of 66.7% of our haulders
require supemajority voting to amend some provisions in outtifieate of incorporation and bylav

authorize the issuance of "blank check" prefistack that our board could issue to increasatimeber of outstanding shares and to
discourage a takeover attempt;

limit the ability of our stockholders to call spacimeetings of stockholde
prohibit stockholder action by written consent, erhrequires all stockholder actions to be takesnraketing of our stockholde
provide that the board of directors is expresshhatized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws;

establish advance notice requirements for notioing for election to our board or for proposingttaes that can be acted upon by
stockholders at stockholder meetings.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware GenerapOmtion Law may discourage, delay or preventangke in control of our company.

In addition, each of our named executive officard eertain other officers of the company have ewsténto change of control severance
agreements, which were approved by our Compens@tiommittee, which could increase the costs assstiaith a change of control and th
potentially deter such a transaction.
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New regulations related to conflict minerals mayrée us to incur additional expenses, may make oupgly chain more complex and me
result in damage to our relationships with custonser

In August 2012, as mandated by the Dodd-Frank Bta#let Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2€1® SEC adopted new
disclosure regulations for public companies thahuf@cture products that contain certain mineratstarir derivatives, namely tin, tantalum,
tungsten or gold, collectively known as conflictmials, if these minerals are necessary to thdimadity or production of the company’s
products. These regulations require such issuaeptart annually whether or not such minerals oggg from the Democratic Republic of
Congo and adjoining countries and in some caspsrform extensive due diligence on their supplyichéor such minerals. The
implementation of these new requirements could g affect the sourcing, availability and priciofgconflict minerals used in the
manufacture of semiconductor equipment, includingproducts. In addition, we may incur additionasts to comply with the disclosure
requirements, including costs related to deterngitie source of any of the relevant minerals usaslir products. Since our supply chain is
complex, the due diligence procedures that we implg may not enable us to ascertain the originghiese minerals or determine that these
minerals are DRC conflict-free. We may also fad@dilties in satisfying customers who may requinat our products be certified as DRC
conflict-free, which could harm our relationships with thegstomers and lead to a loss of revenue. Theseetvirements also could have
effect of limiting the pool of suppliers from whiete source these minerals, and we may be unalbletéin conflict-free minerals at
competitive prices, which could increase our casid adversely affect our manufacturing operatiovtsaur profitability.

In October 2012, the National Association of Mamtifaers and the U.S. Chamber of Commerce filedtiigre for review in the U.¢
Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia irsponse to a piece of Doditank regulation that requires public companiegdisolose whethi
their products have been manufactured with thealicominerals in countries where the sale of thasnerals fuel humanitarian violence.
outcome of this suit is uncertain and may impaet #doption of these new requirements. In Januafyd,2the SEG conflicts minera
disclosure rules became effective, requiring cormgsato make their first conflict minerals disclossion or before May 31, 2014 for the 2
calendar year. We filed our first conflict minedhéclosures with the SEC on June 2, 2014, for i3z alendar year, in compliance with
SEC guidelines.

ltem 1B: Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2:  Properties

Our corporate headquarters, which includes salaggating, administration, manufacturing, enginegrend research and development
facilities, is located in Livermore, California, ied States. Our corporate headquarters comprisampus of four buildings totaling
approximately 169,000 square feet. We presenthel¢laose four buildings. In addition, we leaseceffirepair and service, manufacturing
and/or research and development space both ins@lewside of the United States. The leases egpivarious times through 2021. We beli
that our existing and planned facilities are suédbr our current needs.

Information concerning our properties as of Decan®ye 2014 is set forth below:

Square

Location Principal Use Footage = Ownership
Livermore, Corporate headquarters, sales, marketing, fingomoduct 168,63t Leased
California, United  design, manufacturing, service and repair, distitiow
States research and development
San Jose, California,Sales, marketing, finance, product design, manufa, 23,86( Leased
United States service and repair, distribution, research and ldgveent
Carlsbad, California, Product design, finance, manufacturing, servicerapdir, 26,26(  Leased
United States distribution, research and development
Austin, Texas, Unite Service and repair 2,02t Leased
States
Southbury,
Connecticut, United
States Sales office 100C Leased
Singapore Sales, finance, product design, seraiugfield service. 26,80t Leased
Suzhou, China Sales, marketing, finance, manufacturing, prodesigh, 9,70C  Leased

service and repair, distribution, research and logveent
Shanghai, China Sales office 41¢  Leased
Jubei City, Hsinchu, Sales office, finance, product design, field senand repail 9,30¢ Leased
Taiwan center
Yokohama City, Sales office, finance, marketing, product desigeearch 8,771 Leased
Japan and development, field service, and repair center,

manufacturing and distribution.
Hiroshima, Japan  Repair center 1,61t Leased
Bundang, South Sales office, finance, product design, field sexyand repai  15,31( Leased
Korea center
Dresden, Germany Sales office 2,90¢ Leased
Milan, Italy Sales office 215t Leased

Item 3: Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be subject to legal peoliegs and claims in the ordinary course of businas of December 27, 2054d a:
of the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-Kewvere not involved in any material legal procegdinther than the proceeding summarize
below. In the future we may become a party to &ttt legal proceedings that may require us to dggnificant resources, including
proceedings designed to protect our intellectuaperty rights. Litigation can be expensive andupisive to normal business operations.
Moreover, the results of legal proceedings araadiff to predict, and the costs incurred in litigatcan be substantial, regardless of outcome.

Intellectual Property Litigation

In the ordinary course of business, the Companybkas, currently is, and may in the future be, iwed in commercial litigation
relating to intellectual property, as well as thiaty initiated patent office proceedings in thated States and foreign patent offices.
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No provision has been made for intellectual prophtigation because we believe that it is not @ble that a liability had been incurred
as of December 27, 2014 . We could incur matetial@eys' fees in prosecuting and defending actielzded to intellectual property.

Other Litigation

In August 2013, a former employee (“Plaintiff’)dd a class action lawsuit against the Companyersiiperior Court of California,
alleging violations of California’s wage and hoawts and unfair business practices on behalf of élfnrasd all other similarly situated current
and former employees at the Company'’s Livermorditi@as from August 21, 2009 to the present. In ety 2014, the Court granted the
Company’s motion to strike portions of Plaintiffisst amended complaint, clarifying the scope @& gutative class. A second amended
complaint has also been filed. Procedurally, theeda in the early stages of litigation and nortdi class has been certified. The parties
participated in a mediation during the third quaagfiscal 2014, which did not result in a settlemh The Company currently believes that any
settlement reached would be in an amount thattisnaterial to the Company's financial statemenitee Tompany denies the allegations
contained in the lawsuit and, based on availabtarimation, believes it has significant defensethtallegations of the lawsuit. If the matter is
not settled, the Company could incur material atgs’ fees in defending the lawsuit.

Item 4: Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il
ltem 5: Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Sktwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities
Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Global kdrunder the symbol "FORM". The following tablésstorth the range of high
and low closing sales prices per share as reportaétle Nasdaq Global Market for the periods indidat

Fiscal 2014 High Low

First Quarter $ 7.1¢ % 6.01
Second Quarter 8.0¢ 5.41
Third Quarter 8.41 6.61
Fourth Quarter $ 89 § 6.1¢
Fiscal 2013 High Low

First Quarter $ 5.1t % 4.5¢€
Second Quarter 6.9¢ 4.3¢
Third Quarter 7.6€ 6.0C
Fourth Quarter $ 6.8¢ $ 5.0C

The closing sales price of our common stock orNASDAQ Global Market was $9.20 per share on MarcB®5 . As of March 5,
2015, there were 211 registered holders of recbodir common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooa@umon stock. We currently expect to retain edlimble funds and any future
earnings for use in the operation and developmientiobusiness. Accordingly, we do not anticipageldring or paying cash dividends on our
common stock in the foreseeable future.

Stock Price Performance Graph

The following graph shows the total stockholdeunetof an investment of $100 in cash on DecembeRB@9 through December 27,
2014 , for (1) our common stock, (2) the S&P 508etnand (3) the RDG Semiconductor Composite Indéxialues assume reinvestment of
the full amount of all dividends. No cash divideiinds/e been declared on shares of our common skta&kholder returns over the indicated
period are based on historical data and are netssacily indicative of future stockholder returns.

27




COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

Among FormFactor, Inc., the S&P 500 Index, and the RDG Semiconductor Composite Index
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FormFactor, Inc

12/11

S&P 300

RDG Semiconductor Composite

*$100 invested on 12/31/09 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.

Fiscal year ended December 31.

Cumulative Total Return

12/ 14

December 31, December 31,

December 31, December 31,

December 31,

December 31,

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
FormFactor, Inc. $ 100.0C $ 40.7¢ $ 23.2¢ $ 20.98 $ 2761 $ 39.5(
S&P 500 100.0( 115.0¢ 117.4¢ 136.3( 180.4« 205.1«
RDG Semiconductor
Composite 100.0( 114.3. 110.3° 111.8( 148.1¢ 187.9¢

28




Iltem 6: Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial datderived from our consolidated financial statetaemhis data should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statemseand the related notes, and "ltem 7: ManagemPBrgtussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations" containedvetteze in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

1)

(2)

(3)
(4)

()

(6)

(7)

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
Fiscal Fiscal 2012 (1)(2) 2011 (1)(2) 2010 (1)(2)
2014 (1)(2) 2013 (1)(2)(4. (5)(7) (5)(6) (3)(4)(6)

(in thousands, except per share data)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Revenues $ 268,53( $ 231,537 $178,53! $169,32! $188,56!
Gross profit (loss) 77,43¢ 42,28¢ 25,33: 20,95¢ (2,272)
Net loss (19,187 (57,689 (35,54f) (65,98 (188,28()
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (03H) $ (106 $ (070 $ (1.3) $ (3.75

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secui$ 163,83° $ 151,09: $165,78¢ $296,69. $347,23!

Working capital 196,41: 173,88. 194,12!  308,38! 370,76
Total assets 344,24: 340,70¢  395,68:  383,07: 466,05
Capital leases, net of current portion — — 34C — —
Total stockholders' equity 289,43t 294,08t  339,25¢  346,65. 411,20:
Number of employees 907 961 1,021 70¢ 72¢

Fiscal 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010 neeinclude restructuring charges, net of $2.7anill $4.7 million, $2.9
million, $0.5 million and $15.9 million, respectiyerelating to our global restructuring and rearigation actions. See
Note +— Restructuring Charges of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statémen

Fiscal 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010 nse®iclude impairment charges of $1.2 million.8%@illion, $0.4 million,
$0.5 million and $56.4 million, respectively. Seetdl 6—Impairment of Long-lived Assets of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Fiscal 2010 gross loss includes an out-ofgekadjustment related to cost of revenues thattessin $2.9 million of
additional expense offset by an income tax beéff0.5 million.

Fiscal 2013 net loss includes $0.3 milliomiktitable to loss on sale of a subsidiary. Fis€dl®net loss includes a $3.5
million gain resulting from the release of the lldjp previously recorded as a secured borrowing ttuthe dismissal of our
complaint against a customer.

Fiscal 2012 includes a $25.5 million tax bérfedm the release of deferred tax asset valuatltowances due to deferred tax
liabilities established on the acquired identif@bitangible assets from our acquisition of Miciahy. Additionally, fiscal
2011 includes a $2.5 million tax benefit from teéense of the deferred tax asset valuation allogvémca non-U.S.
jurisdiction.

Fiscal 2011 and 2010 include a $0.3 milliod &i.1 million net benefit, respectively, from @altions on amounts previously
reserved as bad debts.

Fiscal 2012 includes the following as a restilhe MicroProbe Acquisition: $19.8 million inwenue, $5.4 million in the
amortization of intangibles expense, $2.6 milliefease of pre-existing backlog, $0.2 million chaiaestep-up depreciation
on the fair value of fixed assets, resulting ir6addmillion net loss. As part of the MicroProbe Aiggition, a patent lawsuit
was settled with a benefit of $3.3 million.
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Item 7: Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical
consolidated financial information, the following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties
and assumptions as described under the "Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements' that appears earlier in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated by these forward-looking statements as a result of many factors, including
those discussed under "Item 1A: Risk Factors" and elsewherein this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We design, develop, manufacture, sell and suppivdreced semiconductor probe card products, anthadargest supplier worldwide
of those products. Semiconductor manufacturerouserobe cards to perform wafer test (also knosmafer sort), which is the testing of the
semiconductor die, or chips, while those die atkecsinstituted on the semiconductor wafer. Wasttenables semiconductor manufacturers |
determine whether chips will meet specificationd ba saleable once the wafer is diced, and thardisingulated and individually packaged.
Given the relatively high per-die costs of singiaiatand packaging processes, and the fact thatsenhiictor process yields are typically less
than 100%, meaning that some of the die on a veafeexpected to be defective, there is often a eimg economic reason to perform wafer
test. Probe cards are a critical element in enghhiat wafer test process.

Historically, sales for probe cards for testing Bgric Random Access Memory, or DRAM, devices havdeang the majority of our
revenues. In October 2012, we completed the a¢muisif Astria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc., incing its subsidiary Micro-Probe
Incorporated (together "MicroProbe"). The majonfyMicroProbe's revenue is made up of sales of@aards for testing System-on-Chip, or
SoC, devices.

During fiscal 2014 , revenues increased by $3710amito $268.5 million from $231.5 million in 2013~urthermore, our net loss
decreased by $38.5 million to $(19.2) million fr&{b7.7) million in 2013 . The net loss for fisc@l12 included restructuring charges of $2.7
million and impairment charges of $1.2 million whthe net loss for fiscal 2013 included restruaigharges of $4.7 million, impairment
charges of $0.8 million, loss on the sale of a ity of $0.3 million and $1.3 million in acquikih and integration costs. Our gross profit
margins and operating profit margins also improwefiscal 2014 as a result of our increasing rewsnand ongoing initiatives to reduce
manufacturing overhead costs, lower production rrateosts and reduce operating expenses. Overmléxperienced an improvement in our
financial and operational performance during fit@l4, as compared to fiscal 2013 as our busir@mginced to gain momentum through
strong broad-based demand from our customers artthaed improvements in our execution.

During the second half of fiscal 2014, we begaregating revenues from our new Vector NAND Flash Meyrprobe card. We expect
our Vector product to open a large portion of thENID Flash Memory probe card market that we previphave not served and which could
represent additional incremental revenues in fuyeses.

In October 2014, our Board of Directors unanimousgproved a Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ") sucéasplan with Michael Slessc
our former President of the Company succeeding Eso8t. Dennis as CEO effective from December 284 2@hich was the beginning of ¢
fiscal 2015. Mr. St. Dennis continues to serve xachtive Chairman of the Board of Directors.

Our cash, cash equivalents and marketable secugitié restricted cash totaled $164.3 million aBedember 27, 2014 , as compared to
$151.5 million at December 28, 2013 . The incréas®ir cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesuwas primarily due to improved
operating results and reduced capital expenditmetsyf investments in working capital to grow newes. We (used) generated cash of $(7.1)
million, $5.0 million, $5.3 million and $9.5 millivin the first, second, third and fourth quarterfiszal 2014, respectively, as compared to
(using) generating $(12.1) million, $1.0 milliorl..8 million and $(5.2) million in the first, secontird and fourth quarters of fiscal 2013,
respectively. We believe that we will be able tisfg our working capital requirements for at letist next twelve months with the liquidity
provided by our existing cash, cash equivalentsraarketable securities. If we are unsuccessfulamtaining or growing our revenues, or
maintaining or reducing our cost structure in afustry downturn, or increasing our available césbugh financing, our cash, cash equival
and/or marketable securities could decline in fifiscal years.

We believe the following information is importaotunderstanding our business, our financial statésres well as the remainder of this
discussion and analysis of our financial conditimad results of operations:
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Fiscal Year. w e operate on a 52/53 week fiscal year, wherebjighal year ends on the last Saturday of Deceniiier fiscal years
ended December 27, 2014 , December 28, 2013 anehfiter 29, 2012 included 52 weeks each.

Revenues. We derive substantially all of our revenues fromdurct sales of probe cards. Revenues from our mgstare subject to
fluctuations due to factors including, but not lied to, design cycles, technology adoption ratesypetitive pressure to reduce prices,
cyclicality of the different end markets into whiohr customers' products are sold and market donditn the semiconductor industry.
Historically, increases in revenues have resultenhfincreased demand for our existing productsijrttreduction of new, more complex
products, the penetration of new markets and thr@aoguisition. We expect that revenues from the shprobe cards will continue to account
for substantially all of our revenues for the faeable future.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues consists primarily of manufacnmaterials, payroll, shipping and handling costanufacturing-
related overhead and amortization of certain intdagssets. Our manufacturing operations rely upbmited number of suppliers to provide
key components and materials for our products, soiméich are a sole source. We order materialssapglies based on backlog and
forecasted customer orders. Tooling and setup celstied to changing manufacturing lots at our §appare also included in the cost of
revenues. We expense all warranty costs and ingeptovisions as cost of revenues.

We design, manufacture and sell custom advancdzbprards into the semiconductor test market, wisigubject to significant
variability and demand fluctuations. Our probe saaite complex products that are custom to a spetifp design of a customer and must be
delivered on relatively short lediines as compared to our overall manufacturinggsscAs our advanced probe cards are manufactufed
volumes, it is not uncommon for us to acquire padidun materials and start certain production atiésibased on estimated production yields
and forecasted demand prior to or in excess obadiemand for our probe cards. We record an adprstho our inventory valuation for
estimated excess, obsolete and non-sellable intrlestoased on assumptions about future demandupage, changes to manufacturing
processes and overall market conditions.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses include expetstes to product development, engineering and
material costs. Research and development cosexpansed as incurred. We plan to continue to innesisearch and development activitie
improve and enhance existing product technologiesta develop new technologies for current and pevducts and for new applications.

Slling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative expenses irckipenses related to sales, marketing,
administrative personnel, internal and outsidessadpresentatives' commissions, market researcharsiilting, and other sales, marketing,
administrative activities, amortization of certaitangible assets, and provision for doubtful actsuThese expenses also include costs for
protecting and enforcing our intellectual propeights and regulatory compliance costs.

Restructuring Charges. Restructuring charges include costs related to eyegl termination benefits, cost of lolged assets abandor
or impaired, as well as contract termination costs.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. Asset impairment charges include charges assoaidtedhe writedown of assets that have no fut
expected benefit or for assets that have beenrdeted to be impaired as well as adjustments t@#ng/ing amount of our assets held for sale.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of consolidated financial stateméntonformity with generally accepted accountanigciples in th
United States of America (“GAAP”) requires manageirte make estimates and assumptions that affeaethorted amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assetd kabilities at the date of the financial statetseand the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual reszéuld differ from those estimates. Estimates of@nge as new information is obtained.
believe that the estimates, assumptions and judignim@rolved in revenue recognition, fair value odinketable securities, allowance for
doubtful accounts, reserves for product warrardyyation of obsolete and slow moving inventory gésacquired and liabilities assumed in
business combinations, legal contingencies, valoaif goodwill, the assessment of recoverabilitjoofy-lived assets, valuation and
recognition of stock-based compensation, provifimincome taxes and valuation of deferred taxtasgetual results could differ from those
estimates.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caaditind results of operations are based upon mgatiolated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with gdperadepted accounting principles (GAAP). The
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preparation of these financial statements requer®unake estimates and assumptions that affeceffoeted amounts of assets and liabilitie
the date of the financial statements and the redamounts of net revenue and expenses in thetirgpperiod. Our accounting policies are
fundamental to understanding our financial conditimd results of operations reported in our finalsiatements and related disclosures. We
have identified the following accounting policieslaeing critical because they require our managetoanake particularly difficult, subjective
and/or complex judgments about the effect of maittieat are inherently uncertain. We evaluate otimages and assumptions on an ongoing
basis and we base these estimates and assumpticnsrent facts, historical experiences and varaher factors and assumptions that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstaAotsal results may differ materially and adversietym our estimates. Our management has
discussed the development, selection, applicatiohdésclosure of these critical accounting policiégth the Audit Committee of our Board of
Directors.

Revenue Recognition: We recognize revenue when persuasive evidenar afrangement exists, title and risk of loss hassferred to
the customer, the selling price is fixed or deteabie and collection of the related receivable@sonably assured. In instances where final
acceptance of the deliverable is specified by thstamer, revenue is deferred until all acceptaniteria have been met. Revenues from the
licensing of our design and manufacturing techngleghich have not been material to date, are reieedrover the term of the license
agreement or when the significant contractual atiims have been fulfilled.

Goodwill: Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of identifiable assets aceimnd liabilities assumed.
We have determined that we operate in one repertsdgment consisting of two operating segmentsiniglto our FormFactor and MicroPro
product groups. We further have determined thatHerpurposes of our goodwill impairment analyais,have two reporting units relating to
our FormFactor and MicroProbe product groups anidlwére both associated with the design, developmesnufacture, sale and support of
precision, high performance advanced semicondyctive card products and solutions.

The FASB, in order to simplify testing goodwill fanpairment, allows an entity to first assess datlie factors to determine whether it
is necessary to perform a two-step quantitativedgdlbimpairment test. If an entity determines aault of the qualitative assessment that it i
more likely than not that the fair value of a repay unit is less than its carrying amount, them gluantitative impairment test is required.
Otherwise, no further testing is required.

The performance of the quantitative impairment iregblves a two-step process. The first step ofitingairment test involves comparing
the fair values of the applicable reporting unitfhwtheir aggregate carrying values, including geitldWe generally determine the fair values
of our reporting units using a combination of thedme approach (that includes the use of the digedwash flow method) and the market
approach (guideline company approach) valuatiorhatetlogies. If the carrying amount of a reportimit @xceeds the fair value of that
reporting unit, we perform the second step of thengitative impairment test to determine the amadimtnpairment loss. The second step of
the goodwill impairment test involves comparing implied fair value of the affected reporting unifoodwill with the carrying value of that
goodwill. We acquired MicroProbe and performediaalue assessment as of the acquisition datb@ctl6, 2012, resulting in our current
goodwill balance.

We performed our annual goodwill impairment testtfoth reporting units in the fourth quarter ot&$2014. No impairment charges
associated with our goodwill were recorded durisgdl 2014. The evaluation of goodwill for impainmeequires the exercise of significant
judgment. In the event of future changes in busimesditions, we will be required to reassess guuthte our forecasts and estimates ust
future impairment analyses. If the results of thesalyses are lower than current estimates, a iakitapairment charge may result at that ti
Refer to note 8 to Notes to Consolidated Finarfgiatements Goodwill and Intangible Assets for further details.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets:We test long-lived assets or asset groups suphoperty, plant and equipment and intangibles for
recoverability when events or changes in circuntstanndicate that their carrying amounts may naeleverable. Circumstances that could
trigger a review include, but are not limited tmgyrsficant decreases in the market price of thetssgnificant adverse changes in the busines:
climate or legal factors; accumulation of costsidigantly in excess of the amount originally exfeetfor the acquisition or construction of the
asset; current period cash flow or operating lossesbined with a history of losses or a forecastasftinuing losses associated with the use o
the asset; and current expectation that the asbenhore likely than not be sold or disposed ofrsfigantly before the end of its estimated us
life.

Recoverability is assessed based on the carryirmyats of the asset or asset group and the sune afrttiscounted cash flows expected
to result from the use and the eventual dispostii@fsset. An impairment loss is recognized whercarrying amount is not recoverable and
exceeds fair value.

Significant judgments and assumptions are requirélde forecast of future operating results usetthépreparation of the estimated
future cash flows, including profit margins, lorgy+n forecasts of the amounts and timing of ovenaltket
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growth and our percentage of that market, groupirigssets, discount rates and terminal growtlsréeaddition, significant estimates and
assumptions are required in the determination efair value of our intangible assets and tandime-ived assets, including replacement c
economic obsolescence, and the value that couldddized in an orderly liquidation. Changes in thestimates could have a material adverse
effect on the assessment of our long-lived astegeby requiring us to write down the assets.

Business AcquisitionsOur consolidated financial statements include ierations of an acquired business after the coioplef the
MicroProbe Acquisition in October 2012. We accolantacquired businesses using the acquisition nietfi@ccounting. The acquisition
method of accounting for acquired businesses regu@mong other things, that assets acquired alpitltles assumed be recognized at their
estimated fair values as of the acquisition datd,that the fair value of acquired intangible as#atluding in-process research and
development, or IPR&D, be recorded on the balaheets Also, transaction costs are expensed as@ttukny excess of the purchase price
over the assigned fair values of the net assetsirachjis recorded as goodwill.

Restructuring Charges: Restructuring charges include costs related tol@yee termination benefits, long-lived assets imgohor
abandoned, and contract termination costs. Therdetation of when we accrue for employee termimatienefits depends on whether the
termination benefits are provided under a one-ti@eefit arrangement or under an on-going beneafingement. For restructuring charges
recorded as an on-going benefit arrangement, dityator post-employment benefits is recorded wheryment is probable, the amount is
reasonably estimable, and the obligation relategyhds that have vested or accumulated. For retstring charges recorded as a one-time
benefit arrangement, we recognize a liability fonpboyee termination benefits when a plan of terrigma approved by management and
establishing the terms of the benefit arrangenters,been communicated to employees. The timingeofecognition of one-time employee
termination benefits is dependent upon the perfdive the employees are required to render seafiee communication. If employees are
required to render service in order to receivet¢hmination benefits or if employees will not béaieed to render service beyond the minimun
legal notification period, a liability for the teimation benefits is recognized at the communicatiate. In instances where employees will be
retained to render service beyond the minimum lagéfication period, the liability for employeerteination benefits is measured initially at
the communication date based on the fair valudefiability as of the termination date and is iguiaed ratably over the future service period
We continually evaluate the adequacy of the remgitiabilities under our restructuring initiatives.

We record charges related to long-lived assete ahfandoned when the assets cease to be usedvi&hease using a building or other
asset with remaining non-cancelable lease payneentinuing beyond our use period, we record alltgtfor remaining payments under lease
arrangements, as well as for contract terminatasis; that will continue to be incurred under ateot for its remaining term without
economic benefit to us at the cease-use date. @ieesignificance of, and the timing of the exemutdf such activities, this process is comple
and involves periodic reassessments of estimates aisthe time the original decisions were madguding evaluating real estate market
conditions for expected vacancy periods and sukeleants. Although we believe that these estinstesrately reflect the costs of our
restructuring plans, actual results may differréhg requiring us to record additional provisiomgeverse a portion of such provisions.

Inventory Valuation: We state our inventories at the lower of cosingppally standard cost which approximates actaat on a first ir
first out basis) or market value. We continuallgess the value of our inventory and will periodicalrite down its value for estimated excess
inventory and product obsolescence based upon asisuns about forecasted future sales, past usadenarket conditions. On a quarterly
basis, we review inventory quantities on hand amdraer under non-cancelable purchase commitmermsmparison to our past usage and
estimated forecast of product demand for the nexbswelve months to determine what inventory mfitées, if any, may not be sellable. Ba
on this analysis, we write down the affected ineeynt/alue for estimated excess and obsolescenegahaAt the point of loss recognition, a
new, lower cost basis for that inventory is estditg, and subsequent changes in facts and ciraurestdo not result in the restoration or
increase in that newly established cost basis. btarinditions are subject to change, and demanolfioproducts can fluctuate significantly.
Actual consumption of inventories could differ frdorecasted demand and this difference could hawatarial impact on our gross profit and
inventory balances based on additional provisiongkcess or obsolete inventories or a benefit fiteensale of inventories previously written
down.

Income Taxes: We utilize the asset and liability method of aauting for income taxes, under which deferred tatesdetermined
based on the temporary differences between thadiabstatement and tax basis of assets and tiakilising tax rates expected to be in effect
during the years in which the basis differencege and for operating losses and tax credit aammgrds. We estimate our provision for
income taxes and amounts ultimately payable orveradle in numerous tax jurisdictions around theldvdEstimates involve interpretations
regulations and are inherently complex. Resolutibimcome tax treatments in individual jurisdictiomay not be known for many years after
completion of any fiscal year. We are requiredvaleate the realizability of our deferred tax assst an ongoing basis to determine whether
there is a need for a valuation allowance with eesfo such deferred tax assets. A valuation almeas recorded when it is more likely than
not
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that some or all of the deferred tax assets willbgorealized. Significant management judgmengdgiired in determining any valuation
allowance recorded against deferred tax asseevdiuating the ability to recover deferred tax tssge consider available positive and
negative evidence giving greater weight to our mecemulative losses and our ability to carrybamdsks against prior taxable income and,
commensurate with objective verifiability, the foast of future taxable income including the revieos$éemporary differences and the
implementation of feasible and prudent tax planmstigtegies.

We recognize and measure uncertain tax positidentar expected to be taken in a tax return & inre likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained on examination by thertg authorities, based on the technical merithefposition. The tax benefits recognized in
the consolidated financial statements from suclitipas are then measured based on the largestibdrathas a greater than 50 percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlem&Ve report a liability for unrecognized tax bBtseresulting from uncertain tax positions
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Wjlesathese reserves in light of changing facts@raimstances, such as the closing of a tax
audit or the refinement of an estimate. To themxeat the final tax outcome of these mattersffernt than the amounts recorded, such
differences will impact the provision for incomeés in the period in which such determination islmya he provision for income taxes
includes the impact of reserve provisions and chang reserves that are considered appropriateclaas the related net interest. We
recognize interest and penalties related to unmzed tax benefits within the income tax provisiéecrued interest and penalties are include
within the related tax liability caption line ingltonsolidated balance sheet.

We file annual income tax returns in multiple taxjnrisdictions around the world. A number of yearay elapse before an uncertain
position is audited and finally resolved. Whilésitoften difficult to predict the final outcome thre timing of resolution of any particular
uncertain tax position, we believe that our reseffee income taxes reflect the most likely outcoive adjust these reserves, as well as the
related interest, in light of changing facts amduwinstances. Settlement of any particular positimund require the use of cash.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our operating resual$ a percentage of revenues:

Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012
Revenues 100.(% 100.C % 100.C %
Cost of revenues 71.2 81.7 85.¢
Gross profit 28.¢ 18.2 14.2
Operating expenses:
Research and development 15.€ 18.2 22.F
Selling, general and administrative 19.C 23.C 27.€
Restructuring charges, net aL{© 2.0 1.€
Loss on sale of subsidiary — 0.1 —
Impairment of long-lived assets 0.5 0.3 0.2
Gain on settlement of litigation — — (1.8
Total operating expenses 36.4 43.€ 50.1
Operating loss (7.€) (25.9) (35.9
Interest income, net 0.1 0.2 0.4
Other income, net 0.1 0.3 0.8
Loss before income taxes (7.4 (24.9) (34.9)
Benefit from income taxes (0.3 — (14.¢)
Net loss (7.2)% (24.9% (19.9%
Fiscal Years Ended December 27, 2014 and DecemBefR13
Revenue:
Fiscal % of Fiscal % of Change
2014 Revenues 2013 Revenues $ %
(In thousands)
Revenues by Market:
SoC $ 142,36( 53.% $ 115,59° 49.% $ 26,76 23.2%
DRAM 110,80( 41.5 92,60: 40.C 18,19° 19.7
Flash 15,37( 5.7 23,33 10.1 (7,967) (34.])
Total revenues $ 268,53( 100.% $ 231,53: 100.(% $ 36,99 16.C%

Overall, our revenues increased by 16.0% , or $8ifllibn , in fiscal 2014 as compared to fiscal 3010ur revenues increased 23.2%
yearover-year in the SoC market, increased 19.7% i\BIRind decreased 34.1% in Flash memory. The ovierakkase in revenues was
primarily driven by higher unit volume in both tB®@C and DRAM markets. The SoC revenue increasedvisgan by a combination of strong
mobile application processor, personal computecgssor, and automotive microcontroller demand. DR#dvhand and revenue increased du
to the adoption of our SmartMatrix product at aon&outh Korean memory producer and overall strondile, server and personal computer
DRAM market demand. The decrease in Flash memegniee was due to a weakening NOR Flash memory mankkereduced demand for
our TouchMatrix product at South Korean and TaiveesAND Flash memory producers.
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Revenues by Geographic Region

The following table sets forth our revenues by gapgic region for the periods indicated:

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2014 Revenues 2013 Revenues

(In thousands)

North America $ 75,39 28.1% $ 63,05 27.2%
South Korea 52,67 19.€ 45,82¢ 19.¢
Taiwan 49,39¢ 18.2 64,62 27.¢
Asia-Pacific (1) 34,70¢ 12.¢ 21,17 9.2
Europe 30,671 11.2 20,02 8.€
Japan 25,68: 9.€ 16,83¢ 7.3
Total Revenues $ 268,53 100.(% $ 231,53 100.(%
(1) AsiaPacific includes all countries in the region exc&aitvan, South Korea, and Japan, which are disdlesparatel

Geographic revenue information is based on thetilmt#o which we ship the customer product. Fomepke, if a certain South Korean
customer purchases through their North Americarsigiidry and requests the products to be shippad eddress in Asia-Pacific, this sale will
be reflected in the revenue for Asia-Pacific ratifan North America.

The increases in North America and Europe revefardgscal 2014, when compared to the same peiiiln@913, were driven by
increased SoC product shipments for both flip @mrg wire bond applications. The decrease in Tamaanues for fiscal 2014, when
compared to the same period in 2013, was drivea @ymbination of decreased SoC product shipmemtsciease in commodity or personal
computer based DRAM demand, and reduced NAND Hiastmory demand. The increase in South Korea revepuéiscal 2014 when
compared to the same period in 2013 was primatig/td increased DRAM demand and the adoption oSouartMatrix product at a major
South Korean memory producer. The increase in Japamues for fiscal 2014 was driven by a combamadf higher demand for SoC wire
bond and mobile DRAM products. The increase in A&aific revenues in fiscal 2014 when comparedstaf 2013 was primarily driven by
sales of our SmartMatrix DRAM products in that mgi

Gross Profit

Fiscal Fiscal
2014 2013
(In thousands)
Gross profit $ 7743¢ $ 42,28
Gross margin 28.8% 18.2%

Gross margin fluctuates with revenue levels, prodiig, selling prices, factory loading and matedasts. For fiscal 2014 , gross profit
increased $35.2 million when compared to fiscal@timarily due to lower material costs, lowerdalexpenses and overhead charges as a
result of our cost reduction initiatives and favweaproduction yields. Gross profit also benefitean higher production volume driven by
higher sales. This led to higher factory utilizatian a relatively fixed base of overhead costsrasdlted in improvements to our gross profits
for all product markets.

Our net inventory provision charges declined byd$8illion in fiscal 2014 compared to fiscal 2013:dwo increased demand levels. The
value of previously reserved materials that weedus manufacturing and shipped for fiscal 2014 2083 was $2.4 million and $2.6 million,
respectively.

Gross margin included intangible asset amortizatiqrense and fixed asset fair value step-up expErES.8 millionand $13.8 millior
in fiscal 2014 and 2013 , respectively, relateth®MicroProbe Acquisition. Stock-based compensatipense included in gross margin for
fiscal 2014 and 2013 was $2.4 million each, respelgt

Future gross margins may be adversely impactedvsgrl levels of product revenues, even though we taken significant steps to
reduce our operating cost structure. Our gross imsargay also be adversely affected if we are reguio
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record additional inventory provision charges ancentory write-downs if estimated average sellinggs of products held in finished goods
and work in process inventories are below the magtufing cost of those products.

Research and Developme

Fiscal Fiscal
2014 2013
(In thousands)
Research and development $ 42,728 $ 42,13¢
% of revenues 15.% 18.2%

Research and development expenses for fiscal 2@tdased $0.6 million , or 1% , compared to therpréar. The increase was
primarily due to an increase of $1.5 million of émtive compensation and $1.6 million in project amaterial costs offset by a reduction of §
million in personnel related costs as a resultwfangoing restructuring efforts. Stock-based camspon expense included within research
and development expenses was $3.5 million and@8libn , respectively, for fiscal 2014 and 2013 .

Our research and development expenses fluctuggepsts transition from development to manufactyrdepending on the stage of
completion and level of effort related to each gcojundertaken. We are continuing our strategiestments in research and development,
including investments in new spring technologiedstrate architectures and new process technoldffiesemain committed to product
development in new and emerging technologies.

Selling, General and Administrativ

Fiscal Fiscal
2014 2013
(In thousands)
Selling, general and administrative $ 51,38 $ 53217
% of revenues 19.(% 23.(%

Selling, general and administrative expenses deeck$i1.8 million , or 3% , in fiscal 2014 compatedhe prior year. The decrease was
primarily due to a reduction of $2.3 million in gennel related costs as a result of our ongoirtguasring efforts, $1.1 million in acquisition
and integration related costs, $1.1 million in salemmissions, $1.0 million in general operatingemses as a result of our ongoing cost
reduction efforts, $0.6 million in expensed equiptrend supplies and $0.3 million in travel cosfsetfby an increase of $2.0 million in
incentive compensation, $1.1 million in stock basehpensation, $1.2 million in loss contingencyeres and $0.3 million in foreign payroll
taxes. Stock-based compensation expense includbohwelling, general and administrative expensas $7.3 million and $6.2 million ,
respectively for fiscal 2014 and 2013 .

Restructuring Charges, ne

Fiscal Fiscal
2014 2013
(In thousands)
Restructuring charges, net $ 2,66¢ 3 4,65¢
% of revenues 1.0% 2.(%

Restructuring charges decreased $2.0 million 366 4in fiscal 2014 from fiscal 2013 . The restuttg plans we implemented in fiscal
2014 and 2013 are discussed below.

2014 Restructuring Activities

On January 27, 2014, we announced a global org@omzarestructuring and cost reduction plan. Ag pathe plan, we eliminated 52
full-time employees. In addition, we reduced ounperary workforce by 9 positions. We recorded $8illion of restructuring charges during
the first quarter of fiscal 2014, which was comed®f $1.4 million in severance and related beseditd $0.6 million in impairment charges
certain equipment that would no longer be utiliZedring the
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remainder of fiscal 2014, we further eliminatedaalditional 5 full-time employees and recorded $fillion in severance charges.

The liabilities we accrued represent our best egtrof the obligations we expect to incur and cdddubject to adjustment as market
conditions change. The activities comprising thesgructuring activities were substantially com@tkein fiscal 2014 and the remaining cash
payments associated with these activities are éggeo be paid by the end of the first fiscal gelaaf 2015.

2013 Restructuring Activities

| n the first quarter of fiscal 2013, we implementieel Q1 2013 Restructuring Plan which resulted éréduction of our global
workforce by 31 employees across the organizatioaddition we reduced our temporary workforce ppraximately 20 positions. We also
suspended development activities and engineerfog&for our next generation DRAM Matrix platforamd terminated development activities
for a certain SoC product platform. We recorded$illion of restructuring charges during the fifiscal quarter of 2013, which was
comprised of $1.3 million in severance and reldtedefits and $2.7 million in impairment chargesdertain equipment that was no longer
utilized.

I n the fourth fiscal quarter of 2013, we implementteel Q4 2013 Restructuring Plan which resultedvénreduction of our global
workforce by 17 full-time employees across the argation. In addition, we reduced our temporary kimrce by 17 positions. We recorded
$0.4 million of restructuring charges during tharth fiscal quarter of 2013 for severance and eeldtenefits. The cash payments associated
with our various fiscal 2013 reductions in workfengere paid in fiscal 2013 and 2014.

Loss on Sale of Subsidiai

Fiscal Fiscal
2014 2013
(In thousands)
Loss on sale of subsidiary $ — % 30C
% of revenues —% 0.1%

On June 29, 2013, we sold TMMC, a wholly owned glibsy of MicroProbe based in Carson City, NevaldMC's assets were sold to
its management team for a purchase considerati®t.6fmillion. FormFactor received approximatelyZbillion in cash upon the sale in the
second fiscal quarter of 2013 and an approxima&t@I§ million note to be repaid over 7 years at aib%rest rate. The fair value of the note
was discounted to approximately $0.5 million agwfe 29, 2013. We included goodwill of approximat.2 million and a trademark
intangible asset, net of accumulated amortizatbapproximately $0.1 million in the loss on dispbsf a subsidiary. We recorded a net loss
on the sale of TMMC's assets of $0.3 million ircéis2013.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

Fiscal Fiscal
2014 2013
(In thousands)
Impairment of long-lived assets $ 1,21¢ $ 761
% of revenues 0.5% 0.2%

We test long-lived assets or asset groups for eredpility when events or changes in circumstaneeisate that their carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. In fiscal 2014 and 2018 recorded impairment charges of $1.2 million a@@ $nillion, respectively, related to
manufacturing assets we no longer utilize.
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Interest Income and Other Income, N

Fiscal Fiscal
2014 2013
(In thousands)
Interest income, net $ 302 % 38¢€
% of revenues 0.1% 0.2%
Other income, net $ 161 $ 622
% of revenues 0.1% 0.2%

Interest income is primarily earned on our caskhaaquivalents and marketable securities. The dseri@ interest income for fiscal 2014
as compared to fiscal 2013 was primarily the resullbwer yields. Cash, cash equivalents, restlic@sh and marketable securities wWkt64.:
million at December 27, 2014 compared to $151.%ionilat December 28, 2013 . The weightadkrage yield on our cash, cash equivalents
marketable securities for fiscal 2014 and 2013 Wa&6% and 0.25%, respectively.

Other income, net is comprised primarily of foremmrency impact and various other gains and lo§des decrease in fiscal 2014 as
compared to fiscal 2013 was primarily due to theaglketion of payments received in fiscal 2013 framirgtellectual property settlement and
overall lower foreign currency gains and bank atigtocharges.

Benefit From Income Taxe:

Fiscal Fiscal
2014 2013
(In thousands)
Benefit from income taxes $ 910 % (99
Effective tax rate (4.5% (0.2%

We recorded an income tax benefit of $0.9 millionl 0.1 million for fiscal 2014 and 2013 , respegly. Income tax provisions reflect
the tax provision on our operations in the US amdifn jurisdictions and the tax benefit from thpding of the statute of limitations in foreign
jurisdictions.

We recognize interest (benefit) charges and pesalélated to uncertain tax positions as part@frtbome tax provision. We recognized
interest (benefit) charges and penalties of $(@illjon , $(0.2) million and $0.3 million in fisc&d014 , 2013 , and 2012 , respectively. As of
December 27, 2014 and December 28, 2013 , we lwdeattotal interest charges and penalties of Bllion and $0.2 million , respectively,
related to uncertain tax positions.

We anticipate that we will continue to record awagion allowance against our U.S. deferred taxtasgée expect our future tax
provisions, during the time such valuation allowssare recorded, will consist primarily of the pamvision of our profitable non-U.S.
jurisdictions. AtDecember 27, 2014 , we had Federal research amdogenvent tax credit, net operating loss, and forégg credit
carryforwards of $19.3 million , $293.9 million afd.9 million , respectively, which will expire @arious dates from 2016 through 2034 . We
had alternative minimum tax credits of $2.4 milliwhich do not expire. We had California researaditrand net operating loss carryforwards
of $26.5 million and $270.8 million , respectivelyhe California research credit can be carried &dnndefinitely while California net
operating loss carryforwards will expire at varialaes from 2015 through 2034 . We had Singapdreperating loss carryforwards of $10.6
million which can be carried forward indefinitely.

Our effective tax rate may vary from period to pdrbased on changes in estimated taxable incoes®by jurisdiction, changes to the

valuation allowance, changes to U.S. Federal, stafereign tax laws, future expansion into areét warying country, state, and local income
tax rates, deductibility of certain costs and exgesrby jurisdiction.
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Fiscal Years Ended December 28, 2013 and DecemBelR12

Revenues

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of Change
2013 Revenues 2012 Revenues $ %
(In thousands)
Revenues by Market:
SoC $ 115,59° 49.9% $ 46,58¢ 26.1% $ 69,01: 148.1%
DRAM 92,60: 40.C 102,49¢ 57.4 (9,896 (9.7
Flash 23,33: 10.1 29,45( 16.5 (6,117) (20.6)
Total revenues $ 231,53 100.% $ 178,53! 100.(% $ 52,99¢ 29.7%

Overall, our revenues increased by 29.7%, or $68llbn, in fiscal 2013 as compared to fiscal 200t of the total revenues of $231.5
million for fiscal 2013, $93.2 million or 40.3%, wattributable to MicroProbe, compared to $19.8iomilor 11.1% for fiscal 2012.
MicroProbe's sales were not included in our codsddid revenues for the nine months ended Septe28b@012 as we only acquired
MicroProbe in October 2012.

Our revenues increased 148.1% year-over-year iS¢z market but decreased 9.7% in DRAM and 20.8%ash memory. These
fluctuations in revenue were primarily driven by dlicroProbe Acquisition in the SoC product mar&at unit volume in the DRAM and
Flash memory product markets. Smart phone andttBit&M demand increased in fiscal 2013 comparefistal 2012 but was offset by a
significant decrease in personal computer, or R&tae¢ DRAM demand. The reduction in Flash memoweneie was primarily in the NAND
Flash area resulting from lower demand for our eigharallelism Flash memory product.

Revenues by Geographic Region

The following table sets forth our revenues by gapgic region for the periods indicated:

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2013 Revenues 2012 Revenues

(In thousands)

Taiwan $ 64,62 27.9% $  36,96¢ 20.7%
North America 63,05! 27.2 27,50¢ 15.4
South Korea 45,82 19.¢ 58,51t 32.¢
Asia-Pacific (1) 21,17 9.2 22,57: 123
Europe 20,02 8.€ 11,66: 6.t
Japan 16,83¢ 7.3 21,31 11.¢
Total Revenues $ 231,53 100.(% $ 178,53 100.(%
Q) AsiaPacific includes all countries in the region exc&aitvan, South Korea, and Japan, which are disdlesparatel

Geographic revenue information is based on thetilmt#o which we ship the customer product. Fomepke, if a certain South Korean
customer purchases through their North Americarsisiidry and requests the products to be shippad eddress in Asia-Pacific, this sale will
be reflected in the revenue for Asia-Pacific ratifan North America.

The increase in North America and Europe salefidoal 2013, when compared to the same period 2 2&as driven by SoC product
shipments primarily realized from the business eguaed through the MicroProbe Acquisition. MicroBe's sales were not included in our
consolidated revenues for the nine months endeté®éer 29, 2012, given the business combinationceagpleted on October 16, 2012. The
increase in Taiwan sales for fiscal 2013, when cmegb to fiscal 2012, was driven by a combinatioSo€ product shipments from
MicroProbe and an increase in mobile phone aneétdizised DRAM and Flash memory demand. The deche&muth Korea revenues for
fiscal 2013, when compared to the same period ir2 2@as primarily due to reduced PC-related DRAM rmgndemand, based on a reduced
overall end-



40




market and lower demand for our higher parallelidash memory product. The decrease in Japan sakesliven by lower demand for our
SmartMatrix product at a major mobile DRAM produckhis lower demand was primarily the consequeticedain supply chain and
manufacturing challenges we experienced in thergkbalf of fiscal 2013. Asia-Pacific revenue wastigely consistent year over year.

Gross Profit

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Gross profit $ 4228 $ 25,33
Gross margin 18.2% 14.2%

Gross margin fluctuates with revenue levels, produig, selling prices, factory loading and matedasts. For fiscal 2013, gross profit
increased $17.0 million primarily due to the effe€the MicroProbe Acquisition and our cost redotinitiatives to lower material costs, labor
expenses and overhead charges. This improvemgnb$s margin was partially offset by higher amattizn of intangible assets that resulted
from the MicroProbe Acquisition.

Gross profit also improved in fiscal 2013 due to cest reduction activities including the effecttoé cessation of our Japan memory
product assembly and test activities in the foarthrter of 2012, and other personnel restructuaiigpns and material cost reduction
initiatives. Gross profit improvement was offsetdiyincrease in net inventory provision write-dowh$3.2 million during fiscal 2013. The
value of previously reserved materials that weetlis manufacturing and shipped for fiscal 2013 2042 was $2.6 million and $1.3 million,
respectively.

Gross margin included intangible asset amortizatiqrense and inventory and fixed asset fair valegp expense of $13.8 million a
$8.5 million in fiscal 2013 and 2012, respectiveBlated to the MicroProbe Acquisition. Stock-basethpensation expense included in gross
margin for fiscal 2013 and 2012 was $2.4 milliom 2.6 million, respectively. The decrease in stbaked compensation was due to less
unvested options being earned in fiscal 2013 coatptr the prior year.

Research and Developme

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Research and development $ 42,13¢ $ 40,13(
% of revenues 18.2% 22.5%

Research and development expenses for fiscal 2@t8ased $2.0 million, or 5%, compared to the préar. While research and
development expenses increased due to the fulliygsact of the MicroProbe acquisition, this increasas partially offset by a decrease in
other expenses as a result of our integrationitieBy including cost reduction efforts. As a percef revenues, research and development
expenses decreased 4.3% in fiscal 2013 as compafisdal 2012.

In fiscal 2013, costs related to our research awtldpment activities increased from fiscal 201 tb a net increase in headcount and
personnel related costs of $2.9 million, reflectafylitional headcount from the MicroProbe acquisitand headcount reduction from on-going
restructuring activities. This increase was offsetlecreases in project and material costs of ®llbn and other miscellaneous costs of $0.5
million, as compared to fiscal 2012. Stock-basedpensation expense included within research andldement expenses was $3.4 million
and $4.3 million, respectively, for fiscal 2013 &2l 2.

Our research and development expenses fluctuggepsts transition from development to manufactyrdepending on the stage of
completion and level of effort related to each gcojundertaken. We continued our strategic investena research and development, inclut
investments in new spring technology, new procesidrtologies and a new platform architecture for NDANash memory probe cards. We
suspended development activities specific to oMt generation Matrix platform, and started consatiitly our development and engineering
efforts to extend the capabilities of the curreratiik platform. We remained committed to productelepment in new and emerging
technologies.
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Selling, General and Administrativ

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Selling, general and administrative $ 53217 $ 49,23
% of revenues 23.(% 27.€%

Selling, general and administrative expenses ise&4.0 million, or 8%, in fiscal 2013 comparedht® prior year. Selling, general and
administrative expenses increased primarily dueeampact of the MicroProbe acquisition. As a petof revenues, selling, general and
administrative expenses decreased 4.6% in fiscE3 28 compared to fiscal 2012 due to cost reduetfifomts.

In fiscal 2013, salary and payroll related costssklling, general and administrative functionséased by $3 million, respectively, as
compared to fiscal 2012 primarily due to the impafdhe MicroProbe acquisition. Additionally, ingible asset amortization costs increase
$2.3 million in fiscal 2013 as compared to fisc@ll2. The above increases were partially offset $%.8 million decrease in integration and
acquisition-related expenses as compared to f5¥E2. Stock-based compensation expense includeslling, general and administrative
expenses remained unchanged at $6.2 million eafi¢cal 2013 and fiscal 2012.

Restructuring Charges, ne

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Restructuring charges, net $ 4,65¢ % 2,917
% of revenues 2.0% 1.€%

Restructuring charges increased $1.7 million ioai®013 from fiscal 2012. The restructuring plassimplemented in fiscal 2013 and
2012 are discussed below.

2013 Restructuring Activities

I n the first quarter of fiscal 2013, we implementieel Q1 2013 Restructuring Plan which resulted éréduction of our global
workforce by 31 employees across the organizatioaddition we reduced our temporary workforce ppraximately 20 positions. We also
suspended development activities and engineerfog®for our next generation DRAM Matrix platforamd terminated development activities
for a certain SoC product platform. We recorded$dillion of restructuring charges during the fifiscal quarter of 2013, which was
comprised of $1.3 million in severance and reldtedefits and $2.7 million in impairment chargesdertain equipment that was no longer
utilized.

| n the fourth fiscal quarter of 2013, we implemerae@structuring plan (the "Q4 2013 Restructuriten® which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by 17 full-timenployees across the organization. In addition, @gdeiced our temporary workforce by 17
positions. We recorded $0.4 million of restructgroharges during the fourth fiscal quarter of 2fir3everance and related benefits.

The liabilities we accrued represented our bes#hast of the obligations we expected to incur amala be subject to adjustment as
market conditions change. The remaining cash patgrasociated with our various reductions in waitgonvere paid by the end of the first
fiscal quarter of 2014. As such, the restructuangrual was recorded as a current liability witlincrued liabilities’ in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet as of December 28, 2013.

2012 Restructuring Activities

During fiscal 2012, we initiated restructuring pdain our second, third and fourth fiscal quartehsch resulted in the reduction of our
global workforce by 49 full-time employees acrdss brganization and the cessation of our memorgiympassembly and test activities in
Japan. We reduced our temporary work force as W#lrecorded $2.3 million in charges for severaaue related benefits, $0.2 million in
contract termination costs and $0.4 million in innpeent charges for certain equipment and leaseihgidovements that would no longer be
utilized related to these plans.
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The liabilities accrued for the above restructunitans represented our best estimate of the oligatve expected to incur and could be
subject to adjustment as market conditions chahige.cash payments associated with our various f243¥ reductions in force were paid in
fiscal 2012 and 2013.

Loss on Sale of Subsidiai

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Loss on sale of subsidiary $ 30C $ =
% of revenues 0.1% —%

On June 29, 2013, we sold The Micromanipulator Camypor TMMC, a wholly owned subsidiary of MicroBebased in Carson City,
Nevada. TMMC manufactures manual, analytical prsth#ons and accessories. TMMC's assets weresdklmanagement team fo
purchase consideration of $1.0 million. FormFactmeived $0.2 million in cash upon the sale an@.8 #illion note to be repaid over 7 years
at a 5% interest rate. The fair value of the noés discounted to $0.5 million as of June 29, 2018.included goodwill of $0.2 million and a
trademark intangible asset, net of accumulated gration, of $0.1 million in the loss on disposélosubsidiary. We recorded a net loss on th
sale of TMMC of $0.3 million in the second quantéffiscal 2013.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Impairment of long-lived assets $ 761 $ 421
% of revenues 0.2% 0.2%

We test long-lived assets or asset groups for evednility when events or changes in circumstanceigate that their carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. Below is a descriptiorhefimpairment activities for fiscal 2013 and 2012.

In fiscal 2013, we recorded an impairment charg&08 million related to certain manufacturing assehich were no longer utilized.

As we entered the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 fased increasing operational and financial chgkes) including manufacturing
overcapacity and weak operating performance whidhd a deterioration in market conditions. Assule during the fourth quarter of fiscal
2013, we reviewed the recoverability of our longell asset groups and we concluded that our busiveesable to fully recover the carrying
amounts of our assets.

In fiscal 2012, we recorded total impairments o#$fillion, including $0.2 million related to termations of certain construction-in-
progress projects and $0.2 million related to der@asets which were previously held for sale e determined to no longer be sellable ant
used for internal purposes.

During the third and fourth quarters of 2012, wéeeed the recoverability of our long lived ass#t® to a significant change in our
business strategy in connection with our 2012 Resiring Plan, recurring operating losses, net casgfliows from operations and continued
decline in the Company's stock price. As a redulhe review, we concluded our business was ablellprecover the carrying amounts of our
assets.

Management believed it was reasonably possibleaiiiditional impairment charges that would reducthfar the carrying amounts of
our property and equipment and intangible assetsarise in fiscal 2014 if we were unable to achieash flows anticipated by our forecasted
financial plan.
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Gain on Settlement of Litigation

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Gain on settlement of litigation $ —  $(3,250)
% of revenues —% (1.9%

In July 2010, we filed a lawsuit against Micro-Pedibcorporated, or Micro-Probe Inc., and one obffgers who was a former
FormFactor employee, asserting patent infringeraadtunfair competition claims against Micro-Probe.] and trade secret misappropriation
and breach of confidence claims. On October 162281d in connection with the MicroProbe Acquisitive agreed to settle all outstanding
litigation with Astria, Micro-Probe, Inc. and thermer employee in favor of FormFactor for $3.3 roil

Interest Income and Other Income, N

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Interest income, net $ 38 $ 691
% of revenues 0.2% 0.4%
Other income, net $ 62: $ 1,461
% of revenues 0.2% 0.8%

Interest income is primarily earned on our casbha@quivalents and marketable securities. The dser@ interest income for fiscal 2013
as compared to fiscal 2012 was primarily the restillower average balances and was partially offgahterest income from our note
receivable from TMMC-refer to Note 8 - Fair Valuto-the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemiemtiirther details. Cash, cash
equivalents, restricted cash and marketable sexsuvitere $151.5 million at December 28, 2013 coegpéo $166.1 million at December 29,
2012. The weighted-average yield on our cash, egsafvalents and marketable securities for fiscdland 2012 was 0.25% and 0.30%,
respectively.

Other income, net is comprised primarily of foremmrency impact and various other gains and lo§3®s decrease in other income, net
for fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012, was dumarily to foreign currency exchange losses as aglbayments received during fiscal 2012
from an intellectual property settlement.

Benefit from Income Taxe:

Fiscal Fiscal
2013 2012
(In thousands)
Benefit from income taxes $ 99 $ (26,420
Effective tax rate (0.2% (42.6%

We recorded an income tax benefit of $0.1 millionl $26.4 million for fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2018spectively. Our income tax
provisions reflect the tax provision on our nonSUoperations in foreign jurisdictions and the baxefit from the lapsing of the statute of
limitations in US and foreign jurisdictions andrstatement of the Federal R&D tax credit which wedsoactively applied to 2012.

Included in the $26.4 million income tax benefit tbe year ended December 29, 2012 is a $25.50millix benefit from the release of
valuation allowance of our deferred tax assets AB. In connection with our acquisition of Micra#tre Aquisition during the year ended
December 29, 2012, deferred tax liabilities ("DTLa/ere established on the acquired identifiablarigtble assets. These DTLs exceeded the
acquired DTAs by $25.5 million and created add#iosources of income to realize a tax benefit for@TAs. Authoritative guidance requires
the impact on the acquiring company's deferredhtzets and liabilities caused by an acquisitioreberded in the acquiring company's
financial statements outside of
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acquisition accounting. Accordingly, the valuatafowance on a portion of our DTAs was releasedrasdlted in an income tax benefit of
$25.5 million.

We recognize interest (benefit) charges and pesalélated to uncertain tax positions as partefrthome tax provision. We recognized
interest (benefit) charges and penalties of $(@iljon and $0.3 million in fiscal 2013 and 2012spectively. As of December 28, 2013 and
December 29, 2012, we accrued total interest ceaage penalties of $0.2 million and $0.4 millioespectively, related to uncertain tax
positions.

We anticipate that we will continue to record auadion allowance against our U.S. deferred taxtas®ée expect our future tax
provisions, during the time such valuation allowesare recorded, will consist primarily of the pamvision of our profitable non-U.S.
jurisdictions. At December 28, 2013, we had Feders¢arch and development tax credit, net opertasy and foreign tax crec
carryforwards of $18.7 million, $328.4 million ad.7 million, which will expire at various datesiin 2016 through 2033. We had alternative
minimum tax credits of $2.4 million which do notpse. We had California research credit and netatpe loss carryforwards of $23.5
million and $270.5 million, respectively. The Califiia research credit can be carried forward imitefly while California net operating loss
carryforwards will expire at various dates from @@Brough 2033. We had Singapore net operatingdasyforwards of $11.5 million which
can be carried forward indefinitely.

Our effective tax rate may vary from period to pdrbased on changes in estimated taxable incoos®by jurisdiction, changes to the
valuation allowance, changes to U.S. Federal, statereign tax laws, future expansion into areéts warying country, state, and local income
tax rates, deductibility of certain costs and exgesrby jurisdiction.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Capital ResourcesOur working capital was $196.4 million at DecemB@r 2014 and $173.9 million at December 28, 2013e
increase in working capital was primarily due toiserease in cash due to improved operating resadtounts receivable due to increased !
and inventory build in anticipation of higher sales

Cash and cash equivalents consist of depositsatdldnks, money market funds, U.S. government g@suand commercial paper that
at the time of purchase had maturities of 90 dayess. Marketable securities consist of U.S. govemt and agency securities and comme
paper. We typically invest in highly-rated secastiwith low probabilities of default. Our investrh@olicy requires investments to be rated
single-A or better, and limits the types of accbfganvestments, issuer concentration and duratfdhe investment.

Our cash, cash equivalents and marketable secuidtizled $163.8 million at December 27, 2014 caeghéo $151.1 million at
December 28, 2013 . Cash, cash equivalents ancetasi& securities included $23.6 million held by faeign subsidiaries as of
December 27, 2014 . The increase in our cash,e@slalents and marketable securities balancegpuimsrily due to improved operating
results and reduced capital expenditures, netvasitments in working capital to grow revenues. Wiele that we will be able to satisfy our
working capital requirements for at least the riesdlve months with the liquidity provided by ourigting cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities. If we are unsuccessful imtaming or growing our revenues, or maintainimgeducing our cost structure in an indu
down-turn, or increasing our available cash throfigdincing, our cash, cash equivalents and marletaturities may decline in fiscal 2015 .

We utilize a variety of tax planning and financistgategies in an effort to manage our worldwidéhcasd deploy funds to locations
where they are needed. As part of these stratages)definitely reinvest a significant portion atfir foreign earnings and our current plans do
not demonstrate a need to repatriate these earr8hgsild we require additional capital in the Udiftates, we may elect to repatriate
indefinitely reinvested foreign funds or raise ¢abin the United States. If we were to repatriatiefinitely reinvested foreign funds, we would
be required to accrue and pay additional UniteteSteaxes less applicable foreign tax credits.

Day Sales OutstandingDays sales outstanding from receivables, or DS®@e w8 days at December 27, 2014 compared with $2 ala
December 28, 2013 . Our DSO calculation is detezthimsing the count back method and is based os gaz®unts receivable (including
accounts receivable for amounts in deferred reveAune increase in DSO in fiscal 2014 as compaodital 2013wvas primarily due to high
sales to customers on 60-day payment terms.
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Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2014 2013 2012

(In thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities$ 17,65¢ $ (5,802 $ (26,229
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 37,33¢ (7,750 (40,709
Net cash provided by financing activities 2,54 1,99¢ 2,13¢

Cash flows from operating activitied\let cash provided by operating activities for fls2@14 was primarily attributable to improved
operating results from increased revenues and asetecosts offset by increase in working capitaéssary to support the increased revenues
The company had a net loss of $19.2 million whiaswffset by non-cash expenses of $55.6 milliocluding $30.5 million of depreciation
and amortization, $13.3 million of stock-based cemgation, $7.1 million of provision for excess atdolete inventories, $2.5 million of
foreign currency transaction losses, $1.2 millielated to impairment of long-lived assets and $@lBon of assets written-off as part of our
restructuring activities.

The net change in operating assets and liabilitiefiscal 2014 resulted in a net use of cash & 8&illion and which was comprised of
cash used of $15.9 million in accounts receivabie t higher sales, $12.0 million of cash usedrfeentory due to inventory build, a decrease
in income tax payable of $1.5 milli@ue to the release of a reserve for uncertain éakipns, an increase of prepaid expenses and otingn
assets of $0.8 million and a $0.7 million decraas#eferred revenues due to recognition of previodsferred revenues for which the revenue
recognition criteria have been met. The above @isagh was offset in part by an increase of $718aniin accrued liabilities due to incentive
compensation, accrued payroll and warranty, areas® of $4.2 million in accounts payable driveriHgytiming of our payments on vendor
obligations, and a $0.2 million increase in defément and other liabilities due to additional gigrg lease obligations.

The net change in operating assets and liabifidiefiscal 2013 was comprised of cash used of &8lllon for inventory due to invento
build, $2.1 million increase in accounts receivahle to customer mix changes and higher sales,$#lidn reduction in accounts payable
driven by the timing of our payments on vendor gdtions and $2.5 million reduction in accrued liéibs primarily related to lower accrued
payroll and bonus. These uses of cash were pgrtitifet by cash generated from $5.1 million ofame tax refunds, a reduction of $3.6
million of prepaid and other current assets dueteipt of the MicroProbe Acquisition working capiadjustment from Astria Semiconductor
Holdings Inc. shareholders and reduced prepaidresgeeand import taxes, and an increase of $1.bmil deferred revenues due to
shipments to customers for which our revenue reitiogreriteria have not yet been met.

Cash flows from investing activitiedNet cash provided by investing activities for fis2814 was primarily related to $73.5 million of
proceeds from maturities of marketable securitres$l.1 million of proceeds from sales of propeptant and equipment offset by purchases
of marketable securities totaling $31.7 million aah used in the acquisition of property and eqeigt of $5.7 million . We carefully monitor
our investments to minimize risks and have not egpeed other than temporary investment lossesef{or experiencing declining yields,
our investment portfolio has not been negativelganted by the economic turmoil in the credit magketthe recent past.

Net cash used in investing activities for fiscal 2@vas primarily related to the purchases of maiietsecurities and property and
equipment totaling $91.3 million and $8.5 millioespectively. These uses of cash were partiallseothy proceeds from maturities of
marketable securities of $90.4 million and procdeds the sales of marketable securities of $2 liani

Cash flows from financing activitiesNet cash provided by financing activities for fise814 and 2013 included $2.8 million and $2.6
million, respectively, from proceeds received frparchases under our 2012 Employee Stock Purchase éffset by stock withheld in lieu of
payment of employee taxes related to the releasesticted stock units. The proceeds receivedsoaf 2014 and 2013 was partially offset by
payments of $0.3 million and $0.6 million made apital leases.

Our cash, cash equivalents and marketable seauritteeased by $12.7 million in fiscal 2014 . Watbaue to focus on improving our
operating efficiency to increase operating castsloNe believe that we will be able to satisfy oash requirements for at least the next tw
months with the liquidity provided by our existingsh, cash equivalents and marketable securitiethelextent necessary, we may also
consider entering into short and long-term debigalblons, raise cash through a stock issuance, abtain new financing facilities which may
not be available on terms favorable to us or atllr future capital requirements may vary mathribm those now planned. However, if we
are unsuccessful in maintaining or growing our nexs, or maintaining or reducing our cost structar@n industry down-turn, or increasing
our available cash through financing, our cashh emgiivalents and marketable securities could dedti future fiscal years.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our significant contments to make future payments in cash under aotutal obligations as of
December 27, 2014 :

Payments Due In Fiscal Years

2015 2016-2017  2018-2019  After 2019 Total
(In thousands)
Operating leases $ 4157 $ 7,07t $ 698 $ 593 $ 24,15
Purchase obligations 10,89¢ 50z — — 11,40:
Total $ 1505¢ $ 7580 $ 6,98 $ 593¢ $ 3555¢

Purchase obligations are primarily for purchaseswéntory and manufacturing related service casta-or the purposes of this table,
purchase obligations are defined as agreementathanforceable and legally binding and that $pedii significant terms, including: fixed or
minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimomvariable price provisions; and the approximatertg of the transaction. The expected
timing of payment of the obligations discussed a&bisvestimated based on information available tasusf December 27, 2014 . Timing of
payments and actual amounts paid may be differgm¢ding on the timing of receipt of goods or smwior changes to agreed-upon amounts
for some obligations.

The table above excludes our gross liability foraeognized tax benefits, which totaled approxinya$dl6.3 million as of December 27,
2014 . The timing of any payments which could refom these unrecognized tax benefits will depepdn a number of factors. Accordingly,
the timing of payment cannot be estimated and bas lexcluded from the table above. As of DecemBe@14 , the changes to our uncertain
tax positions in the next 12 months that are realsienrand probable are not expected to have a signifimpact on our financial position or
results of operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Historically, we have not participated in transaet that have generated relationships with uncafeged entities or financial
partnerships, such as entities often referred girastured finance or special purpose entitiesclvivould have been established for the
purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangater other contractually narrow or limited purgssAs of December 27, 2014 , we were nc
involved in any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Indemnification Agreements

We may, from time to time in the ordinary courseuof business enter into contractual arrangemetitstiaird parties that include
indemnification obligations. Under these contracreangements, we have agreed to defend, inderaniyor hold the third party harmless
from and against certain liabilities. These arramgets include indemnities in favor of customerthimevent that our probe cards infringe a
third party's intellectual property and our lessarsonnection with facility leasehold liabiliti¢sat we may cause. In addition, we have entere
into indemnification agreements with our directansl certain of our officers, and our bylaws contagdemnification obligations in favor of o
directors, officers and agents. These indemnitgrayements may limit the type of the claim, theltataount that we can be required to pay in
connection with the indemnification obligation ahé time within which an indemnification claim che made. The duration of the
indemnification obligation may vary and, for mostamgements, survives the agreement term and éfiinitee. We believe that substantially all
of our indemnity arrangements provide either foritations on the maximum potential future paymewtscould be obligated to make, or for
limitations on the types of claims and damages ouddcbe obligated to indemnify, or for both. HoweMeis not possible to determine or
reasonably estimate the maximum potential amoufitafe payments under these indemnification oliliga due to the varying terms of such
obligations, the history of prior indemnificatiotaions, the unique facts and circumstances invoimeshch particular contractual arrangement
and in each potential future claim for indemnifioat and the contingency of any potential lial®tiupon the occurrence of events that are no
reasonably determinable. We have not had any re&gjft@sndemnification under these arrangements.r@anagement believes that any
liability for these indemnity arrangements would he material to our accompanying consolidatedniiig statements. We have not recorded
any liabilities for these indemnification arrangarseon our consolidated balance sheet as of Deae2ih@014 .
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsf8qaFASB") issued Accounting Standards Update (ASNo. 2014-09,'Revenue
from Contracts with Customers' . The guidance requires an entity to recognizemeeedo depict the transfer of goods or servicasigtomers i
an amount that reflects the consideration to whitkentity expects to be entitled in exchange fos¢hgoods or services. The guidance also
requires expanded disclosures relating to the eaumount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue ashdlows arising from contracts with
customers. Additionally, qualitative and quantitatdisclosures are required about customer costrsigiificant judgments and changes in
judgments, and assets recognized from the cosistéin or fulfill a contract. The standard perntite use of either the retrospective
cumulative effect transition methods. This guidawdereplace most existing revenue recognitiondguice in United States generally accepte
accounting principles when it becomes effectiveiciiior us will be at the beginning of the firstagter of fiscal year 2017 using one of the
prescribed transition methods. Early adoption ispgomitted. We are in the process of evaluatimgitipact of this guidance on our ongoing
results and operations as well as in the transitiethods prescribed above.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-Bsesentation of Financial Satements-Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40)" . This
ASU provides guidance to determine when and hogisclose going-concern uncertainties in the finalhgtatements. The new standard
requires management to perform interim and anresdssments of an entity’s ability to continue gsiag concern within one year of the date
that the financial statements are issued. An entifgt provide certain disclosures if conditiongweents raise substantial doubt about the
entity’s ability to continue as a going concerne®tandard will be effective for us in fiscal ye@l7. We are evaluating the impact of the
adoption of this accounting standard update orconsolidated financial statements and related aisices.

ltem 7A: Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk. We conduct certain operations in foreign currence enter into currency forward exchange
contracts to hedge a portion, but not all, of éxgsforeign currency denominated amounts. Gainsl@ssks on these contracts are generally
recognized in "Other income, net" in our ConsokdiaBtatements of Operations. Because the effenbwéments in currency exchange rate
the currency forward exchange contracts generéftbets the related effect on the underlying itereimf) hedged, these financial instrument:
not expected to subject us to risks that would meitse result from changes in currency exchangesrdt&e do not use derivative financial
instruments for trading or speculative purposes.ré¢egnized a net gain of $1.7 million and a neslof $0.6 million , respectively for fiscal
2014 and 2013, from the fluctuation in foreign leaege rates and the valuation of these hedge ctsitiehe net gain in 2014 was primarily
due to the strong U.S. dollar as compared to thankse Yen especially in the second half of fi26ak.

Interest Rate Sensitivity. Our exposure to market risk for changes in intaiaes relates primarily to our investment poitfolVe invest
in a number of securities including U.S. agencgadlimt notes, money market funds and commercialrpipe attempt to ensure the safety anc
preservation of our invested principal funds byiting default risk, market risk and reinvestmeskriwe mitigate default risk by investing in
high grade investment securities. By policy, weitlithe amount of credit exposure to an issuer, pxteS. Treasuries and U.S. agencies. We
do not use interest rate derivative instrumentadnage interest rate exposures nor do we investading or speculative purposes. The fair
market value of our fixed rate securities may becastly impacted by increases in interest ratetevitiéome earned on floating rate securities
may decline as a result of decreases in interéest.rA hypothetical 100 basis-point (one percengamet) increase or decrease in interest rates
compared to rates at December 27, 2014 and Dece28b2013 would have affected the fair value ofiauestment portfolio by less than $0.3
million and $0.7 million , respectively.

Item 8: Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements and suppl&anedata of FormFactor required by this item acduded in the section entitled
"Consolidated Financial Statements" of this Anrfeeport on Form 10-K. See Item 15(a)(1) for a lfsbur consolidated financial statements.

Iltem 9: Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure

None.
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Item 9A: Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on our management's evaluation (with thécfaation of our Principal Executive Officer andripal Financial Officer), as of
the end of the period covered by this report, aimdipal Executive Officer and Principal Financafficer have concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 18a)Hnd 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchangeft934, as amended, (the "Exchange
Act")) were effective to ensure that informatioguéed to be disclosed by us in reports that wedil submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported vithitime periods specified in SEC rules and foams is accumulated and communicated
to our management, including our Principal Exeeut@fficer and Principal Financial Officer, as apgiate to allow timely decisions regardi
required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There was no change in our internal control oveairicial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) 45d415(f) under the Exchange A
that has materially affected, or is reasonablylyilte materially affect, our internal control ovi@mancial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange laternal control over financial reporting is epess designed by, or under the
supervision of, our Principal Executive Officer dPidncipal Financial Officer, and effected by owabd of directors, management and other
personnel and consultants, to provide reasonableasce regarding the reliability of financial reforg and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles, andiohes those policies and procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of resdftht in reasonable detail accurately and fa@fiect our transactions and dispositions of assets;

(ii) provide reasonable assurance tlaatstactions are recorded as necessary to permarnatem of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #oad our receipts and expenditures are being malyarmaccordance with the authorization
of our management and directors; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarg@revention or timely detection of unauthorizedusition, use or disposition of our assets tha
could have a material effect on the financial stegmts.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohaver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Principal Execu@féicer and Principal Financial
Officer, we conducted an assessment of the effetiss of our internal control over financial repgytas of December 27, 2014 . In making
this assessment, our management used the criégtfiarth inlnternal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway CommisgiG®SQO"). Based on the results of this assessmeariagement has concluded that,
internal control over financial reporting was effee as of December 27, 2014 , based on the @aiteinternal Control-Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the COSO.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioi@l reporting as of December 27, 2014 has bediteilby KPMG LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm,tased in their report which appears in this AnriRaport on Form 10-K.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Control systems, no matter how well designed aretaipd, can provide only reasonable, not absdaistajrance that the control syste
objectives are being met. Further, the design gfcamtrol systems must reflect the fact that tleeeresource constraints, and the benefits
controls must be considered relative to their cadsause of the inherent limitations in all cohttiystems, no evaluation of controls can
provide absolute assurance that all control isanesinstances of fraud, if any, within our compaaye been detected. These inherent
limitations include the realities that judgmentsietision making can be faulty and that breakdosamsoccur because of simple error or
mistake. Control systems can also be circumvenyatidindividual acts of some persons, by collugibtwo or more people, or by
management override of the controls. The desigangfsystem of controls is based, in part, on aedasumptions about the likelihood of ful
events, and there can be no assurance that amndeidiisucceed in achieving its stated goals uradlgpotential future conditions. Over time,
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions or deterioration in the degree of chamge with policies or procedures.
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CEO and CFO Certifications

We have attached as exhibits to this Annual Remoform 10-K the certifications of our Chief ExdeatOfficer and Chief Financial
Officer, which are required in accordance with Eheehange Act. We recommend that this Item 9A bd ieaonjunction with the certificatiol
for a more complete understanding of the subje¢tenpresented.

ltem 9B: Other Information

None.
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PART Il
Item 10: Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govente

Information concerning our board of directors, catges and directors, including our audit commitiee audit committee financial
expert, will be included in our Proxy Statementdor 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, undergbetion entitled "Proposal No. 1—
Election of Directors". The information in such pons of the Proxy Statement is incorporated in #mnual Report on Form 10-K by
reference.

For biographical information with respect to oureditors and executive officers, see Part |, Itewfi this Annual Report on Form 10-K
under the section entitled "Directors and Execu@fficers".

Information concerning Section 16(a) beneficial evahip reporting compliance will appear in our Br&atement under the section
entitled "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership RepartCompliance”. The information in such portiontioé Proxy Statement is incorporated in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.

We have adopted a Statement of Corporate Code sih8ss Conduct that applies to all directors, efcand employees of FormFactor
and a Statement of Financial Code of Ethics thpliepto our Chief Executive Officer, Chief FinaalcDfficer, and other employees in our
finance department. Information concerning thestesawill appear in our Proxy Statement under tletige entitled "Proposal No. 1Election
of Directors—Corporate Codes". The informationuiets portion of the Proxy Statement is incorporatetthis Annual Report on Form 1K-by
reference.

ltem 11: Executive Compensation

Information concerning executive officer compermatind related information will appear in our Pr@&tatement under the section
entitled "Compensation Discussion and Analysiske&utive Compensation and Related Information" peof the Compensation
Committee" and "Proposal No. 1—Election of DiresteitCompensation Committee Interlocks and Insidetid®aation". Information
concerning director compensation and related infdion will appear in our Proxy Statement undergbetion entitled "Proposal No. 1—
Election of Directors". The information in such pons of the Proxy Statement is incorporated in #mnual Report on Form 10-K by
reference.

Item 12: Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aiianagement and Related Stockholder Matters

Information concerning the security ownership atai@ beneficial owners and management and rekttmkholder matters will appear
in our Proxy Statement under the section entiti&ectrity Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners dahagement and Related Stockholder
Matters". The information in such portion of they Statement is incorporated in this Annual ReparEorm 10-K by reference.

Information concerning our equity compensation plaiill appear in our Proxy Statement under theiseantitled "Security Ownership
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management anated|Stockholder Mattersequity Compensation Plans”. The information in sportion
of the Proxy Statement is incorporated in this AadriReport on Form 10-K by reference.

Iltem 13: Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, aDitector Independence

Information concerning certain relationships andteal transactions, including our related persangactions policy will appear in our
Proxy Statement under the section entitled "CefRalationships and Related Transactions”. The inédion in such portion of the Proxy
Statement is incorporated in this Annual ReporForm 10-K by reference.

Information concerning director independence wilb@ar in our Proxy Statement under the sectiotlemtiProposal No. 1—Election of
Directors". The information in such portion of tReoxy Statement is incorporated in this Annual Repo Form 10-K by reference.

Item 14: Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information concerning principal accounting feed aarvices and the audit committee's pre-approsadies and procedures will appear
in our Proxy Statement under the section entitfrdposal No. 2—Ratification of Selection of Indegent Registered Public Accounting
Firm". The information in such portion of the ProRjatement is incorporated in this Annual ReporForm 10-K by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15:  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as parto$ tAnnual Report on Form 1K-
(1) Consolidated Financial Statements:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfimgs
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Exhibits:

The exhibits listed in the accompanying Index tdibits are filed or incorporated by reference as phthis Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

(b) Financial Statement Schedu

All schedules have been omitted because they dneqoired, not applicable, or the required infotiorais included in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(c) Exhibits
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Date of Exhibit Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No First Filing Number Herewith
2.01***  Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of Augus2@12 among 10-Q/A 00050307 1/23/201: 33.01
Astria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc., the Registr&htM
Acquisition, Inc. and Fortis Advisors LLC, as Egtiblder
Representative
3.01 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatithe S-1  333-10981% 10/20/200: 3.01
Registrant as filed with the Delaware Secretar$tate on
June 17, 2003
3.0z Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant 8-K 00050307 5/25/200! 3.0z
4.01 Specimen Common Stock Certificate S-1/A 3338673¢ 5/28/200: 4.01
10.014 Form of Indemnity Agreement S-1/A 3338673¢ 5/28/200: 10.01
10.021 Form of Change of Control Severance Agreement 10K 00050307 3/14/200! 10.4¢
10.0341 1996 Stock Option Plan, and form of option grant S-1 3338673¢ 4/22/200: 10.0¢
10.044 Incentive Option Plan, and form of option grant S-1 3338673¢ 4/22/200: 10.0¢
10.051 Management Incentive Option Plan, and form of aptjcant S4 3338673¢ 4/22/200: 10.0¢
10.0641 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and foifptan 10Q 00050307 5/4/201: 10.0¢
agreements
10.074 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended 10Q 00050307 8/7/200° 10.01
10.0841 Key Employee Bonus Plan, as amended 10Q 00050307 5/7/200° 10.01
10.094 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restatedtef@eApril 18, 10K 00050307 3/13/201: 10.0¢
2012, and forms of plan agreements
10.10¢ Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended anceresgartl 18, 10K 00050307 3/13/201: 10.1C
2012
10.11 Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itken S-1/A 3338673¢ 6/10/200: 10.1¢
Holding Company LLC (successor to Greenville InvestL.P.)
("Greenville") and the Registrant dated May 3, 2001
10.1Z First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasariu S-1/A 3338673¢ 5/7/200: 10.18.:
between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8iar003
10.1¢ Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @iteeand the  S-1/A 3338673¢ 6/10/200: 10.1¢
Registrant dated May 3, 2001
10.1¢ First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasartal S-1/A 3338673¢ 5/7/200: 10.19.

between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8igr003
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10.1¢ Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @iteeand the  S-1/A 3338673¢ 6/10/200: 10.z
Registrant dated May 3, 2001

10.164 First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasariul S-1/A 3338673¢ 5/7/200: 10.20.:
between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8igr003
10.174 Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itkeand the 10Q 00050307 11/7/200t 10.01

Registrant dated September 7, 2004, as amendeisby F
Amendment to Building 6 Lease dated August 16, 2006

10.184 Employment Letter Agreement, dated September 2),288dtween 8-K 00050307 9/17/201( 99.01+4
Thomas St. Dennis and the Registrant
10.194 Employment Offer Letter, dated August 29, 2012 tdvBlessor 10K 00050307 3/13/201: 10.194
10.204+ Tax withholding reimbursement letter between MilkesSor and — — — — X
the Registrant dated December 30, 2013
16.01 Letter of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP dated Aprid@,3 8K 00050307 4/8/201 16.01
21.01 List of Registrant's subsidiaries — — — — X
23.01 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing - PwC — — — — X
23.0z Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing - — — — — X
KPMG
24.01 Power of Attorney (included on the signature paighis — — — — X
Form 10-K)
31.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant15 U.S.C. — — — — X
Section 7241, as adopted pursuant to Section 30®darbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002
31.0z Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant15 U.S.C. — — — — X
Section 7241, as adopted pursuant to Section 3@&darbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002
32.01" Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chigihancial — — — — X

Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as tetbpursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS** XBRL Instance Document — — — —
101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document — — — —
101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuatne — — — —
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen — — — —
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document — — — —

X X X X X X

101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenim — — — —

This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed" for purps®f Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Adi93#4 or otherwise subject to the liabilities oftteaction, nor shall
be deemed incorporated by reference in any filimdeu the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securitieshange Act of 1934, whether made before or dfieidate hereof
and irrespective of any general incorporation lagguin any filings.

Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, thegeractive data files are deemed not filed or p# registration statement or prospectus for psgp of Sections 11 or
12 of the Securities Act of 1933 or Section 18haf Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and otherwisaat subject to liability.

Confidential treatment has been requestedgpimrtions of this document. The schedules, exhibits, annexes to this exhibit have been omittedliance on ltem 601(b)
(2) of Regulation S-K and will be furnished suppéartally to the SEC upon request.

Indicates a management contract or compensatonyoplarrangemer
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theéoeduly authorized, in the City of Livermore, StatfeCalifornia, on the 8 day of March
2015 .

FORMFACTOR, INC.
By: /s/ MICHAEL M. LUDWIG
Michael M. Ludwig
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW BY ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that eachihsf undersigned whose signature appears belovittoes and
appoints Michael M. Ludwig and Stuart L. Merkadeand each of them, the undersigned's true and laittiirneys-infact and agents with fu
power of substitution, for the undersigned anchmundersigned's name, place and stead, in angllacepacities, to sign any and all
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K anydather documents in connection therewith, anfilédhe same, with all exhibits
thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commisgjanting unto said attorneys-in-fact and ageatd,each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every actisitgland necessary to be done with respect toAthisial Report on Form 10-K, including
amendments, as fully to all intents and purposebesindersigned might or could do in person, heratfying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his or their stiistor substitutes, may lawfully do or cause ¢odone by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned hasuteel this Power of Attorney as of the date indidaielow.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on ber
of the Registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date

Principal Executive Officer:
/sl MICHAEL D. SLESSOR

- Chief Executive Officer and Director March 6, 2015
Michael D. Slessor
Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer:
/sl MICHAEL M. LUDWIG ) . . ,
Chief Financial Officer March 6, 2015

Michael M. Ludwig
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Signature

Additional Directors:

/s/ LOTHAR MAIER

Lothar Maier

/sl EDWARD ROGAS, JR

Edward Rogas, Jr

/sl MICHAEL W. ZELLNER

Michael W. Zellner

/sl RICHARD DELATEUR

Richard DeLateur

/sl THOMAS ST. DENNIS

Thomas St. Dennis
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
FormFactor, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of FormFactor, Inc. and subsidiaries Becember 27, 2014 aridecember 2!
2013, and the related consolidated statementpe@fations, comprehensive loss, stockholdegglity, and cash flows for each of the yea
the two-year period ended December 27, 2014 . Vde hhve audited the Compasyinternal control over financial reporting as
December 27, 2014 , based on criteria establighéatérnal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponso
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO¥ Tlompanys management is responsible for these consolidatadcial statement
for maintaining effective internal control over dincial reporting, and for its assessment of thecéffeness of internal control over finan
reporting, included in the accompanying ManagenseR&port on Internal Control over Financial Repaytappearing under Item 9A. C
responsibility is to express an opinion on thegesotidated financial statements and an opiniorhenGompanys internal control over financ
reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightuBiogUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audits to iobtaasonable assurance about whether the finastaéments are free of mate
misstatement and whether effective internal contreér financial reporting was maintained in all evé&l respects. Our audits of
consolidated financial statements included exarginion a test basis, evidence supporting the amaoamds disclosures in the financ
statements, assessing the accounting principled asd significant estimates made by management,esatiiating the overall financ
statement presentation. Our audit of internal adndver financial reporting included obtaining anderstanding of internal control o
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a neteveakness exists, and testing and evaluatiegdiésign and operating effectivenes
internal control based on the assessed risk. Oditsaalso included performing such other procedwagsve considered necessary in
circumstances. We believe that our audits provideaaonable basis for our opinions.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeliregthe reliability of financie
reporting and the preparation of financial statetmdor external purposes in accordance with gelyemicepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclediose policies and procedures that (1) pertatheéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseottimpany; (2) provide reasonable assui
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accorédamdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoasizations of management
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanaslsurance regarding prevention or timely deteatfounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohwver financial reporting may not prevent or @ttemisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteereferred to above present fairly, in all materespects, the financial position
FormFactor, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Decembg@¥4 and December 28, 20,18nd the results of their operations and theih ¢ksvs fol
each of the years in the two-year period ended Dbee 27, 2014 in conformity with U.S. generally accepted acdmm principles. Also i
our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mategapects, effective internal control over finaeeporting as of December 27, 201gase
on the criteria established linternal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

/s KPMG LLP
Santa Clara, California
March 6, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Foaotbr, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated statements of afp@ns, of comprehensive loss, of stockholdersitgqnd of cash flows for the year ended
December 29, 2012 present fairly, in all matemsipects, the results of operations and cash floéwsmnFactor, Inc. and its subsidiaries for
year ended December 29, 2012, in conformity witbaating principles generally accepted in the UhB¢ates of Americe

These financial statements are the responsibilithieCompany's management. Our responsibility ixjpress an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. We conducted oiirafutiese statements in accordance with the sraisdof the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standamisine that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstat@mAn audit includes examining, on a test basiglence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessagccounting principles used and significaninesties made by management, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. Weebe that our audit provide a reasonable basi®fwropinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
March 13, 2013

57




FORMFACTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 27,

2014

December 28,

2013

ASSETS
Current assets:

(In thousands, except share
and per share data)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 113,94( 59,19¢
Marketable securities 49,897 91,89t
Accounts receivable, net 45,15; 30,18¢
Inventories, net 25,54¢ 20,70%
Deferred tax assets 2,03¢ 2,77¢
Refundable income taxes 782 782
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6,91¢ 6,10¢
Total current assets 244.27: 211,65:
Restricted cash 43¢ 43t
Property, plant and equipment, net 25,49¢ 35,19(
Goodwill 30,73: 30,73:
Intangibles, net 38,68¢ 57,47(
Deferred tax assets 3,46¢ 3,96(
Other assets 1,15C 1,271
Total assets $ 344,24 340,70¢
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $  20,27: 16,31
Accrued liabilities 21,21% 13,98¢
Capital leases, current portion — 27C
Income taxes payable 68 172
Deferred revenue 6,30: 7,03(
Total current liabilities 47,86: 37,77(
Long-term income taxes payable 1,09¢ 2,491
Deferred tax liabilities 2,20¢ 3,02¢
Deferred rent and other liabilities 3,64: 3,32¢
Total liabilities 54,80" 46,62:
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value:
10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issuedwasizinding at December 27, 2014 ant
December 28, 2013 — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value:
250,000,000 shares authorized; 56,518,428 and 946@@ shares issued and outstanding
December 27, 2014 and December 28, 2013, resplctive 57 55
Additional paid-in capital 711,67¢ 695,63:
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,767) (249
Accumulated deficit (420,53f) (401,35)
Total stockholders' equity 289,43t 294,08t
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 344,240 $  340,70¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues

Cost of revenues

Gross profit

Operating expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Restructuring charges, net
Loss on sale of subsidiary
Impairment of long-lived assets
Gain on settlement of litigation

Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Interest income, net

Other income, net

Loss before income taxes

Benefit from income taxes

Net loss

Net loss per share:

Basic and diluted

Weighted-average number of shares used in per shinaations:

Basic and diluted

Fiscal Year Ended

December 27,

December 28, December 29,

2014 2013 2012

(In thousands, except per share data)
$ 268,53( $ 23153! $ 178,53!
191,09: 189,24 153,20«
77,43¢ 42,28 25,33
42,72¢ 42,13¢ 40,13(
51,38¢ 53,217 49,23:
2,66¢ 4,65¢ 2,91i
— 30C —
1,21¢ 761 421
— — (3,250
97,99' 101,07 89,44¢
(20,55¢) (58,79)) (64,11¢)
302 38¢€ 691
161 62: 1,461
(20,09%) (57,78:) (61,96¢)
(910) (99) (26,420
$  (19,18) $  (57,68) $ (35,54
$ 039 $ (1.06 $ (0.70)
55,90¢ 54,20 50,55:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Fiscal Year Ended

December 27, December 28, December 29,
2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)

Net loss $ 29,18y $ (57,689 $ (35,54¢)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:

Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,509 (1,82 (83¢)

Unrealized losses on available-for-sale marketabteirities (20 (139 (147

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax (1,519 (1,969 (98%)

Comprehensive loss $ (2069) $  (5964) $  (36,53)

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accumulated

Common Stock Additional Other
Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Total

(In thousands, except shares)

Balances, December 31, 2011 49,268,47 $ 50 $ 652,020 $ 2,70C $ (308,12) $ 346,65.
Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise tafrep

for cash — — — — — —
Issuance of common stock pursuant to acquisition of

business 3,020,94 8 13,80: — — 13,80¢
Issuance of common stock pursuant to vesting aficeesd

stock units, net of stock withheld 464,20: — (20¢€) — — (20¢€)
Issuance of common stock under the Employee Stock

Purchase Plan 533,07 1 2,357 — — 2,35¢
Stock-based compensation — — 13,08( — — 13,08(

Components of other comprehensive income (loss):
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable

securities, net of tax — — — (247 — 147
Currency translation adjustments — — — (83€) — (83€)
Net loss — — — — (35,54¢) (35,54¢)
Balances, December 29, 2012 53,286,70 54 681,15 1,71F (343,669 339,25¢
Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise tadrep
for cash 20,00( — 10€ — — 10€
Issuance of common stock pursuant to vesting drficesd
stock units, net of stock withheld 759,72 — 4) — — 4)
Issuance of common stock under the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan 583,17: 1 2,501 — — 2,50z
Stock-based compensation — — 11,87: — — 11,87:

Components of other comprehensive income (loss):
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable

securities, net of tax — — — (139) — (139)
Currency translation adjustments — — — (1,82 — (1,825
Net loss — — — — (57,689 (57,689
Balances, December 28, 2013 54,649,60 58 695,63: (249 (401,35) 294,08t
Issuance of common stock pursuant to vesting drficesd
stock units, net of stock withheld 1,282,44: 1 — — — 1
Issuance of common stock under the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan 586,38t 1 2,811 — — 2,81%
Stock-based compensation — — 13,23« — — 13,23«

Components of other comprehensive income (loss):
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketablergess)

net of tax — — — (10 = (10)
Currency translation adjustments — — — (1,5072) — (1,502)
Net loss — — — — (29,18%) (19,184
Balances, December 27, 2014 56,518,42 $ 57 $ 711,67t $ (1,76)) $ (420,53) $ 289,43

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Year Ended

December 27,2014 December 28, 2013 December 29, 2012
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss $ (19,189 $ (57,68) $ (35,546

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 30,49: 28,90¢ 16,90:
Amortization of discount on investments 20€ 462 91
Stock-based compensation expense 13,27¢ 12,12: 13,04¢
Deferred income tax provision (benefit) 23C 44k (24,46()
Provision (recovery) for doubtful accounts receleab 1 (29) 52
Provision for excess and obsolete inventories 7,127 10,46: 7,23:
(Gain) loss on disposal and write-off of long-livassets (20) 36E 41
Gain on settlement of litigation — — (3,250)
Impairment of long-lived assets 1,21¢ 761 421
Loss on sale of subsidiary — 30C —
Non-cash restructuring 60C 2,748 462
Foreign currency transaction losses 2,48¢ 62C 1,267

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (15,949 (2,107) 5,15¢
Inventories (11,979 (7,980 (92€)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (822 3,557 821
Refundable income taxes — 5,14: 27)
Other assets 25 13¢ 42€
Accounts payable 4,15¢ (2,329 (5,907)
Accrued liabilities 7,76 (2,479 (1,129
Income taxes payable (1,51) (34€) (2,14%)
Deferred rent and other liabilities 24¢ 83 167
Deferred revenues (726) 1,01« 1,06¢
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 17,65¢ (5,802 (26,22¢)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (5,670 (8,530 (7,952
Acquisition of MicroProbe, net of cash acquired — — (96,65)
Proceeds (use of cash) from sale of subsidiary 11E (210) —
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,114 61 —
Purchases of marketable securities (31,697 (91,339 (82,43
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities 73,47 90,38t 135,34(
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities — 2,00( 11,00(
Change in restricted cash — (11¢) —
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 37,33¢ (7,750 (40,707)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuances of common stock 2,818 2,60zZ 2,25]
Payments made on capital leases (271) (60%) (112)
Net cash provided by financing activities 2,542 1,99¢ 2,13¢
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casratmts (2,79¢) (1,499 (2,01¢)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent 54,74« (13,047 (66,80¢)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 59,19¢ 72,24; 139,04¢
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 113,94 % 59,19¢ $ 72,24%

Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Eairvahia af etnrl icciiad in rannactinn with thioddDraha Acnriicitine < — < — < 12 2Nt



Changes in accounts payable and accrued liabititlased to property, plant and
equipment purchases $ (122) $ 152¢ % 2,21¢

Working capital adjustment $ — G — G 2,78
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Income and property taxes paid (refunded), net $ 95C $ (6,152 $ (40)
The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—Formation and Business of the Company

FormFactor, Inc. ("FormFactor" or the "Company" atgb referred to as "we" or "our") was incorpodate Delaware on April 15, 1993
and designs, develops, manufactures, sells anadasgecision, high performance advanced semiatindprobe card products and solutions
We are based in Livermore, California, our corpemaffice, one of our main research and developroenters, and one of our manufacturing
locations. We have facilities in the United Statgisgapore, Japan, Taiwan, South Korea, GermanytenBeople's Republic of China.

Fiscal Year

Our fiscal year ends on the last Saturday in Deegmithe fiscal years ended on December 27, 20®tember 28, 2013 and
December 29, 2012 , respectively, consisted of &2ks each.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the paar's Consolidated Balance Sheet to conforthe@urrent year presentation.

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidation and Foreign Currency Trangian

The consolidated financial statements include cupants and those of our wholly-owned subsidiafdisntercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated.

The functional currencies of certain of our foregyrbsidiaries are the local currencies and, aceglgliall assets and liabilities of these
foreign operations are translated to U.S. Dollasuarent period end exchange rates, and revemgksxpenses are translated to U.S. Dollars
using average exchange rates in effect during ¢niegh. The gains and losses from the foreign cayréranslation of these subsidiaries'
financial statements are included as a separatpaoemt of stockholders' equity under “Accumulatéteo comprehensive income (loss).”

Certain other of our foreign subsidiaries use th®. Dollar as their functional currency. Accordinghonetary assets and liabilities in
non{functional currencies of these subsidiaries areeemured using exchange rates in effect at the fethe period. Revenues and costs in |
currency are remeasured using average exchangefoathe period, except for costs related to tHmdance sheet items that are remeasured
using historical exchange rates. The resulting esuement gains and losses are included in theoldated Statements of Operations as
incurred.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial states@ntonformity with accounting principles geneyalkcepted in the United States of
America ("GAAP") requires management to make egésmand assumptions that affect the reported amadirmtssets and liabilities, the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements, and the ted@mounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Estimates may change as nfaxnation is obtained. We believe that the estasaassumptions and judgments involved
in revenue recognition, fair value of marketableusities, allowance for doubtful accounts, reseffeegproduct warranty, valuation of obsolete
and slow moving inventory, assets acquired andliligs assumed in business combinations, legaticgancies, valuation of goodwill, the
assessment of recoverability of long-lived assethiation and recognition of stock-based compeosaprovision for income taxes and
valuation of deferred tax assets have the greptdsntial impact on our consolidated financialesta¢nts. Actual results could differ from ths
estimates.

Business Acquisitions

Our consolidated financial statements include therations of an acquired business after the coioplef the acquisition. We account
for acquired businesses using the acquisition ntetfi@ccounting. The acquisition method of accounfor acquired businesses requires,
among other things, that assets acquired anditiabihssumed be recognized at their estimatedddiles as of the acquisition date, and the
fair value of acquired intangibles including in-pess research and development (IPR&D) be recomdékenbalance sheet. Also, transaction
costs are expensed as incurred. Any excess oltlohgse price over the assigned fair values oh#i@ssets acquired is recorded as goodwill
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Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Cash and cash equivalents consist of depositsimadcial instruments which are readily convertiipt® cash and have original
maturities of 90 days or less at the time of adtjois Marketable securities consist primarily églily liquid investments with maturities of
greater than 90 days when purchased. We genetadlgify our marketable securities at the date qtimition as available-for-sale. These
securities are reported at fair value with theteglainrealized gains and losses included in "Acdatad other comprehensive income (loss)",
component of stockholder's equity, net of tax. Ainyealized losses which are considered to be dliz@r-temporary impairments are recorded
in "Other income, net" in the Consolidated Statetmen Operations. Realized gains (losses) on tleecganarketable securities are determined
using the specific-identification method and reeatdh "Other income, net" in the Consolidated Stegets of Operations.

All of our available-for-sale investments are sgbje a periodic impairment review. We record argkao earnings when a decline in
fair value is significantly below cost basis andged to be other-than-temporary, or have othecatdrs of impairments. If the fair value of an
available-for-sale investment is less than its dimed cost basis, an other-themporary impairment is triggered in circumstanebsre (1) w
intend to sell the instrument, (2) it is more lik¢han not that we will be required to sell thetinment before recovery of its amortized cost
basis or (3) a credit loss exists where we do rpeet to recover the entire amortized cost baste@fnstrument. If we intend to sell or it is
more likely than not that we will be required tdl siee available-forsale investment before recovery of its amortizest basis, we recognize
other-than- temporary impairment charge equal écetttire difference between the investment's ameattcost basis and its fair value.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We have evaluated the estimated fair value of fifrinstruments using available market informatéo valuations as provided by
third-party sources. The use of different marksuagptions and/or estimation methodologies couletesignificant effect on the estimated
fair value amounts. The fair value of the Compang'sh, cash equivalents, accounts receivable, atxpayable and other current liabilities
approximate their carrying amounts due to the ikedht short maturity of these items. Estimatesaif ¥alue of our marketable securities are
based on quoted market prices from active marketsiral party, market-based pricing sources whighbglieve to be reliable. These estimate:
represent the third parties' good faith opiniotcawhat a buyer in the marketplace would pay feeeurity in a current sale.

Whenever possible, the fair values of our finanagdets and liabilities are determined using quotaiket prices of identical assets or
guoted market prices of similar assets from aatineekets. The three levels of inputs that may be tseneasure fair value are as follows:

» Level 1 valuations are obtained from réate quotes for transactions in active exchangekataiinvolving identical asse

» Level 2 inputs other than Level 1 that are obakle, either directly or indirectly, such as qubpeices for similar assets or
liabilities, quoted prices near the reporting datmarkets that are less active, or other inpuas éine observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data for subiathnthe full term of the assets or liabilities.

» Level 3 valuations are based on unobservablgtsno the valuation methodology and include oun @ata about assumptions
market participants would use in pricing the assdiability based on the best information availabhder the circumstances.

Each level of input has different levels of subijétt and difficulty involved in determining fairalue.
Foreign Exchange Management

We transact business in various foreign currendésenter into forward foreign exchange contractan effort to mitigate the risks
associated with currency fluctuations on certaneifin currency balance sheet exposures. Gainsoardd resulting from the impact of
currency exchange rate movements on forward forexghange contracts designated to offset certa@igio currency balance sheet exposure:
are recognized as "Other income, net" in the Caaatad Statements of Operations in the period iithvthe exchange rates change. These
gains and losses are intended to partially offsefdreign currency exchange gains and losseseouarttierlying exposures being hedged. We
record the fair value of these contracts as okttt of our reporting period in the ConsolidatedaBak Sheet. We do not use derivative
financial instruments for trading or speculativepmses.
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Restricted Cash

Under the terms of one of our facility leases, wevjgle security to the landlord in the form of &# of credit. As of December 27, 2014
and December 28, 2013, restricted cash includetifidlion each, respectively, for letters of cieskcured by a certificate of deposit.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (ppalty standard cost which approximates actual oonst first-in, first-out basis) or market
value. The provision for potentially excess andoidte inventory is made based on management'sasaliyinventory levels and forecasted
future sales. On a quarterly basis, we review itmgnguantities on hand and on order under nonaabte purchase commitments in
comparison to our past usage and estimated foretpsbduct demand for the next six to twelve martthdetermine what inventory quantiti
if any, may not be sellable. Based on this analyseswrite down the affected inventory value fotireated excess and obsolescence charges.
Once the value is adjusted, the original cost ofioventory less the related inventory write-dowepnesents the new cost basis of such
products. Reversal of these write downs is recaghanly when the related inventory has been schppsold. Shipping and handling costs
are classified as a component of "Cost of revenimetie Consolidated Statements of Operations.

We design, manufacture and sell a fully custom pecoihto a market that has been subject to cydfycahd significant demand
fluctuations. Probe cards are complex productdpauso a specific chip design and have to be dediven short lead-times. Probe cards are
manufactured in low volumes, but for certain matistithe purchases are often subject to minimuraragdantities in excess of the actual
underlying probe card demand. It is not uncommaru$oto acquire production materials and commenoédyztion activities based on
estimated production yields and forecasted demand o or in excess of actual demand for our prodels. These factors result in normal
recurring inventory valuation adjustments to cdsiewenues. Aggregate inventory write downs werd $illion , $10.5 million and $7.2
million for fiscal 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respeely

When our products have been delivered, but theeyassociated with that product is deferred becthesrelated revenue recognition
criteria have not been met, we may defer the releeentory costs. The deferred inventory costeiakexceed the deferred revenue amounts.
The deferred inventory costs are classified ag@poment of "Prepaid expenses and other currentsdsse¢he Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost less adeted depreciation and amortization. Depreciaisgorovided on a straight-line
method over the following estimated useful liveshaf assets: 1 to 5 years for machinery and equipriie@o 5 years for computer equipment
and software and 1 to 5 years for furniture antlfes. Leasehold improvements are amortized oeesltbrter of the lease term or the
estimated useful life of the related asset. Contt-in-progress assets are not depreciated thetihssets are placed in service. Upon sale or
retirement of assets, the cost and related acciecubepreciation or amortization, are removed ftbenbalance sheet and the resulting gain o
loss is reflected in operations.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of identifiable assets aalignd liabilities assumed. We have
determined that we operate in one reportable segooasisting of two operating segments relatinguo FormFactor and MicroProbe product
groups. We further have determined that for thepses of our goodwill impairment analysis, we hae reporting units relating to our
FormFactor and MicroProbe product groups and wharehboth associated with the design, developmemtufacture, sale and support of
precision, high performance advanced semicondyctdye card products and solutions.

The FASB, in order to simplify testing goodwill fonpairment, allows an entity to first assess datlie factors to determine whether it
is necessary to perform a two-step quantitativedgabimpairment test. If an entity determines agault of the qualitative assessment that it i
more likely than not that the fair value of a rapuy unit is less than its carrying amount, them gluantitative impairment test is required.
Otherwise, no further testing is required.

The performance of the quantitative impairment iregblves a two-step process. The first step ofitingairment test involves comparing
the fair values of the applicable reporting unitéhwtheir aggregate carrying values, including geitldWe generally determine the fair values
of our reporting units using a combination of thedme approach (that includes the use of the digedwcash flow method) and the market
approach (guideline company approach) valuatiorhadetlogies. If the carrying amount of a reportimit @xceeds the fair value of that
reporting unit, we perform the second step of thengitative impairment test to determine the amadimtpairment loss. The second step of
the goodwill impairment test involves comparing implied fair value of the affected reporting unifoodwill with the carrying value of that



goodwill.
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We acquired Astria Semiconductor Holdings, Inccjuding its major subsidiary Micro-Probe Incorp@@i{together "MicroProbe")
which we refer to as the "MicroProbe Acquisitioahd performed a fair value assessment as of thesition date, October 16, 2012, resulting
in our current goodwill balance. We performed ounw@al goodwill impairment test for both reportingits in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014
and 2013, respectively. No impairment charges @ssatwith our goodwill were recorded during fis2@ll4 and fiscal 2013. Refer to note ¢
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme« Goodwill and Intangible Assets for further details.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of acquisition relateédngible assets and intellectual property. Thenigitzle assets are being amortized over
periods which reflect the pattern in which econobgaefits of the assets are expected to be realied 1 to 1§¢ears. We perform a review
intangible assets when facts and circumstancesatelthat the useful life is shorter than origipaétimated or that the carrying amount of
assets may not be recoverable. Such facts andrstances include significant adverse changes ibubiess climate or legal factors; current
period cash flow or operating losses combined wittistory of losses or a forecast of continuingéssassociated with the use of the intangibl
assets; and current expectation that the intangisets will more likely than not be sold or disgmbef before the end of their estimated useful
lives. We assess the recoverability of identifie@ngible assets by comparing the projected undiged net cash flows associated with the
related asset or group of assets over their renmihies against their respective carrying amountpairments, if any, are based on the exces
of the carrying amount over the fair value of thaseets.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We test long-lived assets or asset groups suchogerty, plant and equipment and intangible adsetsecoverability when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that their gagrgimounts may not be recoverable. Circumstancehwbuld trigger a review include, but
are not limited to: significant decreases in thekagaprice of the asset; significant adverse chamgéhe business climate or legal factors;
accumulation of costs significantly in excess & #mount originally expected for the acquisitiorconstruction of the asset; current period
cash flow or operating losses combined with a hystd losses or a forecast of continuing losses@ated with the use of the asset; and cui
expectation that the asset will more likely tham @ sold or disposed of before the end of itsvestitd useful life.

Recoverability is assessed based on the carryirmyiats of the asset or asset group and the sune afrttiscounted cash flows expected
to result from the use and the eventual dispostiefisset. An impairment loss is recognized whercarrying amount is not recoverable and
exceeds fair value.

In fiscal 2014, we did not experience events onges in circumstances which would indicate thatcireying amounts of our longred
assets or asset groups were not recoverable. Dilménfpurth quarter of fiscal 2013, we reviewed tbeoverability of our long-lived asset
groups and we concluded that our business wag@ll#ly recover the carrying amounts of our asséte performed an enterprise-wide
impairment test in the fourth fiscal quarter of 2@&nd no enterprise-wide impairment charges wererded. Refer to Note 6 to Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statementsnpairment of Long-lived Assets, for additional information.

Long-Lived Assets Held For Sale

We classify long-lived assets as held for sale wdetain criteria are met, including: managemerttamitment to a plan to sell the
assets; the availability of the assets for immedsate in their present condition; whether an agbogram to locate buyers and other actions t
sell the assets has been initiated; whether tleeaddhe assets is probable and their transferpeaed to qualify for recognition as a completec
sale within one year; whether the assets are beargeted at reasonable prices in relation to fla@ivalue; and whether it is unlikely that
significant changes will be made to the plan tbthel assets.

We measure long-lived assets to be disposed oddlleyas the lower of the carrying amount or fairnaless cost to sell. Fair value is
determined using quoted market prices or the gatied cash flows discounted at a rate commenswititéhe risk involved. Changes to our
estimated fair values of such assets are recordéggeiperiods in which such changes are identified.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and thrtainties

Financial instruments that potentially subjectaisdancentrations of credit risk consist primarifycash equivalents, marketable
securities and trade receivables. Our cash equitsaéind marketable securities are held in safekgdpj large, credit worthy financial
institutions. We invest our excess cash primarilyiS. banks, government and agency bonds, mongketrfands and corporate obligations.
We have established guidelines relative to credihgs, diversification and maturities that seeknmintain safety and liquidity. Deposits in
these banks may exceed the amounts of insurang&edoon such deposits. To date, we have not expesd any losses on our deposits of
cash and cash equivalents.
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We market and sell our products to a narrow bassistomers and generally do not require collat@iaé. following customers
represented greater than 10% of our revenuesdal {14 , fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 :

Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012

Intel 19.71% 17.1% * 0%

SK hynix 16.€ 16.5 29.4

Micron 15.C 117 13.c

Samsung * * 12.4
Total 51.6% 45.5% 55.1%

* Less than 10% of revenues

At December 27, 2014 , two customers accounte@686 and 18% of gross accounts receivable. At Deee@®, 2013 , threeustomer
accounted for 21% , 15% and 11% of gross accoentsivable. We operate in the intensely compet#emiconductor industry, including the
Dynamic Random Access Memory, or DRAM, Flash memand System-on-Chip, or SoC, markets, which haenltharacterized by price
erosion, rapid technological change, short protifectcyclical market patterns and heightened fgmeand domestic competition. Significant
technological changes in the industry could advigkect our operating results.

We are exposed to ngrerformance risk by counterparties on the currdoeyward exchange contracts used in hedging acsuitiVe
seek to minimize risk by diversifying our hedgingbgram across multiple financial institutions. Theunterparties are large internatis
financial institutions, and to date no such coyrdety has failed to meet its financial obligatidosis.

Certain components for our probe card productsrttest our requirements are available only fronmétéid number of suppliers. The
rapid rate of technological change and the negeskileveloping and manufacturing products withrslhife cycles may intensify our reliance
on such suppliers. The inability to obtain compdsaers required, or to develop alternative souiitesd as required in the future, could result
in delays or reductions in product shipments, whiicturn could have a material adverse effect anbmginess, financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidencaalba arrangement exists, title and risk of losstrensferred to the customer, the
selling price is fixed or determinable and collentof the related receivable is reasonably assimadstances where final acceptance of the
deliverable is specified by the customer, revesuwteferred until all acceptance criteria have reet Revenues from the licensing of our
design and manufacturing technology, which havebeen material to date, are recognized over time ¢éithe license agreement or when the
significant contractual obligations have been figifi.

Warranty Obligations

We offer warranties on certain products and reediidbility for the estimated future costs assamawith warranty claims at the time
revenue is recognized. The warranty liability isd upon historical experience and our estimatBeofevel of future costs. While we engage
in product quality programs and processes, ouraméyrobligation is affected by product failure sgtenaterial usage and service delivery cost:
incurred in correcting a product failure. We continsly monitor product returns for warranty andmtein a reserve for the related expenses
based upon our historical experience and any spaltyfidentified field failures. As we sell newgaucts to our customers, we must exercise
considerable judgment in estimating the expectédréarates. This estimating process is based stotical experience of similar products, as
well as various other assumptions that we believgetreasonable under the circumstances.

We provide for the estimated cost of product waiesrat the time revenue is recognized. Warransyscare reflected in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations as a cosvehues. A reconciliation of the changes in ouraray liability is as follows (in thousand:
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Fiscal Years Ended
December 27, December 28,

2014 2013
Balance at beginning of year $ 691 $ 734
Accruals 2,972 1,91¢
Settlements (2,077) (1,959
Balance at end of year $ 159: $ 691

Research and Development

Research and development expenses include expretestes! to product development, engineering anerizdicosts. All research and
development costs are expensed as incurred.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The majority of our trade receivables are derivedifsales to large multinational semiconductor nfaeturers throughout the world. In
order to monitor potential credit losses, we penf@ngoing credit evaluations of our customers'rfaial condition. An allowance for doubtful
accounts is maintained based upon our assessmtrg expected collectability of all accounts reebie. The allowance for doubtful accounts
is reviewed and assessed for adequacy on a qyaraeis. We take into consideration (1) any cirdamses of which we are aware of a
customer's inability to meet its financial obligats and (2) our judgments as to prevailing econawitlitions in the industry and their impact
on our customers. If circumstances change, anfirtaacial condition of our customers is adversdfgeted and they are unable to meet their
financial obligations, we may need to take adddiadlowances, which would result in an increaseunoperating expense.

The allowance for doubtful accounts receivable =ted of the following activity for fiscal years 20, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

Balance at Balance at

Beginning of Yeal Additions Reductions End of Year

Fiscal year ended December 29, 2012 $ 236 $ 20z $ (151) $ 28¢
Fiscal year ended December 28, 2013 28¢ — (29 26t
Fiscal year ended December 27, 2014  $ 26t $ 5 % 4 $ 26€

Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges include costs related to eyegl termination benefits, cost of long-lived assdtandoned or impaired, as well as
contract termination costs. The determination oémwtve accrue for employee termination benefits dep@®n whether the termination benefits
are provided under a one-time benefit arrangemeuander an on-going benefit arrangement. For regiring charges recorded as an on-goinc
benefit arrangement, a liability for post-employmbenefits is recorded when payment is probabathount is reasonably estimable, and th
obligation relates to rights that have vested euauwilated. For restructuring charges recordedasedime benefit arrangement, we recognize
a liability for employee termination benefits wheeplan of termination, approved by management atabishing the terms of the benefit
arrangement, has been communicated to employeedinimg of the recognition of one-time employeentimation benefits is dependent upon
the period of time the employees are required idee service after communication. If employeesnaterequired to render service in order to
receive the termination benefits or if employeel mat be retained to render service beyond thamum legal notification period, a liability
for the termination benefits is recognized at tbenmunication date. In instances where employeddwitetained to render service beyond th
minimum legal notification period, the liability f@employee termination benefits is measured imjtial the communication date based on the
fair value of the liability as of the terminatioaté and is recognized ratably over the future serperiod. We continually evaluate the adeq
of the remaining liabilities under our restructgrinitiatives.

We record charges related to long-lived assetg tahfandoned when the assets cease to be usedvi&lhease using a building or other
asset with remaining non-cancelable lease payneentinuing beyond our use period, we record alltgtfor remaining payments under lease
arrangements and contract termination costs thdireee for the remaining term without economic #rie us at the cease-use date. Given th
significance of, and the timing of the executiorsoth activities, this process is complex and meslperiodic reassessments of estimates ma
at the time the original decisions were made, idiclg evaluating real estate market conditions fpeeted vacancy periods and dabse rent:
Although we believe that these estimates accuragdligct the costs of our restructuring plans, actasults may differ, thereby requiring us to
record additional provisions or reverse a portibeuzh provisions.
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The Company recorded restructuring charges of @#lion , $4.7 million and $2.9 million for fiscalears 2014 , 2013 and 2012 ,
respectively. Refer to Note Restructuring Chargesin Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementsdaher details.

Income Taxes

We utilize the asset and liability method of acdmmfor income taxes, under which deferred taxesdetermined based on the
temporary differences between the financial statérand tax basis of assets and liabilities usimgates expected to be in effect during the
years in which the basis differences reverse andgerating losses and tax credit carryforwards.eatemate our provision for income ta»
and amounts ultimately payable or recoverable menous tax jurisdictions around the world. Estimateolve interpretations of regulations
and are inherently complex. Resolution of incomettaatments in individual jurisdictions may notl®wn for many years after completion
of any fiscal year. We are required to evaluater¢iadizability of our deferred tax assets on ancamg basis to determine whether there is a
need for a valuation allowance with respect to sieferred tax assets. A valuation allowance isndabwhen it is more likely than not that
some or all of the deferred tax assets will notdadized. Significant management judgment is reglin determining any valuation allowance
recorded against deferred tax assets. In evaluttagbility to recover deferred tax assets, wesictian all available positive and negative
evidence giving greater weight to our recent cutivgdosses and our ability to carryback lossesreggrior taxable income and,
commensurate with objective verifiability, the foast of future taxable income including the reviesséemporary differences and the
implementation of feasible and prudent tax planmtgtegies.

We recognize and measure uncertain tax positid@ntar expected to be taken in a tax return & inore likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained on examination by thertg authorities, based on the technical merithefposition. The tax benefits recognized in
the consolidated financial statements from suclitipas are then measured based on the largestibdrathas a greater than 50 percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settle&Ve report a liability for unrecognized tax bBtseresulting from uncertain tax positions
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Wjlesathese reserves in light of changing facts@raimstances, such as the closing of a tax
audit or the refinement of an estimate. To themeat the final tax outcome of these mattersffernt than the amounts recorded, such
differences will impact the provision for incomeés in the period in which such determination islmaa he provision for income taxes
includes the impact of reserve provisions and chang reserves that are considered appropriateclaas the related net interest. We
recognize interest and penalties related to unmzed tax benefits within the income tax provisiéecrued interest and penalties are include
within the related tax liability caption line inglconsolidated balance sheet.

We file annual income tax returns in multiple taxjnrisdictions around the world. A number of yearay elapse before an uncertain
position is audited and finally resolved. Whilésitoften difficult to predict the final outcome thre timing of resolution of any particular
uncertain tax position, we believe that our reseffee income taxes reflect the most likely outcoiMe adjust these reserves, as well as the
related interest, in light of changing facts amduwinstances. Settlement of any particular positimund require the use of cash.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize compensation expense for all stockébawards based on the grant-date estimated faiesjanet of an estimated
forfeiture rate. The value of the portion of theaad/that is ultimately expected to vest is recogthias expense ratably over the requisite se
periods in our Consolidated Statement of Operati®he fair value of stock options is measured usfiregBlack-Scholes option pricing model
while the fair value for restricted stock awardd astricted stock units is measured based onltiseng market price of our common stock on
the date of grant.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividirtdass by the weighted-average number of commoreshautstanding for the period.
Diluted net loss per share is computed giving éffeall potential dilutive common stock, includistpck options, restricted stock units and
common stock subject to repurchase. Diluted lossipare was based only on the weighted-average ewafishares outstanding during that
period as the inclusion of any common stock eqeivial would have been anti-dilutive.
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A reconciliation of the numerator and denominatediin the calculation of basic and diluted nes losr share is as follows (in
thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 27, December 28, December 29,
2014 2013 2012
Numerator:
Net loss used in computing basic and diluted res lo
per share $ (19,189 $ (57,68) $ (35,54

Denominator:

Weighted-average shares used in computing basic net
loss per share 55,90¢ 54,20: 50,55

Add potentially dilutive securities — — —

Weighted-average shares used in computing basic and )
diluted net loss per share 55,90¢ 54,20« 50,55!

The following table sets forth the weighted-averagmber of potentially dilutive securities excludeam the computation in the table
above because their effect would have been antiirel (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 27, December 28, December 29,

2014 2013 2012
Options to purchase common stock 2,87¢ 3,80¢ 4,43(
Restricted stock units — 373 1,24¢
Employee stock purchase plan 28 22 39
Total potentially dilutive securities 2,90z 4,20( 5,71t

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss includesdoreurrency translation adjustments and unrealizesks on available-for-sale
securities net of tax, the impact of which has beariuded from earnings and reflected as comporadrstockholders' equity.

Components of accumulated other comprehensivenlassas follows (in thousands):

December 27, December 28,

2014 2013
Unrealized loss on marketable securities, net>obfa5428

in fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2013, respectively $ (419 $ (409)
Cumulative translation adjustments (1,342 16C
Accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (176) % (249)

Note 3—Balance Sheet Components
Marketable Securities

Marketable securities at December 27, 2014 consitéhe following (in thousands):

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. Treasuries $ 42,38 $ 13 $ 4 $ 42,39
Agency securities (Federal) 7,50z — — 7,50z
$ 49,88¢ $ 13 % 4 $ 49,89
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Marketable securities at December 28, 2013 comkatéhe following (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. Treasuries $ 48,99. $ 33 % (AC) $ 49,01«
Commercial paper 11,62: — — 11,62:
Agency securities (Federal) 31,26 1 (4) 31,25¢
$ 9187 $ 34 3 aa s 91,89¢

We classify our marketable securities as availédresale. All marketable securities represent thestment of funds available for
current operations, notwithstanding their contrattmaturities. Such marketable securities are dambat fair value and unrealized gains and
losses are recorded in accumulated other comprizednsome until realized.

We typically invest in highly-rated securities witw probabilities of default. Our investment pgli@quires investments to be rated
single-A or better, limits the types of acceptahleestments, concentration as to security holddrdamation of the investment. The gross
unrealized losses on the Company's investmentsdalf2014 and 2013 , respectively, were causedarily by changes in interest rates.

Our investment portfolio consists of both corporatel government securities that have a maximumpnityatf three years. The longer
the duration of these securities, the more suddepitiey are to changes in market interest ratddand yields. As yields increase, those
securities with a lower yield-at-cost show a mark¥tarket unrealized loss. We do not have a forddeaeeed to liquidate the portfolio and
anticipate recovering the full cost of the secesiteither as market conditions improve, or as éearties mature. Accordingly, we believe that
the unrealized losses are not other-than-temporary.

When evaluating the investments for other-than-tanauy impairment, we review factors such as thgtieiof time and extent to which
fair value has been below the amortized cost besisew of current market liquidity, interest raisk, the financial condition of the issuer, as
well as credit rating downgrades. We do not haf@eseeable need to liquidate the portfolio anita#te recovering the full cost of the
securities either as market conditions improvesatha securities mature.

As of December 27, 2014 and December 28, 2013¢ nbour investments had been in a continuousgosgion for 12months or mor:

The contractual maturities of marketable securdesf December 27, 2014 and December 28, 2013asdi@lows (in thousands):

December 27, 2014 December 28, 2013
Amortized Cost Fair Value Amortized Cost Fair Value
Due in one year or less $ 38,49¢ $ 38,50¢ $ 59,88t $ 59,89«
Due after one year to five years 11,38¢ 11,38¢ 31,98% 32,00:

$ 49,88t $ 4989 $ 91,87 $ 91,89¢

Realized gains on sales or maturities of marketsddeirities were immaterial for each of the fisedrs 2014 , 2013, and 2012,
respectively.

Asset Retirement Obligations

We account for the fair value of a liability for asset retirement obligation to be recognized énpidriod in which it is incurred if a
reasonable estimate of fair value can be madefdihealue of the liability is added to the carrgiamount of the associated asset and this
additional carrying amount is amortized over tffie ¢if the asset. Our asset retirement obligati@s#ociated with our commitment to return
property subject to operating leases in Taiwanils&orea, Singapore and Japan to their originatlt@mm upon lease termination. We have
estimated that as of December 27, 2014 , grossceeghéuture cash flows of $0.9 million would be wegd to fulfill these obligations.

The carrying amount of the leasehold improvemesdslting from asset retirement obligations werg/faimortized by fiscal 2013 and
over the original term of the related leases. Lleakkimprovements amortization expense was imnaltit each of fiscal years 2013 and
2012.
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The following is a reconciliation of the aggregegérement liability associated with our commitmémtreturn property to its original
condition upon lease termination included in norrent "Deferred rent and other liabilities” in tBensolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27, December 28,

2014 2013
Asset retirement obligation beginning balance $ 98¢ $  1,29-
Liabilities settled — (169
Currency translation (85) (13%)
Asset retirement obligation ending balance $ 90: % 98¢

Inventories

Net inventories consisted of the following (in tisands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27, December 28,

2014 2013
Raw materials $ 10,64t $ 7,411
Work-in-progress 12,81 10,53
Finished goods 2,08¢ 2,76¢

$ 25548 $  20,70°

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the¥atg (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27, December 28,

2014 2013
Building $ —  $ 79C
Machinery and equipment 145,99! 143,46
Computer equipment and software 28,95 34,54%
Capital leases — 86¢€
Furniture and fixtures 5,402 5,49¢
Leasehold improvements 66,82: 67,38¢
Sub-total 247,17: 252,54!
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (224,13)) (221,344
Net long-lived assets 23,03¢ 31,19¢
Construction-in-progress 2,462 3,991
Total $ 2549t $ 35,19(

In fiscal 2014 , we ceased use of fully depreciagskbts with an acquired cost of $6.6 millionfisnal 2013 , we did not cease use any
fully depreciated assets.

As discussed in Note 6 to the Notes to Consolidkiedncial Statementd mpairment of Long-lived Assets, in fiscal 2014 , 2013 and
2012 , we recorded aggregated impairment charg&s.a8fmillion , $0.8 million and $0.4 million in olong-lived assets, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization of property, plard aquipment, excluding the impairments chargesudsed above, for the fiscal years
2014 , 2013 and 2012 was $11.7 million , $12.2iamiland $10.3 million , respectively.
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Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following (inousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 27, December 28,

2014 2013
Accrued compensation and benefits $ 12,43 $ 7,97¢
Accrued indirect and other taxes 2,22 1,40(
Accrued commissions 46C 44¢
Accrued warranty 1,592 691
Deferred rent 21¢€ 154
Accrued restructuring 584 13¢
Other accrued expenses 3,711 3,17¢

$ 21,217 $ 13,98¢

Note 4—Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges include costs related to eyepl termination benefits, cost of long-lived assdtandoned or impaired, as well as
contract termination costs. Restructuring chargeseflected separately as "Restructuring chamgss,in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. A summary of the actions we have takeimg fiscal 2014 , 2013, and 2012 , the purpdsehich were to improve operating
efficiency, streamline and simplify our operati@msl reduce our operating costs, are discussed below

2014 Restructuring Activities

On January 27, 2014, we announced a global org#omzd restructuring and cost reduction plan. Ag pathe plan, the Company
eliminated 52 full-time employees. In addition, reeluced our temporary workforce by 9 positions. rrded $2.0 million of restructuring
charges during the first quarter of fiscal 2014jchitwas comprised of $1.4 million in severance eeldted benefits and $0.6 million in
impairment charges for certain equipment that wanaddonger be utilized. During the remainder o€éis2014, we further eliminated an
additional 5 full-time employees and recorded $8ilfion in severance charges.

The liabilities we accrued represent our best egtrof the obligations we expect to incur and cdiddubject to adjustment as market
conditions change. The activities comprising thres¢ructuring activities were substantially comgdein fiscal 2014 and the remaining cash
payments associated with these activities are ¢ésgeo be paid by the end of the first fiscal geadf 2015.

2013 Restructuring Activities

I n the first fiscal quarter of 2013, we implemendeastructuring plan (the "Q1 2013 RestructurirenPl which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by 31 employeesoas the organization. In addition we reducedtemnporary workforce by approximately
20 positions. We also suspended development aesvand engineering efforts for our next generabl &AM Matrix platform and terminated
development activities for a certain SoC produatfptrm. We recorded $4.0 million of restructurifgacges during the first fiscal quarter of
2013, which was comprised of $1.3 million in sewe®and related benefits and $2.7 million in impa&int charges for certain equipment that
would no longer be utilized.

I n the fourth fiscal quarter of 2013, we implemerde®structuring plan (the "Q4 2013 Restructuriten® which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by 17 full-timenployees across the organization. In addition, @geiced our temporary workforce by 17
positions. We recorded $0.4 million of restructgroharges during the fourth fiscal quarter of 2fir3everance and related benefits.

The above activities comprising the reduction inkfarce were completed in fiscal 2013. The remaréash payments as of December
28, 2013 associated with the various reductiongarkforce were paid in fiscal 2014.
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2012 Restructuring Activities

In the second fiscal quarter of 2012, we record®d $illion in charges for severance and relatetebts related to restructuring
activities. This resulted in the reduction of olotapl workforce by one full-time employee across tiiganization. The activities comprising
this restructuring activity were completed in fise@12.

In the third fiscal quarter of 2012, we implemengeckstructuring plan (the "Q3 2012 Restructuritan® which resulted in the reducti
of our global workforce by 44 employees acrossatganization. In conjunction with this action, weainitiated a plan to cease our memory
product assembly and test manufacturing operatrodapan. We recorded $1.8 million in severancerataded benefits, $0.2 million in
charges for contract termination, and other cadtged to restructuring activities during the gearelated to this plan, and $0.4 million in
impairment charges for certain equipment and lezldémprovements that would no longer be utiliz€de activities comprising this reduction

in workforce were completed by the end of fiscal 20

In the fourth fiscal quarter of 2012, we implemehgerestructuring plan (the "Q4 2012 RestructuRtan") which resulted in the
reduction of our global workforce by four employeesoss the organization. We recorded $0.4 millioseverance and related benefits relate
to restructuring activities. The activities compristhis reduction in workforce were completediscél 2013.

The following table summarizes the activities rethto the restructuring actions from fiscal 2012@d.4 (in thousands):

Employee Property and Contract
Severance and  Equipment Termination
Benefits Impairment  and Other Costs Total

Accrual at December 31, 2011 $ 20C $ — 8 — 3 20C
Restructuring charges 2,261 462 194 2,917
Adjustments to restructuring charges — — 31 31
Cash payments (1,919 — (157) (2,070
Non-cash settlements — (462) — (462)
Accrual at December 31, 2012 54¢ — 68 61€
Restructuring charges 2,08: 2,74: 15 4,841
Asset impairments — (2,749 — (2,749
Adjustments to restructuring charges (17¢) 5) — (183)
Cash payments (2,320 (32 ()] (2,369
Non-cash settlements 5 37 (66) (29
Accrual at December 28, 2013 13¢ — — 13¢
Restructuring charges 2,06¢ 60C — 2,66¢
Asset impairments — (600 — (600
Cash payments (1,620 — — (1,620
Non-cash settlements 2 — — 2
Accrual at December 27, 2014 $ 584 $ —  $ — $ 584
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Note 5—Derivative Financial Instruments

We operate and sell our products in various glotaikets. As a result, we are exposed to chandesdign currency exchange rates.
We utilize foreign currency forward contracts talpe against future movements in foreign exchangs that affect certain existing foreign
currency denominated assets and liabilities. Uttderprogram, our strategy is to have increaseteoreases in our foreign currency exposure:
offset by gains or losses on the foreign curremmewérd contracts to mitigate the risks and volgtéissociated with foreign currency transac
gains or losses. We do not use derivative finanegituments for speculative or trading purposas. @&rivative instruments are not designate
as hedging instruments for accounting purposesowaegly, changes in the fair value of these hedgesecorded in earnings to offset the
changes in the fair value of the assets or lidédlibeing hedged. We record the fair value of tltesgracts as of the end of our reporting perioc
to our Consolidated Balance Sheet with changeaiirvélue recorded within " Other income, net 'bir Consolidated Statement of Operation:
for both realized and unrealized gains and losses.

As of December 27, 2014 , there were three outsigrfdreign exchange forward contracts, one cohtasell Japanese Yen and two
contracts to buy Korean Won and Taiwan Dollars. fitlewing tables provide information about ourdayn currency forward contracts
outstanding as of December 27, 2014 and Decemb&@028 (in thousands):

December 27, Contract Amount Contract Amount
2014 Contract Position (Local Currency) (U.S. Dollar)
(In thousands)
Japanese Yen Sell 1,955,790 $ 16,24:
Taiwan Dollar Buy (30,88¢) (977)
Korean Won Buy (1,763,05) (1,619
Total USD notional amount of outstanding foreign )
exchange contracts $ 13,65
December 28, Contract Amount Contract Amount
2013 Contract Position (Local Currency) (U.S. Dollar)
(In thousands)
Japanese Yen Sell 439,32t $ 4,17¢
Taiwan Dollar Buy (23,777 (462)
Korean Won Buy (1,034,31) (98%)
Total USD notional amount of outstanding foreign
exchange contracts $ 2,72¢

The contracts outstanding at December 27, 2014 amrred into on December 26, 2014 and maturecwmmady 27, 2015 for the
Japanese Yen, Korean Won and Taiwan Dollar. Owidarcurrency contracts are classified within Le¥elf the fair value hierarchy as they
are valued using pricing models that utilize obable market inputs. There was no change in theevailithese contracts as of December 27,
2014 . Additionally, no gains or losses relatingtte outstanding derivative contracts as of Decer@Bbe2014 and December 28, 2013 were
recorded during their respective fiscal periods.

The location and amount of gains (losses) relaietbh-designated derivative instruments that mdturdiscal 2014 and 2013 in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations are as fsl{@wthousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

Location of Gain (Loss)

Recognized December 27,  December 28,
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments on Derivatives 2014 2013
Foreign exchange forward contracts Other Income, net $ 1,76¢ $ (5)
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Note 6—Impairment of Long-lived Assets

The following table summarizes the components efittpairments that we recorded in fiscal 2014 38id 2012 (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27, December 28, December 29,

2014 2013 2012
Impairment of long-lived assets:
Assets held for sale $ 191 $ — $ 16€
Assets to be disposed of other than by sale 1,02¢ 761 258
Total $ 1,21¢ $ 761 $ 421

Assets held for sale

During fiscal 2014 , we reclassified $0.6 milliohtwilding and $0.5 million of machinery and equigmi from "Property, plant and
equipment, net" to "Prepaid expenses and otheecuassets" in our balance sheet as these asset&dertified as held for sale. In the same
fiscal year, we recorded a gain of $0.2 million &5@.0 thousand on the sale of the building anchinacy and equipment, respectively. In
addition, we also recorded a $0.2 million impairtneimarge related to machinery and equipment whia$ eld for sale. There were no long-
lived assets classified as held for sale as of Deee 27, 2014.

In fiscal 2013 , we did not record any impairmemaige on assets held for sale. In fiscal 2012 rewerded a $0.2 million charge related
to certain assets which were previously held fég #zat were determined to be no longer salealdeuard for internal purposes.

These impairments were included within "Impairmeflong-lived assets" in the Consolidated Statenoé@perations for their
respective periods.

Assets to be disposed of other than by sale

In fiscal 2014 and 2013, we recorded impairmeargés of $1.2 million and $0.8 million , respeclyvdor manufacturing assets and
software that we no longer utilize. In fiscal 2Q2&2e recorded $0.2 million of charges related ®tdrmination of on-going construction-in-
progress projects.

All of these charges are included in "Impairmenloofg-lived assets" in the Consolidated Statemeh@perations for their respective
periods.

Refer to Note 8 to the Notes to Consolidated Fir@rgtatements Goodwill and Intangible Assets for further details relating to our
intangible long-lived assets.

Note 7—Fair Value

We use fair value measurements to record adjustntertertain financial and ndimancial assets and to determine fair value d&ales
The carrying amounts of certain of our financiatinments, including cash and cash equivalentsuats receivable, accounts payable,
accrued compensation and other accrued liabilidpproximate fair value because of their short nitéés. Our marketable securities are
financial assets recorded at fair value on a réoyityasis.

The accounting standards for fair value definesvalue, establishes a framework for measuringviaine and requires disclosures ak
fair value measurements. Fair value is definedhagptice that would be received from selling aretiss paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the ureagent date. When determining the fair value measents for assets and liabilities
required to be recorded at fair value, we condidemprincipal or most advantageous market in winetwould transact and consider
assumptions that market participants would use vghieimg the asset or liability, such as inheresit,rtransfer restrictions, and risk of
nonperformance. The accounting standard establesfeis value hierarchy that requires an entityneximize the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs when méagfair value. A financial instrument's categotiaa within the fair value hierarchy is
based upon the lowest level of input that is sigaiit to the fair value measurement. The standesdribes a fair value hierarchy based on:
levels of inputs, the first two of which are coresield observable and the last unobservable. We #épplfpllowing fair value hierarchy, which
prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair vadsdollows:



» Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical aseetiabilities
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» Level 2—lInputs, other than the quoted priceadtive markets, such as quoted prices for simgaets or liabilities, quoted prices near
the reporting date in markets that are less aabivether inputs that are observable or can beoborated by observable market data
for substantially the full term of the assets ablities.

» Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supportetitthe or no market activity and that are sigoént to the fair value of the assets or
liabilities.

We obtain the fair value of our Level 1 investmantsertain money market funds, at the expectedketarice. These investments are
expected to maintain a net asset value of $1 meesh

We determine the fair value of our Level 2 finaha@istruments from several third party asset margagristodian banks, and the
accounting service providers. Independently, tiseseice providers use professional pricing servioggather pricing data, which may include
guoted market prices for identical or comparabstriments or inputs other than quoted prices tteabbservable either directly or indirectly.

We utilize the market approach to measure thevidire of our fixed income securities. The markegtrapch is avaluation technique th
uses prices and other relevant information genéitagemarket transactions involving identical or garable assets or liabilities. The fair value
of our fixed income securities is obtained usinadily-available market prices from a variety of industtgndard data providers, large finan
institutions, and other third-party sources for ithentical underlying securities.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

We measure and report certain assets and liabilitiéair value on a recurring basis, including mpmarket funds, U.S. Treasury
securities, agency securities, commercial paperf@mign currency derivatives (refer to Note 5 tonSolidated Financial Statements -
Derivative Financial Instruments for a discussion of fair value of foreign currerdsrivatives).

Fair values measured on a recurring basis as afdeer 27, 2014 (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Cash equivalents
Money market funds $ 65,30! $ — % 65,30
Marketable securities
U.S. Treasuries — 42,39t 42,39t
Agency securities (Federal) — 7,502 7,50z
Total $ 65,30! $ 49,897 $  115,20(

Fair values measured on a recurring basis as afbieer 28, 2013 (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Cash equivalents
Money market funds $ 27,94: % — % 27,94:
Marketable securities
Commercial paper — 11,62 11,62
U.S. Treasuries — 49,01 49,01«
Agency securities (Federal) — 31,25¢ 31,25¢
Total $ 27,947 $ 91,89f $ 119,83t

The Level 1 assets consist of our money market fepbsits. The Level 2 assets consist of our asailfor-sale investment portfolio,
which are valued utilizing a market approach. Gurestments are priced by pricing vendors who pexidbservable inputs for their pricing
without applying significant judgment. Broker prigiis used mainly when a quoted price is not alkdlahe investment is not priced by our
pricing vendors or when a broker price is moreeadfle of fair values in the market in which theestment trades. Our broker-priced
investments are labeled as Level 2 investmentsusedair values of these investments are basetlaisassets without applying significant
judgments. In addition, all of our investments hawaufficient level of trading volume to demonsrttat the fair values used are appropi
for these investments.
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We did not have any transfers of assets measuffad &ilue on a recurring basis to or from Levelrd Level 2 during fiscal 2014 and
2013.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis

We measure and report goodwill and intangible asstefiair value on a non-recurring basis. ReféMate 8-Goodwill and Intangible
Assets, for further details. There were no assets medsatréair value on a non-recurring basis duringdi2014 .

As of December 28, 2013, our financial assetweat recorded at fair value on a non-recurring basisprised of note receivable from
The MicroManipulator Company (TMMC), a wholly-ownsedbsidiary of MicroProbe based in Carson City, & TMMC manufactures
manual, analytical probe stations and accessdkiesf June 29, 2013, TMMC's assets were sold tmaaagement team for a purchase
consideration of $1.0 million , of which $0.2 milli was received in cash and $0.8 million in thenfaf a note receivable to be repaid over 7
years at 5% interest rate. We intend to hold this note recdaintil its maturity. We classified this note ra@ble at a Level 3 category in t
fair value hierarchy and determined its fair valiizing the income approach by applying a weighé®erage cost of capital discount rate to
arrive at the net present value of the note rebéévaf approximately $0.5 million which approximsiiés amortized cost.

Our fair value processes include controls thatasgned to ensure appropriate fair values areadedoSuch controls include model
validation, review of key model inputs, and anaysi period-over-period fluctuations and independeoalculation of prices.

Note 8—Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill recorded from the MicroProbe Acquisition @ctober 16, 2012 was $30.7 million as of Decen2ie2014 and remained
unchanged from the amounts recorded as of Deced@@013 . During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2Qlde performed our annual goodwill
impairment test by an assessment of qualitativiefa@nd concluded that our goodwill was not imgaias of December 27, 2014 .
Furthermore, the Company has not recorded anyrldat@oodwill impairments as of December 27, 2014

At the time of our fiscal 2013 annual goodwill inmpaent test, we faced increasing operational amarftial challenges, including
manufacturing overcapacity and weak operating perdmce which led to a deterioration in market ctiads. As a result, we performed the
first step of the two-step goodwill impairment tesfiating to our two reporting units to ascertdithe carrying values of the net assets exceed
fair values. We utilized an equal weighting of btk discounted cash flow method of the income @augir and the guideline company methoc
of the market approach to estimate the fair vafusuo two reporting units. The results of the fisggp of the impairment test indicated that the
goodwill of the FormFactor and MicroProbe reportinmgts were not impaired, as the estimated faineslin excess of carrying values were
approximately $32 million and $41 million, respeety, or 16% and 39% , over the carrying valuehefteporting units, respectively. As a
result, we did not record any impairment to ourdyeil as of December 28, 2013.

The evaluation of goodwill and intangible assetdsrftpairment requires the exercise of significartigment. In the event of future

changes in business conditions, we will be requioegassess and update our forecasts and estiosa@sn future impairment analyses. If the
results of these analyses are lower than currém@®s, a material impairment charge may resuhatttime.
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The changes in intangible assets for fiscal 20Htha net book value of intangible assets at Deeer?h, 2014 and December 28,
2013 were as follows (in thousands):

Weight
Average
Intangible Assets, Gross Amount Accumulated Amortization Intangible Assets, Net Useful Life
Other
Intangible December December 27 December Expense, December 27 December 28 December 27 December 27
Assets (1) 28,2013 Additions/Disposals 2014 28,2013 net 2014 2013 2014 2014
Existing
developed
technologie: $ 51,24¢ $ — $ b51,24¢ $18,95 $16,09C $ 35,04t $ 32,29!$% 16,20 1.8
Trade name 4,38¢ — 4,38¢ 53C 44(C 97C 3,85¢ 3,41¢ 7.8
Customer
relationships  17,00( — 17,00( 2,581 2,251 4,832 14,41¢ 12,16¢ 5.8
Total finite-
lived
intangible
assets 72,63¢ — 72,63¢ 22,06¢ 18,78: 40,84 50,57( 31,78¢
In-process
research an
developmen 6,90( — 6,90( — — — 6,90( 6,90(
Total
intangible
assets $79,53¢ $ — $ 79,53t $22,06¢ $18,78. $ 40,847 $ 57,47($ 38,68¢

(1) Excludes fully amortized intangible assets

During the year ended December 28, 2013 , purchasgacess research and development (IPR&D) ptejeom the MicroProbe
Acquisition with a carrying value of $14.2 milliamere completed and reclassified as finite-livedmgible assets, and are currently being
amortized over their estimated useful lives. Theeee no such reclassifications during the year émaecember 27, 2014 .

The IPR&D assets are classified as indefinite liveengible assets that are not currently subpeatortization but are reviewed for
impairment annually or whenever events or changegcumstances indicate that the carrying valusuch assets may not be recoverable. Tt
IPR&D assets will be subject to amortization upompletion of their respective research projectsatrttie start of commercialization. The
values assigned to IPR&D assets were determinedg tise income approach based on estimates and grdgmegarding risks inherent in the
development process, including the likelihood dfiaging technological success and market acceptdinae IPR&D project is abandoned, the
acquired technology attributable to the project & expensed in the Consolidated Statement ofalipes.

We recorded $18.8 million , $16.7 million and $éi#lion , in amortization expense related to ourngible assets in fiscal 2014 , 2013
and 2012 , respectively. Of the total amortizagapense for fiscal 2014 , 2013, and 2012 , $16lliom, $13.8 million , and $6.0 million
were charged to cost of revenues, respectively $2nd million , $2.9 million and $0.6 million weoharged to selling, general and
administrative expenses, respectively.

Based on the carrying value of the finite-livedaimgible assets recorded as of December 27, 28id assuming no subsequent addit
to or impairment of the underlying assets, the iiaing estimated annual amortization expense is @gpeo be as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Amount
2015 $ 12,73¢
2016 8,72(
2017 2,551
2018 2,501
2019 2,44
and thereafter 2,831
Total $ 31,78¢

Note 9—Commitments and Contingencies



Leases
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We lease facilities under narancellable operating leases with various expinatiates through 2021. During fiscal 2014, we extenah
operating lease term relating to our San Josefd@aith facility from April 2016 to November 2021h& facilities generally require us to pay
property taxes, insurance and maintenance costhefuseveral lease agreements contain rent ¢iscatdauses or rent holidays. For purposes
of recognizing minimum rental expenses on a sttdigh basis over the terms of the leases, we heselate of initial possession to begin
amortization. We have the option to extend or renmast of our leases which may increase the futuninmum lease commitments.

Rent expense for the fiscal years 2014 , 2013 2a1@ was $4.8 million , $4.9 million and $4.7 ioifi , respectively.

We leased certain equipment under capital leagescdst and accumulated depreciation for assetr wagital leases, which were
included in property, plant and equipment in theoagpanying Consolidated Balance Sheets are asv®llim thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27, December 28,

2014 2013
Cost $ — $ 86€
Accumulated depreciation — 637
Net book value $ — 3 22¢

The depreciation expense of these leased asset$Qu@snillion in fiscal 2014 , $0.5 million for fisl 2013 and $0.2 milliofor fisca
2012 , respectively. As of December 27, 2014 , iendt lease any equipment under capital leases.

Future minimum payments under our non-cancelabteatimg leases are as follows as of December 24 @6 thousands):

Operating
Leases
Fiscal years:
2015 $ 4,157
2016-2017 7,07¢
2018-2019 6,982
Thereafter 5,93¢
Total $ 24,15:

Other Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth our commitments éttle other contractual obligations in cash as e€&nber 27, 2014 :

Payments Due In Fiscal Years
2015 2016-2017 2018-2019  After 2019 Total
(In thousands)

Purchase obligations $ 10,89¢ $ 50z $ — $ — $ 11,40

Purchase obligations are primarily for purchasdsw#ntory and manufacturing related service catsreFor the purposes of this table,
purchase obligations are defined as agreementarth@nforceable and legally binding and that $pedi significant terms, including: fixed or
minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimomvariable price provisions; and the approximateng of the transaction. The expected
timing of payment of the obligations discussed a&bisvestimated based on information available tasusf December 27, 2014 . Timing of
payments and actual amounts paid may be differgmeiding on the time of receipt of goods or sessarechanges to agreegon amounts fc
some obligations.

The table above excludes our gross liability fore@ognized tax benefits, which totaled $16.3 millas of December 27, 2014 . The

timing of any payments which could result from #hesmrecognized tax benefits will depend upon a rermbfactors. Accordingly, the timing
of payment cannot be estimated and has been exkfrmia the table above. As of
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December 27, 2014 , the changes to our uncertaipdsitions in the next 12 months, that are redslgrizossible, are not expected to have a
significant impact on our financial position or u#ts of operations.

Environmental Matters

We are subject to U.S. Federal, State and locdlfaeign governmental laws and regulations regatnthe protection of the
environment, including those governing the dischafpollutants into the air and water, the manag@nand disposal of hazardous substance
and wastes, the clean-up of contaminated siteshanchaintenance of a safe workplace. We believientbacomply in all material respects with
the environmental laws and regulations that applys, including those of the California Departmefitoxic Substances Control, the Bay A
Air Quality Management District, the City of Liveore Water Resources Division, County of Santa Aepartment of Environmental Hea
County of San Diego Hazardous Materials Divisiod &mcino Water District, and the California Divisiof Occupational Safety and Health.
We did not receive any notices of violations of ieowmental laws and regulations in fiscal 2014120r 2012 . We do not believe that any
loss from environmental remediation liabilities iddhave an material impact on our financial coraiti

While we believe that we are in compliance in aditerial respects with the environmental laws agdlagions that apply to us, in the
future, we may receive additional environmentalation notices, and if received, final resolutidrtiee violations identified by these notices
could harm our operations, which may adversely hpar operating results and cash flows. New lamésr@gulations, amended enforcement
practices around existing laws and regulationsdibeovery of previously unknown contamination at or others' sites or the imposition of
new cleanup requirements could also harm our dpestthereby adversely impacting our operatingltesnd cash flows.

Indemnification Arrangements

We have entered, and may from time to time in titénary course of our business enter, into conti@arrangements with third parties
that include indemnification obligations. Undergbecontractual arrangements, we have agreed todjefelemnify and/or hold the third party
harmless from and against certain liabilities. Ehegangements include indemnities in favor of@wgtrs in the event that our probe cards
infringe a third party's intellectual property @use property or other damages and indemnitiesvior fof our lessors in connection with facil
leasehold liabilities that we may cause. In additiwe have entered into indemnification agreemsiitts our directors and certain of our
officers, and our bylaws contain indemnificatiorigétions in favor of our directors, officers angeats. These indemnity arrangements may
limit the type of the claim, the total amount that can be required to be paid in connection withitidemnification obligation and the time
within which an indemnification claim can be madibe duration of the indemnification obligation mary, and for most arrangements,
survives the agreement term and is indefinite. \lebe that substantially all of our indemnity amgements provide either for limitations on
the maximum potential future payments we could tlegated to make, or for limitations on the typélaims and damages we could be
obligated to indemnify, or both. However, it is patssible to determine or reasonably estimate #ndémum potential amount of future
payments under these indemnification obligations tuthe varying terms of such obligations, a lathistory of prior indemnification claims,
the unique facts and circumstances involved in @acticular contractual arrangement and in eacamiat future claim for indemnification,
and the contingency of any potential liabilitienghe occurrence of events that are not reasomtdéyrminable. We have not had any mat
requests for indemnification under these arrangésn@ur management believes that any liabilitytf@se indemnity arrangements would not
be material to our accompanying consolidated firrstatements. We have not recorded any liakslitte these indemnification arrangements
on our consolidated balance sheet as of Decemh&024 .

Legal Matters

From time to time, we may be subject to legal pedliegs and claims in the ordinary course of busin€sr the year ended
December 27, 2014 , we were not involved in anyenatlegal proceedings. We identify below in "Qthéigation”, a proceeding filed in
fiscal 2013, which, if not resolved amicably, eitki includes allegations that could potentialsult in a material legal proceeding, or (ii) the
cost to defend the allegations through trial cdaddnaterial. In the future we may become a pargdiiitional legal proceedings that may
require us to spend significant resources, inclyigiroceedings designed to protect our intellegbuaperty rights. Litigation can be expensive
and disruptive to normal business operations. M@edhe results of legal proceedings are diffitalpredict, and the costs incurred in
litigation can be substantial, regardless of outeom

Customs and Trade Matters

From time to time, we receive communications frartain jurisdictions regarding customs and inditegtmatters such as customs
duties and value added taxes. For fiscal 2014did/@ot receive any communications from jurisdiciagegarding any material customs duties
or indirect tax matters.
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Intellectual Property Litigation

In the ordinary course of business, the Companybkas, currently is, and may in the future be, im&d in commercial litigation relating
to intellectual property, as well as third partitiated patent office proceedings in the Unitedt&tand foreign patent offices.

No provision has been made for intellectual propktigation because we believe that it is not @ble that a liability had been incurred
as of December 27, 2014 . We could incur matetialaeys' fees in prosecuting and defending actielaed to intellectual property.

Other Litigation

In August 2013, a former employee (“Plaintiff’)dd a class action lawsuit against the CompanyerSilperior Court of California,
alleging violations of California’s wage and hoawls and unfair business practices on behalf of élirasid all other similarly situated current
and former employees at the Company’s Livermorditias from August 21, 2009 to the present. In fealy 2014, the Court granted the
Company’s motion to strike portions of Plaintiffisst amended complaint, clarifying the scope & gutative class. A second amended
complaint has also been filed. Procedurally, tteeda in the early stages of litigation and nortedi class has been certified. The parties
participated in a mediation during the third quadkfiscal 2014, which did not result in a settlemh The Company currently believes that any
settlement reached would be in an amount thattisnaterial to the Company's financial statemenitee Tompany denies the allegations
contained in the lawsuit and, based on availabitarimation, believes it has significant defensethtallegations of the lawsuit. If the matter is
not settled, the Company could incur material aggs’ fees in defending the lawsuit.

Note 10—Stockholders' Equity
Preferred Stock

We have authorized 10,000,000 shares of undesdjpatéerred stock, $0.001 par value, none of widdesued and outstanding. Our
Board of Directors shall determine the rights, erefices, privileges and restrictions of the prefkstock, including dividends rights,
conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemptiliquidation preferences, sinking fund terms tr&number of shares constituting any
series or the designation of any series.

Common Stock

Each share of common stock has the right to one Vidte holders of common stock are also entitle@e¢eive dividends whenever fur
are legally available and when declared by the @o&Directors, subject to the prior rights of hedsl of all classes of stock outstanding having
priority rights as to dividends. No dividends hdeen declared or paid as of December 27, 2014 .

Equity Incentive Plan

We currently grant equitipased awards under our Equity Incentive Plan @042 Plan") which was approved by our stockholdéisu
Annual Meeting of Stockholders on April 18, 2012dRicted stock and restricted stock units granteter the 2012 Plan will generally vest
over four years in annual tranches though we as® lgranted and will continue to grant such awaxds a shorter vest term for employee
retention purposes. Additionally, restricted shasgkice the shares available for issuance at h&®s for every one share issued. Effective
January 1, 2015, restricted shares will reducesiiages available for issuance by 1.70 shares fyyene share issued.

The 2012 Plan also provides for the grant of ineerdgtock options, nonqualified stock options atwtls appreciation rights. The
incentive stock options may be granted to our ege#e and the nonqualified stock options, and afirde/other than incentive stock options
may be granted to employees, directors and comgsiltdihe exercise price of incentive stock optionst be at least equal to the fair market
value of common stock on the date of grant. Aliam granted under the 2012 Plan will generallyt wesr four years and have a term of ten
years, unless otherwise determined by the Compensabmmittee of the Board of Directors. Stock amation rights granted under the 2(
Plan will generally vest over four years in annwmahches. We have not granted any incentive stptikms, nonqualified stock options or stock
appreciation rights during fiscal 2014 and 2013 .

At December 27, 2014 , there were 3.3 million skaneailable for grant under the 2012 Plan.
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Sock Options

Stock option activity is set forth below:

Outstanding Options

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price Life in Years Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2011 4,619,02. $ 13.11

Options granted 70,00( 5.34

Options exercised — —

Options canceled (480,17%) 11.9¢

Outstanding at December 29, 2012 4,208,84 13.11

Options granted — —

Options exercised (20,000 5.2¢

Options canceled (734,42) 17.04

Outstanding at December 28, 2013 3,454,422 12.32

Options granted — —

Options exercised — —

Options canceled (883,05() 17.0C

Outstanding at December 27, 2014 2,571,370 $ 10.7z 243 $ 598,21:
Vested and expected to vest at December

27,2014 2,571,35 $ 10.7z 238 $ 598,21.
Exercisable at December 27, 2014 2,513,321 $ 10.7¢ 241 ¢  598,20°

Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock units are converted into sharemipEommon stock upon vesting on a one-for-onésbabe vesting of restricted stock
units is subject to the employee's continuing sert us. Restricted stock unit activity is settdrelow:

Weighted

Number of Average Grant

Shares Date Fair Value

Restricted stock units at December 31, 2011 1,307,30: $ 12.8¢
Granted 1,630,211 5.5C
Vested (484,541 13.9¢
Canceled (224,02) 8.7¢
Restricted stock units at December 29, 2012 2,228,941 7.6€
Granted 1,708,001 5.04
Vested (760,59() 8.44
Canceled (246,71) 8.1¢
Restricted stock units at December 28, 2013 2,929,63! 5.8¢
Granted 1,900,00! 6.52
Vested (1,282,44) 6.3(
Canceled (297,15) 6.17
Restricted stock units at December 27, 2014 3,250,041 g 6.07

On May 5, 2014, we issued 350,000 shares of restirigtock units to seven senior executives of oorgany that will vest based on
certain market performance criteria. The perforneagriteria are based on the Company's Total ShitehBeturn (TSR) for the period from
April 1, 2014 to March 31, 2016 relative to the T8Rhe companies identified as being part of th® Semiconductor Select Industry Index
(FormFactor peer companies), as of April 1, 201 Tompensation cost will be recognized ratably tive requisite service period. For fiscal



2014, we recorded $0.6 million of stock-based camp#&on expense related to these awards.
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The total fair value of restricted stock units eestluring fiscal 2014 , 2013 and 2012 was $8.2anil] $3.9 million and $2.9 million
respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under the 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESHR"offering periods are 12 months commencingeoruary 1 of each calenc
year and ending on January 31 of the subsequesmdzl year, and a six month fixed offering periothmencing on August 1 of each calen
year and ending on January 31 of the subsequesmdal year. The 12 month offering period consikta/o six month purchase periods and
six month offering period consists of one six moptinchase period. The price of the common stockhmasged is 85% of the lesser of the fair
market value of the common stock on the first diaghe applicable offering period or the last dayeath purchase period.

During fiscal 2014 , 2013, and 2012 , employeesimsed 586,386 shares, 583,173 shares and 53386 under this program at a
weighted average exercise price of $4.80 , $4.296dm42 , respectively.

Note 11—Stock-Based Compensation

We account for all stock-based compensation to eyegls and directors, including grants of restristiedk units and stock options, as
stock-based compensation costs in the Consolid&tethcial Statements based on the fair value medsas of the date of grant. These costs
are recognized as an expense in the Consolidatéeingtnts of Operations over the requisite sernéc®@ and increase additional paid-in
capital.

The table below shows the stock-based compensatioense included in the Consolidated Statemenpefa&ions (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27, December 28, December 29,

2014 2013 2012
Stock-based compensation expense included in:
Cost of revenues $ 2,43 % 2,43¢ $ 2,58¢
Research and development 3,52¢ 3,44( 4,26
Selling, general and administrative 7,317 6,24¢ 6,19¢
Total stock-based compensation 13,27¢ 12,12¢ 13,04¢
Tax effect on stock-based compensation — — —
Total stock-based compensation, net of tax $  1327¢ § 1212« $§  13,04¢

Sock Options

The exercise price of each stock option equalsrthrket price of our stock on the date of grant. Myuions are scheduled to vest over
three to four years and expire five to ten yeasmfthe grant date. The fair value of each opti@ngis estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model. In addition, estimate forfeitures when recognizing compensatipense, and adjust our estimates of
forfeitures over the requisite service period basethe extent to which actual forfeitures differ.are expected to differ, from such estimates.
Changes in estimated forfeitures are recognizeddmnge in estimate in the period of change alidlso impact the amount of compensati
expense to be recognized in future periods.
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The following weighted-average assumptions werel is¢he estimated grant-date fair value calcufetifor stock options granted in
fiscal 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :

Fiscal Years Ended

December 27, December 28, December 29,

2014 2013 2012
Stock Options:
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected volatility —% —% 48.44%
Risk-free interest rate —% —% 0.67%
Expected life (in years) 0 0 4.7t

No options were granted in fiscal 2014 and 2013latte there are no assumptions in the table dbovieese years. During fiscal
2012 , we granted 70,000 stock options under oprased plans with a weighted average grant-datevédiie of $2.17 per share. Our
computation of expected volatility was based oomlzination of historical and market-based impliethtility from traded options on our
common stock. We believe that including market-Has®lied volatility in the calculation of expectedlatility results in a more accurate
measure of the volatility expected in future pesiodisk-free interest rates are yields for zeropoouU.S. Treasury notes maturing
approximately at the end of the expected optian Wife determine the expected term by consideringrakfactors, including historical option
exercise behavior, post vesting turnover ratestraotual terms and vesting periods of the optiaasigd.

As of December 27, 2014 , the unamortized stocleth@®mpensation balance related to stock optiossd@a million after estimated
forfeitures, which will be recognized over an estied period of 0.5 years based on the weightedageeattays to vest.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

During fiscal 2014 , we issued 586,386 shares uadeapproved employee stock purchase plans. Asoémber 27, 2014 , we had
$0.1 million of total unrecognized stock-based cengation expense, which will be recognized ovemtbighted average period of
approximately one month. Compensation expensddslated using the fair value of the employeesthase rights under the Black-Scholes
model. The following assumptions were used in eatiimy the fair value of employees' purchase rightder the approved employee stock
purchase plans:

Fiscal Years Ended

December 27, December 28, December 29,

2014 2013 2012
Employee Stock Purchase Plan:
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected volatility 41.7% 39.8(% 46.4%0%
Risk-free interest rate 0.09% 0.13% 0.11%
Expected life (in years) 0.7 0.7 0.€

Restricted Sock Units

The fair value of restricted stock units is deteved using the market closing price of our commoglsbn the grant date and
compensation cost is recognized over the vestinggen a straight line basis. The restricted stacks generally vest over four years though
we also have granted and will continue to granhsawards over a shorter vest term for employeeatiete purposes.

During fiscal 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , we grante®@,800 shares, 1,708,000 shares and 1,63@}24:@s of restricted stock units with
weighted average grant-date fair values of $68204 and $5.50 per share, respectively. As of Bee 27, 2014 , the unamortized stock-
based compensation balance related to restriate# ghits was $9.3 million after estimated forfedts, which will be recognized over an
estimated period of 1.2 years based on the weaighterage days to vest.

Note 12—Income Taxes
The components of loss before income taxes wefallasis (in thousands):

85






FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27, December 28, December 29,

2014 2013 2012
United States $ (23,23() $ (60,44) $ (64,25)
Foreign 3,13¢ 2,66t 2,28¢

$ (20099 $ (57,78) $ (61,960

The components of the provision for income taxesaarfollows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 27, December 28,

December 29,

2014 2013 2012
Current provision (benefit):

Federal $ (983 $ 7700 % (1,929
State (38€) 76 60
Foreign 234 281 (81)
(1,135 (407) (2,950

Deferred provision (benefit):
Federal — — (25,520)
State — — —
Foreign 22t 30¢ 1,05(C
22t 30¢ (24,470
Total benefit from income taxes $ (910 $ (99) $ (26,420

The following is a reconciliation of the differenbetween income taxes computed by applying theréédtatutory rate of 35% and the
benefit from income taxes for fiscal 2014 , 2018 2012 (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended

December 27, December 28, December 29,
2014 2013 2012
U.S. statutory federal tax rate $ (7,039 $ (20,229 $ (21,68)
State taxes and credits, net of Federal benefit (18€) (345 (1,997
Amortization of stock-based compensation, net
tax benefit 68€ 923 37¢€
Research and development credits (1,189 (560 (674
Foreign taxes at rates different than the U.S. (84) 162 59¢
Other permanent differences (972) (378 (1,169
Change in valuation allowance 7,88¢ 20,50¢ (1,819
Other (24) (182) (6C)
Total $ 910 $ 99 ¢ (26,42()
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogniaethe future tax consequences of differences detwthe carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities and their respective tax basesagisimacted tax rates in effect for the year in whitehdifferences are expected to be reversed.
Significant deferred tax assets and liabilitiessisinof the following (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27, December 28,

2014 2013

Tax credits $ 2845¢ $ 26,18
Inventory reserve 16,617 15,28(
Other reserves and accruals 7,61( 6,62(
Non-statutory stock options 18,09¢ 18,76¢
Depreciation and amortization 14,031 5,291
Net operating loss carryforwards 120,11( 132,85
Gross deferred tax assets 204,92: 205,00(
Valuation allowance (187,759 (180,919
Total deferred tax assets 17,16+ 24,081
Acquired intangibles & fixed assets (13,867 (20,377
Unrealized investment gains 3 @)
Total deferred tax liabilities (13,870 (20,380)
Net deferred tax assets $ 329 $ 3,701

We are required to evaluate the realizability of deferred tax assets in both our U.S. and non-ur8dictions on an ongoing basis to
determine whether there is a need for a valuatiowance with respect to such deferred tax asfrtang fiscal 2014 and 2013 , we
maintained a valuation allowance against our Ueferded tax assets. We intend to maintain a valoatilowance until sufficient positive
evidence exists to support the realization of sleflerred tax assets.

The valuation allowance against deferred tax assgtsisted of the following activity for the fisogars 2014 , 2013 and 2012 (in
thousands):

Balance at Balance at
Beginning End of
Description of Year Additions Reduction Year
Allowance against deferred tax assets
Year ended December 31, 2014 $ 180,91l % 6,84¢ $ — $ 187,75¢
Year ended December 31, 2013 163,26} 17,64¢ — 180,91:
Year ended December 29, 2012 $ 168,87 $ 19,91 $ (25520 $ 163,26!

At December 27, 2014 , we had Federal researcllevelopment tax credit, net operating loss, anéidortax credit carryforwards of
$19.3 million , $293.9 million and $1.9 millionespectively, which will expire at various datesfird016 through 2034 . We had alternative
minimum tax credits of $2.4 million which do notpmse. We had California research credit and netatpey loss carryforwards of $26.5
million and $270.8 million , respectively. The Gatnia research credit can be carried forward imitely while California net operating loss
carryforwards will expire at various dates from 2Qirough 2034 . We had Singapore net operatirgdasyforwards of $10.6 million which
can be carried forward indefinitely.

We have not provided U.S. Federal and State indames, nor foreign withholding taxes, on approxieha$5.0 million of undistributed
earnings for certain non-US subsidiaries, becausk sarnings are intended to be indefinitely reste@. If these earnings were distributed to
the U.S. in the form of dividends or otherwisejfdhe shares of the relevant foreign subsidianese sold or otherwise transferred, we would
be subject to additional U.S. income taxes (suligeen adjustment for foreign tax credits) and iigmewithholding taxes, of approximatepp.3
million . Determination of the amount of unrecogrdzdeferred tax liability for temporary differenae¢ated to investment in these non-U.S.
subsidiaries that are essentially permanent intidurés not practicable.

During fiscal 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , there wer¢axdoenefits associated with the exercise of engaatock options and other
employee stock programs.
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The following table reflects changes in the unredpgd tax benefits (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27, December 28, December 29,

2014 2013 2012
Unrecognized tax benefit beginning balance $ 16,97 $ 17,18. $ 17,75
Additions based on tax positions related to theemnir
year 49¢ 307 2,231
Additions based on tax position from prior year 324 — —
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (1,109 (6C) 9
Reductions to unrecognized tax benefits due tcelap
the applicable statute of limitations (352 (45€) (2,817
Unrecognized tax benefit ending balance $ 1633 $ 16970 $ 17,18

At December 27, 2014 , we had gross tax-effectedamgnized tax benefits of $16.3 million of which.$ million, if recognized, wouli
impact the effective tax rate.

We recognize interest (benefit) charges and pesalélated to uncertain tax positions as part@frtbhome tax provision. We recognized
interest (benefit) charges and penalties of $(@illjon , $(0.2) million and $0.3 million in fisc&d014 , 2013 , and 2012 , respectively. As of
December 27, 2014 and December 28, 2013 , we lwaveel total interest charges and penalties of 8llibn and $0.2 million respectively
related to uncertain tax positions.

The amount of income taxes we pay is subject t@imggaudits by Federal, State and foreign tax aitte which might result in
proposed assessments. Our estimate for the pdteatéme for any uncertain tax issue is judgmeintalature. However, we believe we have
adequately provided for any reasonably foreseealtisome related to those matters. Our future resudty include favorable or unfavorable
adjustments to our estimated tax liabilities in pleeiod the assessments are made or resolved or stditeites of limitation on potential
assessments expire. As of December 27, 2014 chémgess uncertain tax positions in the next 12 therhat are reasonably possible are not
expected to have a significant impact on our fimgnmosition or results of operations.

We and our subsidiaries file income tax returnthaU.S. Federal jurisdiction, various states amml d.S jurisdictions. The material
income tax jurisdictions are the United Statesdfat}, California, Singapore and Japan. The additamme tax returns for Federal and
California for the tax years 2010 to 2012 stubqeband 2010 to 2011, respectively, have been detlewever, as a result of net operating
carryforwards, we are subject to audit for tax ge2007 and forward for Federal purposes and 2088award for California purposes. For
Singapore and Japan purposes, we are subject itd@utax years after 2010.

Note 13—Employee Benefit Plans

We have an employee savings plan that qualifiesdeferred salary arrangement under Section 4@ftke Internal Revenue Code. !
match up to 50% of an eligible employee's contidng to a maximum of the first 1.5% of the eligikl@ployee's contributions through a fiscal
year. We also provide a t-qualified profit sharing retirement plan for therfit of eligible employees in the U.S. The planésigned to
provide employees with an accumulation of fundsrétirement on a tax-deferred basis and provideufmual discretionary employer
contributions. The total charge to operations utider401(k) and the profit sharing retirement plardiscal 2014 , 2013 and 2012 aggregatec
$1.0 million , $1.0 million and $0.8 million , resgtively.

Note 14—Operating Segments and Geographic Informain

We report in one reportable segment consistingvofdperating segments relating to our FormFactdrMitroProbe product groups.
Both our operating segments are focused on thguledévelopment, manufacture, sale and supponteaigion, high performance advanced
semiconductor probe card products and solutions.tio operating segments have been aggregatedrnieteeportable segment as they share
similar economic characteristics in terms of theureof their products and services, productiorcesses, customers and methods of
distributing their products and services. Our cloieérating decision maker is the Chief ExecutivBo®f, who reviews operating results to
make decisions about allocating resources andsisggzerformance for the entire company.
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The following table summarizes revenue by counsra @ercentage of total revenues based upon shigdtion:

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27, December 28, December 29,

2014 2013 2012

North America 28.1% 27.2% 15.2%
South Korea 19.€ 19.¢ 32.¢
Taiwan 18.¢ 27.¢ 20.7
Asia-Pacific (1) 12.¢ 9.2 12.7
Europe 11.£ 8.€ 6.t
Japan 9.€ 7.3 11.¢€

Total Revenues 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

(1) Asia-Pacific includes all countries in the @giexcept Taiwan, Japan and South Korea, whickiacbosed separately.

The following table summarizes revenue by produetig (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27, December 28, December 29,

2014 2013 2012
SoC $ 142,36( $ 11559 $ 46,58¢
DRAM 110,80t 92,60: 102,49¢
Flash 15,37( 23,33 29,45(
Total revenues $ 268,53( $ 231,53 $ 178,53!

Long-lived assets, comprising of net property, pkmd equipment, goodwill and net intangibles asast reported based on the locatior
of the asset. Long-lived assets by geographicilmeare as follows (in thousands):

December 27, December 28,

2014 2013

North America $ 91,86: $ 119,70t
South Korea 1,57¢ 1,67¢
Asia-Pacific (1) 93t 1,20€
Japan 35¢ 517
Singapore 172 262
Europe 13 24

Total $ 94,91¢ $  123,39:

(1) AsiaPacific includes all countries in the region excgputh Korea, Singapore, and Japan, which areodisdIseparate

The following customers represented greater th&a @Dour revenues in fiscal 2014 , fiscal 2013 &ischl 2012 ;

Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012

Intel 19.7% 17.1% * %

SK hynix 16.¢ 16.5 29.4

Micron 15.C 11.7 13.:

Samsung * * 12.4
Total 51.6% 45.5% 55.1%

* | ess than 10% of revenues
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Note 15—Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudit)

The following selected quarterly financial datalidbe read in conjunction with our consolidatedhficial statements and the related
notes and "ltem 7: Management's Discussion andy&isabf Financial Condition and Results of Openradié This information has been deri\
from our unaudited consolidated financial statemémat, in our opinion, reflect all recurring adjuents necessary to fairly present this
information when read in conjunction with our colidated financial statements and the related napggaring in the section entitled

"Consolidated Financial Statements." The resulspefrations for any quarter are not necessarilicatide of the results to be expected for any
future period.

Fiscal Quarters Ended

Dec. 27, Sep. 27, June. 28, March 29, Dec. 28, Sep. 28, June. 29, March 30,
2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 (1) 2013
(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenues $ 71,288 % 73,93 $ 67,35. $ 55,95¢ $ 48,54¢ $ 67,63¢ $ 62,730 % 52,62(
Cost of revenues 50,33" 49,79: 47,32¢ 43,63¢ 44,28t 55,08¢ 46,32¢ 43,54¢
Gross profit 20,94¢ 24,14: 20,02« 12,32¢ 4,25¢ 12,54¢ 16,40¢ 9,07t
Operating Expenses:

Research and

development 10,70¢ 11,19¢ 11,07 9,747 9,99/ 10,30: 10,91¢ 10,92¢

Selling, general and

administrative 12,63: 13,30¢ 13,19: 12,25« 12,16( 12,95 13,48° 14,61¢

Loss on sale of

subsidiary — — — — — — 30C —

Restructuring charges,

net 584 28 5¢ 1,997 44z 14z 92 3,98(

Impairment of long-livec

assets 39C 8€ — 74¢ 567 15 121 58
Total operating expenses 24,31 24,62 24,32¢ 24,74 23,16« 23,41 24,91t 29,58t
Operating loss (3,369 479 (4,300 (12,41¢) (18,90¢) (10,86%) (8,510 (20,510
Interest income, net 69 75 79 79 88 95 9€ 107
Other income (expense), ne 15¢E 22¢ (15€) (66) 82 (91) 20¢ 428
Loss before income taxes (3,139 (7€) (4,379 (12,409 (18,73¢) (10,867 (8,20%) (29,98()
(Benefit from) provision for
income taxes (1,26%) 101 (52) 30€ 53 (247) 20z (207)
Net loss $ (1.87) $ (27) $ (4320 $ (12,71) $ (1878) $ (10,719 $ (8,407 $ (19,779
Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted $ 0.05 $ 0.0 $ (0.0 % 027 $ 039 ¢ 0.20) $ 0.1¢) $ (0.37)
Weighted average number
shares used in per share
calculations:
Basic and diluted 56,47: 56,29° 55,81: 55,05( 54,60¢ 54,437 54,10¢ 53,66¢

(1) Inthe second quarter of fiscal 2013, we rdedra $0.3 million loss on the sale of our subsyliBMMC. See Note 7air Value, to the Notes to Consolidated Finan
Statements for further details relating to the eohthe sale.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Set forth below is a list of exhibits that are lggfited or incorporated by reference into this AahReport on Form10-K:

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Date of Exhibit Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No First Filing Number Herewith
2.01***  Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of Augus@12 among 10-Q/A 00050307 1/23/201: 33.01
Astria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc., the Registr&itM
Acquisition, Inc. and Fortis Advisors LLC, as Egtiblder
Representative
3.01 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe S-1  333-10981% 10/20/200: 3.01
Registrant as filed with the Delaware Secretar$tate on
June 17, 2003
3.0z Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant 8-K 00050301 5/25/200! 3.0z
4.01 Specimen Common Stock Certificate S-1/A 3338673¢ 5/28/200: 4.01
10.014 Form of Indemnity Agreement S-1/A 3338673¢ 5/28/200: 10.01
10.024 Form of Change of Control Severance Agreement 10K 00050307 3/14/200! 10.4¢
10.034 1996 Stock Option Plan, and form of option grant S1 3338673¢ 4/22/200: 10.0¢
10.044 Incentive Option Plan, and form of option grant S 3338673¢ 4/22/200: 10.0¢«
10.054 Management Incentive Option Plan, and form of apgeant S1 3338673¢ 4/22/200: 10.0¢
10.064 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and forfptao 10Q 00050307 5/4/201: 10.0¢
agreements
10.074 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended 10Q 00050307 8/7/200° 10.01
10.084 Key Employee Bonus Plan, as amended 10Q 00050307 5/7/200° 10.01
10.094 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restatedtisféeApril 18, 10K 00050301 3/13/201: 10.0¢
2012, and forms of plan agreements
10.104 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended anceresiatil 18, 10K 00050301 3/13/201: 10.1(C
2012
10.11 Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itken S-1/A 3338673¢ 6/10/200: 10.1¢
Holding Company LLC (successor to Greenville IneestL.P.)
("Greenville") and the Registrant dated May 3, 2001
10.1Z First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasertd S-1/A 3338673¢ 5/7/200: 10.18.:
between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8iar003
10.1:  Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itleeand the S-1/A 3338673t 6/10/200: 10.1¢
Registrant dated May 3, 2001
10.1¢ First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasarid S-1/A 3338673¢ 5/7/200: 10.19.:
between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8iar003
10.1f  Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itkeand the S-1/A 3338673¢ 6/10/200: 10.2
Registrant dated May 3, 2001
10.164 First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leaserid S-1/A 3338673¢ 5/7/200: 10.20.:
between Greenville and the Registrant dated Jar8iar003
10.174 Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itkeand the 10Q 00050307 11/7/2001 10.01
Registrant dated September 7, 2004, as amendeisby F
Amendment to Building 6 Lease dated August 16, 2006
10.184 Employment Letter Agreement, dated September 2) 2t8tween 8K 00050307 9/17/2011 99.014
Thomas St. Dennis and the Registrant
10.191 Employment Offer Letter, dated August 29, 2012 td/Slessor 10K 00050307 3/13/201: 10.194
10.204 Tax withholding reimbursement letter between MikesSor and — — — — X
the Registrant dated December 30, 2013
16.01 Letter of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP dated Aprid®,3 8-K 00050301 4/8/201: 16.01
21.01 List of Registrant's subsidiaries — — — — X
23.01 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking - PwC — — — — X
23.0z Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing - — — — — X
KPMG
24.01 Power of Attorney (included on the signature paigthie — — — — X
Form 10-K)
31.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant15 U.S.C. — — — — X
Section 7241, as adopted pursuant to Section 30&dbarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002
31.0z Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant15 U.S.C. — — — — X

Section 7241, as adopted pursuant to Section 3@&dbarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002
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32.01* Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chigihancial — — — — X
Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as ttbpursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS** XBRL Instance Document — — — —
101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document — — — —
101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuatne — — — —
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen — — — —
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document — — — —
101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Dognim — — — —

X X X X X X

This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed" for purps®f Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Adi93#4 or otherwise subject to the liabilities oftteaction, nor shall
be deemed incorporated by reference in any filimdeu the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securitieshange Act of 1934, whether made before or dfieidate hereof
and irrespective of any general incorporation lagguin any filings.

Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, thegeractive data files are deemed not filed or p&# registration statement or prospectus for psgp of Sections 11 or
12 of the Securities Act of 1933 or Section 18haf Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and otherwisaat subject to liability.

Confidential treatment has been requestedpimrtions of this document. The schedules, exhibitsl, annexes to this exhibit have been omittedliarrce Item 601(b)(2)
of Regulation S-K and will be furnished suppleménti® the SEC upon request.

Indicates a management contract or compensatonyoplarrangemer
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EXHIBIT 10.20

Via Email
(mslessor@formfactor.con
December 17, 2013

Michael D. Slessor

c/o FormFactor, Inc.

7005 Southfront Road
Livermore, CA 94551, USA

Re:Tax Withholding on Options
Dear Mike:

This letter confirms our agreement around an inctarevithholding issue related to your stock optiecome in connection with FormFacter’
acquisition of Astria Semiconductor Holdings / MiBrrobe. Specifically, in light of an under withhiolg of $152,163 of California State
Income Tax (“CA SIT") for your stock option inconretax year 2012, FormFactor will compensate yaulie incremental additional Federal
income tax impact that you incur in the combined28nd 2013 tax years, should the 2013 Alternaffiremum Tax (“AMT”") or other federe
tax rules limit the federal tax benefit of the $183 deduction associated with the 2012 CA SIT umdéaholding.

By way of background, the $152,163 CA SIT undehhitiding was not discovered until after the fis2@12 year-end deadline allowed under
California law to correct the error and withhole throper amount of tax. As a result, you have &dviss that with your 2012 CA SIT return
filed in April 2013, you made a payment of $259,9%&ich was the total amount of CA SIT due. Becahsepayment of the under withheld
$152,163 CA SIT (and in fact the entire $259,986%urred in calendar year 2013, this additional $}A could not be recorded as an itemized
deduction on your 2012 Federal tax return, thuatorg a larger 2012 Federal tax payment. While wdube able to deduct this $259,976,
including the $152,163 of under withheld 2012 CA Sin your 2013 Federal tax return, the 2013 AMTymeevent you from realizing the full
benefit of the under-withheld 2012 CA SIT for taeay 2013, depending on IRS rules in place at thmet. tYour total 2012 CA SIT amount due
(and payment made) of $259,976 exceeds the undeneld $152,163 in large part because of the imphitte passage of Proposition 30 after
the October 16, 2012 merger closing.

To determine the incremental tax impact and Forrdfacpayment to you, we agreed that:

1) FormFactor will pay a mutually agreeable indepemdkenconsultant ti

a. Review your as-filed 2012 and 2013 Federal@alifornia State tax returns, to calculate theéneental impact of the
$152,163 2012 CA SIT under withholding on your cameld 2012 and 2013 Federal taxes paid.

b. Recalculate your 2012 and 2013 Federal tax reagsasming hypothetically that FormFactor withhelel $152,163 amount
CA SIT during 2012, and that same amount was tlo¢paid by you with the April 2013 filing of youi022 CA tax return.

c. Compare the total Federal tax due in combirgs® And 2013 under the hypothetical calculatioltesh 2) to the actual
amount of Federal tax you were required to payoih 2012 and 2013 from Item 1), with the differebedng an incremental
Federal tax payment that you made April 2013 (fnerémental 2012 Tax Liability”).

2) Because you would not have had to incur theelmental 2012 Tax Liability if either there was aotunder withholding of $152,163
of CA SIT, or the under withholding had been idfedi during calendar year 2012 and appropriatest@eéd, FormFactor will
compensate you for the Incremental 2012 Tax Lighldy paying to you by check or wire transfer aadarting:

FormFactor, Inc. 7005 Southfront Road, Livermore, Q\ 94551 Tel: 925.294.4000 Fax: 925.294.4119
www.formfactor.com




Michael D. Slessor
December 17, 2013
Page 2

a. Income equal to the Incremental 2012 Tax Liabilitybe reported as additional income in 2014 orr YgA, anc

b. Additional income equal to the appropriate (damental) CA state and Federal income and pawithholding rates on the
Incremental 2012 Tax Liability-

We anticipate completing the calculation and paytméthin 60 days of your providing your 2012 andl3Gax returns, and all appropriate
2012 and 2013 tax return information and schedlelectively, the “Tax Papers”). Our agreementéonpensate you is contingent upon and
subject to your providing us with all Tax Paperd ather information we, or the independent tax atiagt, may reasonable request, and your
remaining a FormFactor employee through and ubtil&ys after you provide us with the Tax Paperdidfvever, your employment at
FormFactor is terminated by us without cause, dligations under this letter agreement will conérta be binding and in place.

Please countersign and return this letter to caonfiour understanding and agreement to the abowegsdor compensating you for the
$152,163 CA SIT under withholding. If you have ajestions, please feel free to contact David B&ke Ludwig or me.

Very truly yours,
FormFactor, Inc.

/s/ Stuart L. Merkadeau
Stuart L. Merkadeau
SVP, General Counsel and Secretary

Acknowledged and Agreed to on December 30, 2013.

/s/ Michael D. Slessor
Michael D. Slessor

' Based on our analysis to date, we understand the under paid tax exposure will be in the range of US$95,000.



EXHIBIT 21.01

LIST OF REGISTRANT'S SUBSIDIARIES

SUBSIDIARY NAME

FormFactor Electronics Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

FormFactor Germany GmbH
FormFactor International, Inc.
FormFactor, KK

FormFactor Korea, Inc.
FormFactor Singapore Pte. Ltd.
Astria Semiconductor Holdings, Inc
Micro-Probe Incorporated
Microprobe HongKong Limited
Microprobe Technology (Suzhou) Limited
Seneca Merger Subs, Inc.

Olenyok Corporation

JURISDICTION OF ORGANIZATION
People's Republic of China
Germany

Delaware, United States
Japan

South Korea

Singapore

Delaware, United States
California, United States
Hong Kong

People's Republic of China
Delaware, United States
Delaware, United States



EXHIBIT 23.01

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No-833760) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-
106043, 333-115137, 333-125918, 333-139074, 3334988333-149411, 333-157610, 333-165058, 333-17233A8-179589, 333-181450,

333-188363, and 333-195744) of FormFactor, Inawfreport dated March 13, 2013 relating to thariitial statements, which appears in this
Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
March 6, 2015



EXHIBIT 23.02

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
FormFactor, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference irréiggstration statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-108@6d Form S-8 (Nos. 333-195744,
333-106043, 333-115137, 333-125918, 333-139074,1383.98, 333-149411, 333-157610, 333-165058, 32318, 333-179589, 333-
181450, and 333-188363) of FormFactor, Inc. ofreport dated March 6, 2015, with respect to thesobdated balance sheets of FormFactor
Inc. as of December 27, 2014 and December 28, 201iBthe related consolidated statements of opaesgtcomprehensive loss, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the years inhtl@year period ended December 27, 2014, andftbetiweness of internal control over
financial reporting as of December 27, 2014, whigbort appears in the December 27, 2014 annuaitrepd-orm 10-K of FormFactor, Inc.

for the year ended December 27, 2014.

/s! KPMG LLP
Santa Clara, California
March 6, 2015



EXHIBIT 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241, AS
ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Michael D. Slessor, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed the Annual Report on FormKl6f FormFactor, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ort@amstate a material fact necessary t
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemems other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgor caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifg prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control oveaifirial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atamuce with generally accepted accounting princjples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsatitclosure controls and procedures and preséentai report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regis's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer antllve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisamtifole in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Date: March 6, 2015 /sl MICHAEL D. SLESSOR

Michael D. Slessor
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer and Director)




EXHIBIT 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Michael M. Ludwig, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed the Annual Report on FormKl6f FormFactor, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ort@amstate a material fact necessary t
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemems other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgor caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifg prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control oveaifirial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atamuce with generally accepted accounting princjples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsatitclosure controls and procedures and preséentai report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regis's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer antllve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisamtifole in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Date: March 6, 2015 /sl MICHAEL M. LUDWIG

Michael M. Ludwig
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report on Annual Répa Form 10K of FormFactor, Inc., a Delaware corporation, tfog period ende
December 27, 2014 , as filed with the Securities Bxchange Commission, each of the undersignedenffiof FormFactor, Inc. certifies
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedipnt$o Section 906 of the Sarbar®@sley Act of 2002, that, to his respective knowledg

(1) the annual report fully complies with the regments of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Secwgizchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

(2) the information contained in the annual refaily presents, in all material respects, thaficial condition and results of
operations of FormFactor, Inc. for the periods enésd therein.

Date: March 6, 2015 /sl MICHAEL D. SLESSOR

Michael D. Slessor
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer and Director)

Date: March 6, 2015 /sl MICHAEL M. LUDWIG

Michael M. Ludwig
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)




